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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

lin	Chun	kuei
Chairman

Dear shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”), I hereby 

announce the audited consolidated results of Peaktop International 

Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries (the “Group’’) for the year 

ended 31 December 2007.

Dur ing  the  per iod ,  the  Group recorded  a  tu rnover  o f 

HK$495,047,000, representing a decrease of 55% from 2006. 

Net loss from ordinary activities attributable to shareholders was 

HK$193,838,000.

BuSINESS	REVIEW
Gardening and water gardening products, candles and indoor 

lifestyle products, outdoor lifestyle products are still the major 

business segments of the group. Although the consolidated sales 

amount has dropped significantly in comparison with last year, the 

major markets for the group’s products are still distributed in North 

America & Europe in the past and coming years.

The Group keeps product innovation as the guidance & principle to 

provide the major customers with the updated products trend and 

the service to consumers, which promotes their lifestyle and makes 

their purchase valuable to pursue. As usual, the Group invites all 

major customers to the manufacturing factories in China & Vietnam 

during their annual purchase trip to Asia to select products for their 

upcoming orders.

The staffs of the Group’s Development & Research Department go 

abroad to take part in the important product shows held in USA & 

Europe by the worldwide factories in accordance with the overall 

working schedule. By the chance, they discuss about the product 

trend for this year & the next year and the consumers’ expectation 

to the new products with the persons of Product Department of 

our major customers and to exploit the creation idea for the new 

products. For this purpose, the Group makes more investment 

any than other manufacturers and tries to be the leader in the 

marketplace. Nevertheless, the Group must cut the development 

expense further to control the cost and improve the competitive 

capability.

For the past year, the most of importing areas’ economic, especially 

USA are affected by the downturn of the real estate and the 

change of the products need & choices, thus the purchase policy for 

products has become more conservative. The Group’s management 

team was endeavor to re-engineer the production process in order 

to lower down the costs so as to meet with buyer’s purchase policy. 

All these efforts were not helpful much to the consolidated sales in 

2007. However those efforts have established the stable basis on 

the overall sales strategy for 2008 and beyond for the Group.
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The Group’s management team continues its internal restructure 

process to make movement and adjustment for the manufacturing 

factories in China to further reduce the fixed production cost & 

product cost. The closure of overseas non-performing subsidiaries 

is still in process and will be completed in due course. The high 

inflation of raw material worldwide since the second half of last year 

and crude oil are leading other company’s major materials’ price 

to increase. Also the total product cost is increasing due to the rise 

of the labor cost in China. However the group can hardly transfer 

those additional costs to the consumers immediately. Meanwhile the 

change of the tax policy in China, the refund of the export tax which 

has been reduced, the continuous appreciation of RMB and the new 

or revisal accounting standards are causing the Group to perform in 

a substantial loss for 2007.

The Group’s management team continues the restructuring 

process in accordance with the current business need to perform 

diligently for the direction and goal and always pay attention to 

the operational threats, risks and make the necessary adjustment in 

order to return to the shareholders. The Group’s strategy improving 

the Company’s performance is to increase market share in the 

industry changed.

CoRPoRAtE	GoVERNANCE
To enhance corporate transparency and ensure fulfillment of 

openness, the Audit Committee that has been established under 

the Board and comprised of our Independent Non-executive 

Directors, has become the mechanism for corporate governance. 

As stipulated, the Audit Committee convenes meetings prior to 

results announcements and major events and when the Board is 

required to report to the Audit Committee. The Remuneration 

and Nomination Committees have convened meeting to enhance 

corporate governance function.

AuDIt	CoMMIttEE
The Audit Committee comprises the three Independent Non-

executive Directors of the Company. The Audit Committee has 

reviewed with the management of the Company the accounting 

principles and practices adopted by the Group and discussed 

auditing, internal controls and financial reporting matters including 

the review of the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 

December 2007.

REMuNERAtIoN	CoMMIttEE	AND	NoMINAtIoN	
CoMMIttEE
In April, 2005, The Group set up a nomination committee and 

remuneration committee, both comprising mainly of Independent 

Non-executive Directors. The nomination committee is responsible 

for nominating and affirming candidates approved by the Board, 

reviewing the structure and composition of the board on a regular 

basis, ensuring the competitive position of the organization, 

evaluating the leadership abilities of executive and non-executive 

directors and ensuring fair and transparent procedures for the 

appointment of directors to the Board. The remuneration committee 

is responsible for formulating and making recommendation to the 

Board on the Group’s policy and structure for all the remunerations 

of the Directors and senior management and on the establishment 

of a formal and transparent procedures for developing policy on 

such remuneration.

MoDEl	CoDE	FoR	SECuRItIES	tRANSACtIoNS	By	
DIRECtoRS
The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities 

Transactions by Directors by Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) 

set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules. Upon enquiry by the 

Company, all Directors have confirmed that they have complied with 

the required standards set out in the Model Code throughout the 

year ended 31 December 2007.

PRoSPECt
The world economics under the high crude oil prices situation, the 

structural changes of our customers in our main marketplace, and 

the sustaining appreciation of exchange rate for RMB do affect 

the demand for our products in the short term. But the Group 

possesses the development ability, the manufacturing technology, 

the excellent customer basis and adequate production layout for the 

long term.

Normally, the Group offers the quotation to importers ahead on a 

short-term basis. This worldwide inflation is not a short-term one. 

All the importers have started to accept the new quotation with 

price increase. Therefore, the Group can earn reasonable margin in 

accordance with the strategy of selective orders acceptance policy.
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The Board has decided to reduce or sell part of its fixed asset, such as 

land and properties and also apply to change the RMB loan from the 

short-term to medium & long term, as well as to bring the strategic 

investors who will bring in the new business items and also to inject 

the working capital for the need in operation.

Despite of the statement stated in the independent Auditor’s 

Report, we, the directors, believe that the Group will improve its 

performance with its proven new product development capability, 

strong manufacturing expertise, excellent client base and the right 

production base layout in 2008 and beyond. Regarding to the non-

compliance with certain financial covenants of certain bank facilities, 

the breach of such covenants had been subsequently resolved and 

waived after the year end date.

Through years of exploration, review and improvement, the Group 

has set out clear long-term goals. We will continue to consolidate 

our market competitive advantages, provide premium products 

to consumers, including those new business items provided by 

the strategic partner, offer good working environment and self-

enhancement opportunities to staff, create and add to shareholder 

value, and generate social and economic benefits to all business 

associates of the Group.

ACkNoWlEDGEMENt
On behalf of the Board, I would like to express our appreciation to 

our shareholders, customers, banks and business partners for their 

continuous trust and support, and also to all of our staff for their 

dedicated efforts in facilitating the Group’s business restructuring 

and perseverance in face of challenges.

lin	Chun	kuei

Chairman

Hong Kong, 9 May 2008
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS

REVIEW	oF	RESultS
The Group’s  conso l idated turnover  for  year  2007 was 

HK$495,047,000 (2006: HK$1,089,187,000), decreased by 55% as 

compared to that of year 2006. The major reason for the decrease 

in consolidated turnover was the losses of the customers’ orders 

from a few major customers. 

Loss attributable to shareholders for year 2007 amounted to 

HK$193,838,000 (2006: profit of HK$13,766,000). The loss 

includes a total of one-time write-off of HK$58,492,000 which are 

1. HK$15,308,000 for laying off the redundant labor in the factories 

in the PRC; 2. HK$369,000, HK$166,000, HK$6,718,000 for 

write-offs of the assets for winding up the factories in Zhongshan, 

Fuqing, and other minor facilities respectively; 3. HK$1,917,000 and 

HK$17,312,000 for write-offs of the investment and inter-company 

receivables of the 70% owned subsidiary in United Kingdom, 

Heissner UK, respectively; 4. HK$312,000 and HK$1,449,000 for 

write-offs of accounts receivable and fixed assets of the 90% owned 

subsidiary in Australia, Waterwerks, respectively; 5. HK$8,096,000 

for paying the legal costs for the legal cases in Hong Kong, the 

United States, and the PRC; and 6. HK$6,845,000 for provision of 

slow-moving inventories.

SEGMENtAl	tuRNoVER
In year 2007, the United States and Europe remained the Group’s 

largest markets.

The Group’s export sales to the United States decreased by 46% 

to HK$362,215,000 (2006: HK$675,033,000), representing 

73% (2006: 62%) of the Group’s total turnover. The Group’s 

export sales to Europe decreased 80% to HK$52,419,000 (2006: 

HK$267,664,000), representing 11% (2006: 25%) of the Group’s 

total turnover. The decrease in the Group’s export sales to 

Europe was due to the completion of the disposal of the German 

subsidiary, Heissner AG, in June 2006. The Group had consolidated 

the turnover of Heissner AG for the first 8 months of year 2006 

amounted to HK$225,562,000.

The Group’s major products were outdoor decorative products 

and indoor decorative products. In year 2007, the total turnover 

of outdoor decorative products and indoor decorative products 

amounted to HK$207,439,000 (2006: HK$679,007,000) and 

HK$246,638,000 (2006: HK$315,511,000) respectively, representing 

42% (2006: 62%) and 50% (2006: 29%) of the Group’s total 

turnover respectively.
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MAJoR	DISPoSAl	EVENtS
Disposal	of	the	factory	premises	situated	in	Zhongshan	City	in	

Guangdong	Province	in	the	PRC	

On 31 December 2007, the Group entered into an agreement 

with an independent third party to dispose the factory premises 

situated in Zhongshan City, Guangdong Province in the PRC for a 

consideration of RMB28,200,000 (equivalent to HK$29,328,000). 

Upon completion of the transaction in March 2008, the group 

will record a gain on disposal and net cash inflow (after repaying 

the outstanding mortgage loan of RMB13,267,000 and accrued 

expenses of RMB2,258,000) of HK$4,573,000 and HK$13,182,000 

respectively. The cash proceed has been used to reduce bank 

borrowing and enhance the liquidity of the Group.

Disposal	of	the	equity	 interest	of	the	 investment	 in	August	

2007

On 6 August 2007, the Group entered into an agreement with an 

independent third party to dispose 4.45% of the equity interest 

of investment in Changzhou Yabang Chemical Co., Ltd. for a 

consideration of USD1,350,000 (equivalent to HK$10,530,000). 

Upon completion of the transaction in December 2007, the 

group has recorded a gain on disposal and net cash inflow of 

HK$6,243,000 and HK$10,140,000 respectively. The cash proceed 

has been used to enhance the liquidity of the Group.

FINANCIAl	AND	MANAGEMENt	REVIEW
Cost	Control

During the period under review, the Group’s gross profit margin 

was significantly decreased from 38.8% in year 2006 to 9.6% in 

year 2007. Despite of many cost control measurements taken by the 

Group in year 2007, the cost was considered to be relatively high. 

The cost, especially the fixed overhead, was not reduced according 

to the decrease in total turnover. The fixed overhead percentage 

were 29.0% and 19.4% in years 2007 and 2006 respectively.

Selling,	General	and	Administrative	and	other	Expenses

In  year  2007,  tota l  se l l ing expenses  of  the Group was 

HK$89,184,000 (2006: HK$267,206,000), representing 18% (2006: 

25%) of the total turnover. The decrease in total selling expenses 

was mainly due to the decrease of total turnover which consequently 

decreased the commission expenses of HK$89,448,000, freight cost 

of HK$25,395,000, and salaries and allowance of HK$19,808,000.

In year 2007, total general and administrative expenses of the Group 

was HK$130,011,000 (2006: HK$128,934,000), increased by 1% as 

compared to that of year 2006, representing 26% (2006: 12%) of 

the total turnover.

other	revenue	and	other	net	(loss)/income

In year 2007, the total other revenue and other net (loss)/income of 

the Group was HK$12,312,000 (2006: HK$34,301,000), decreased 

by 64% as compared to 2006, representing 3% (2006: 3%) of the 

total turnover.

liquidity,	Financial	Resources	and	Finance	Costs

The Group finances its operations with internally generated cash 

flows, banking facilities, proceeds from new share placements, 

and shareholders’ loans. As at 31 December 2007, the Group 

had aggregate available banking facilities of HK$379,768,000 

(2006: HK$389,800,000), of which HK$224,545,000 (2006: 

HK$248,953,000) was utilized and subject to floating market rates. 

The Group’s cash and bank balance at that date amounted to 

HK$41,188,000 (2006: HK$27,772,000), which was denominated 

in mainly United States dollars, Hong Kong dollars, and Renminbi. 

This together with unutilized banking facilities will enable the Group 

to finance its operational needs.
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As at 31 December 2007, the Group’s current ratio and quick 

ratio were 67% (2006: 87%) and 46% (2006: 47%) respectively. 

At that date, the Group’s total borrowing, was reduced from 

HK$250,973,000 as at 31 December 2006 to HK$234,717,000, 

which included short-term borrowing and long-term borrowing of 

HK$219,929,000 (2006: HK$245,621,000) and HK$14,788,000 

(2006: HK$5,352,000) respectively. The decrease in total borrowing 

was due to the reduction of total turnover which required less 

financing activities. As at 31 December 2007, the Group’s gearing 

ratio, defined as total borrowing as percentage of total assets, was 

44% (2006: 39%). 

In year 2007, total finance costs incurred by the Group was 

HK$20,148,000 (2006: HK$29,288,000), representing a 31% 

decrease as comparing to that of year 2006. The decrease in total 

finance costs was mainly due to the decrease of the demand for 

cashflow which subsequently decreased the financing activities.

Dividend

The directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend for 

the year (2006: Nil).

Share	Placement

On 26 July 2007, the Company entered into a placing agreement 

whereby the Company placed an aggregate of 63,000,000 new 

ordinary shares of the Company of HK$0.10 each to not less than 

six placees who are independent third parties to the Company at a 

price of HK$0.86 per ordinary share. The placing was completed on 

7 August 2007. The net proceeds from the placing of approximately 

HK$52,800,000 was used for reducing bank borrowings and 

general working capital purpose.

On 10 October 2007, the Company entered into conditional 

Subscription Agreements with Mr. Lin Chun Kuei, Mr. Ng Kin Nam 

and Tian Wan Pte Ltd who are Executive Directors and an associate 

of the Executive Director of the Company, pursuant to which, 

they had agreed to subscribe for an aggregate of 79,000,000 

shares at a price of HK$0.45 per share in an aggregate amount of 

HK$35,550,000. The Subscription was completed on 28 November 

2007.

On 24 December 2007, the Company entered into a placing 

agreement whereby the Company placed an aggregate of 

184,000,000 new ordinary shares of the Company of HK$0.10 each 

to not less than six placees who are independent third parties to the 

Company at a price of HK$0.35 per ordinary share. The placing did 

not proceed to completion and the agreement was lapsed on 25 

March 2008.

Shareholders’	loans

From July to August 2007, (1) Tian Wan Pte Ltd., a company 

controlled by Mr. Andree Halim, the director of the Company, and 

Mr. Daniel Halim advanced to the Company HK$12,000,000; (2) 

Anna Huang, wife of Mr. Lin Chun Kuei advanced to the company 

HK$7,800,000; (3) Mr. Ng Kin Nam advanced HK$12,000,000 

and were fully repaid to the shareholders in November 2007. The 

amount due to the shareholders is unsecured, interest-free and 

repayable on or before 26 October 2007. 

In addition, on 21 December 2007, Tian Wan Pte Ltd and Mr. Ng Kin 

Nam advanced to the Company HK$3,000,000 and HK$2,000,000 

respectively. The amounts due to the shareholders are unsecured, 

interest-free and repayable on demand. 

Subsequent to the balance sheet date, certain directors and 

substantial shareholders of the Company have advanced totaling 

HK$44,958,000 to the Company as general working capital 

purpose.

Capital	Expenditure

The Group incurred a total capital expenditure of HK$23,935,000 

(2006:  HK$31,377,000)  in  year  2007,  which inc luded: 

HK$13,661,000 (2006: Nil) for construction of new building 

premises; HK$1,019,000 (2006: HK$1,030,000) for mainly 

remodeling the manufacturing plant in order to apply for the 

official land and building certificates for that manufacturing plant in 

Shenzhen City in Guangdong Province in the People’s Republic of 

China, HK$7,464,000 (2006: HK$8,490,000) for acquiring mould, 

machinery and equipment in the PRC and Vietnam, HK$1,625,000 

(2006: HK$6,134,000) for acquiring other fixed assets and 

HK$166,000 (2006: HK$15,723,000) for acquiring intangible assets.

Foreign	Exchange	Exposure

For year 2007, the Group’s major revenue was denominated in 

the United States dollars, while banking facilities repayment and 

purchase were made essentially in the corresponding currencies 

and Renminbi, thus establishing a natural hedge. During the year 

under review, the Group was exposed to certain risks of exchange 

fluctuations. To further reduce exchange risks, the Group has 

utilized foreign exchange hedging tools and will continue to closely 

monitor exchange rate movements.
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Impact	of	the	Revaluation	of	Renminbi	

All of the Group’s sales are denominated in either United States 

dollars while some of the Groups’ purchases are denominated in 

Renminbi. As at 31 December 2007, the Group had an outstanding 

balance of accounts payable and bank loans, denominated in 

Renminbi, for HK$50,096,000 (2006: HK$71,468,000) and 

HK$84,563,000 (2006: HK$78,100,000) respectively. As at 31 

December 2007, there was no outstanding trust receipt loans 

denominated in Renminbi (2006: Nil). The fluctuation of Renminbi 

exchange rate has affected the business operations of the Group. 

During the period under review, the appreciation of Renminbi has 

caused slightly adverse effect on the current operating results and 

financial position of the Group. To reduce the possible impact in the 

future, the Group has negotiated to reduce purchases nominated in 

Renminbi and incorporate the exchange risk in all quotations.

Contingent	liability

As at 31 December 2007, the Group had no significant contingent 

liability (2006: Nil).

Charge	on	Assets

As at 31 December 2007, certain assets of the Group with aggregate 

carrying value of HK$151,245,000 (2006: HK$172,053,000) were 

pledged to secure loan facilities utilized by the Group.

Employees

As at 31 December 2007, the Group had a total of 3,458 (2006: 

5,724) employees. Total staff cost incurred during the year 2007 

amounted to HK$126,462,000 (2006: HK$156,382,000), excluded 

staff cost included in cost of sales and directors’ remuneration. The 

total staff cost incurred in year 2007 included HK$15,308,000 for 

the one-off redundant payments for laying off the staff and labor 

in the PRC. The Group offers a comprehensive remuneration and 

benefit package to its employees, and remuneration policies are 

reviewed by the management on a regular basis.

The Group also adopts a share option scheme, which is reviewed 

and revised periodically in accordance with the latest statutory 

requirements. The Group has already taken into account the 

comparable remuneration level of the market when structuring the 

scheme.

PRoSPECtS
Under the current unstable global economics environment, the 

Group has taken various major cost control measures which include: 

1. concentration of production facilities from six manufacturing 

plants in year 2006 to four manufacturing plants in year 2007; 2. 

reduction of total number of employees from 5,700 people in year 

2006 to 3,500 people in year 2007; and 3. speeding up the closing 

of the non-performing overseas sales offices. 

While the Group continues to strengthen the existing business, the 

management is also actively exploring new business opportunities for 

the Group. The opportunities are not limited to the manufacturing 

industry, and the management is open to any business opportunity 

as long as the new business could bring benefits to the Group. The 

management will actively consider new investments. 

In the meantime, the Group continues to focus on its manufacturing 

business in Asia and minimize direct participation in the distribution 

business, so as to minimize the unnecessary business risk. As regard 

to customers, the Group will continue to enhance the relationship 

with the customers and expects to recover some of the lost orders in 

the coming year. The Group is confident that the total turnover and 

performance may gradually improve in the next years.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT BIOGRAPHIES

MR.	NG	kIN	NAM

Co-vice Chairman, aged 49. He joined the Group in August 2002. He is the chairman of Reputed 

Industrial Co. Ltd. He is a non-executive director and a vice chairman of IPE Group Limited which is 

listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong, and a director of Integrated Precision 

Engineering Co., Ltd. Mr. Ng has over 30 years of experience in various types of connector parts and 

electronic precision parts manufacturing business. In addition, he serves as the Honorable President 

of Eastern District Industries & Commerce Association, the Life Honorable President of Jin Jiang Clans 

Association (H.K.) Ltd., the Vice President of Ng Clan’s Association, the Honorable President of The 

HK Fujian Charitable Education Fund and the director of Guangdong Chamber of Foreign Investors.

MR.	ANDREE	HAlIM

Co-vice Chairman, aged 60. He graduated with a diploma in Business Studies from the South East 

London Technical College of United Kingdom. He has been appointed as a director and a vice 

chairman of QAF Limited since October 2003. QAF Limited is an investment holding company listed 

on the main board of the Singapore Exchange. Mr. Halim is an entrepreneur and holds interests in 

a wide range of businesses. He also holds directorships in various other private enterprises. He is a 

director and a shareholder of Tian Wan Pte Ltd., a substantial shareholder of the Company.

MR.	lIN	CHuN	kuEI
(alias C. K. Lin), Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, aged 57. He is responsible for formulating 
the overall business strategy and plans of the Group. Mr. Lin has over 20 years of experience in the 
giftware industry. Before establishing the Group’s giftware business, he operated the machine and 
spare parts manufacturing business. He is the spouse of Mrs. Lin Huang Su Feng, the Vice President 
of the Group. He is the brother of Mr. Lin Chun Fu, an Executive Director of the Company. He is the 
father of Mr. Lin Wei Hung, the President of Silk Road Gifts, Inc., a subsidiary of the Group. He is 
also the brother of Mr. Lin Chun Ter, the Head of Outsourcing Department of the Group.

BoARD	oF	DIRECtoRS
ExECutIVE	DIRECtoRS
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
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MR.	lIN	CHuN	Fu

(as known as C. F. Lin), aged 53. He joined the Group in 1991 and is in charge of the Group’s 

Product and Sales Departments. Mr. Lin has over 20 years of experience in the giftware 

manufacturing industry. Mr. Lin is the brother of Mr. Lin Chun Kuei and Mr. Lin Chun Ter, the 

Chairman of the Group and the Head of Outsourcing Department of the Group respectively. He is 

also the brother-in-law of Mrs. Lin Huang Su Feng, the Vice President of the Group and the uncle of 

Mr. Lin Wei Hung, the President of Silk Road Gifts Inc., a subsidiary of the Group.

MR.	lI	CHIEN	kuAN

(also known as Spencer Lee), aged 61. He holds a bachelor’s degree in commerce from Soochow 

University of Taiwan. Mr. Li has over 30 years of experience in accounting and finance. He had 

served various international companies before joining the Group in 1991. He is responsible for 

monitoring the overall finance and management strategies and plans of the Group. Since January 

2002, Mr. Li has been assisting the Chief Executive Officer in supervising the Group’s Management 

and Control Center in coordinating, organizing, managing and controlling all operational units 

within the Group. In addition to the above functions, he is now concentrating in the affairs of 

restructure, management and new investment of overseas operation units.



Peaktop International Holdings Limited					Annual	Report	200712

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT BIOGRAPHIES

MR.	NG	tANG	FAI,	ERNESto

Aged 64. He has been appointed as Independent Non-Executive Director since May 2007. He has 

extensive experience in the areas of corporate governance, banking and capital markets. He is 

now the Executive Vice President of Asia Financial Holdings Limited, a company listed on The Stock 

Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

MR.	MA	CHIu	CHEuNG,	ANDREW

Aged 66. He has been appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director since September 2004. 

He is a founder and a former director of Andrew Ma DFK (CPA) Limited. He is presently a director 

of Mayee Management Limited. He has more than 30 years of experience in the field of accounting 

and finance. He received his bachelor’s degree, majoring in economics from the London School of 

Economics and Political Science (University of London) in England. Mr. Ma is a fellow member of the 

Institute of Chartered Accountants in England & Wales, the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 

Accountants, the Hong Kong Institute of Directors and the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong. In addition 

to his directorship in the Company, Mr. Ma is also an independent non-executive director of Asia 

Financial Holdings Limited, Tanrich Financial Holdings Limited, C.P. Pokphand Company Limited, China 

Resources Power Holdings Company Limited and Chong Hing Bank Limited; all of which are companies 

listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Ma is also a non-executive director of Asian Citrus 

Holdings Limited, a company listed on the AIM board of The London Stock Exchange.

MR.	GoH	GEN	CHEuNG

Aged 61. He has been appointed as Independent Non-Executive Director since December 1997. 

He has over 33 years of treasury, finance and banking experience. Mr. Goh is an associate member 

of the Chartered Institute of Bankers and has a master’s degree in business administration from 

the University of East Asia in Macau. Mr. Goh also sits on the board as independent non-executive 

director of CEC International Holdings Limited, China Favours and Fragrances Company Limited, 

Karce International Holdings Company Limited and Shinhint Acoustic Link Holdings Limited, public 

companies listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

INDEPENDENt	NoN-ExECutIVE	DIRECtoRS
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SENIoR	MANAGEMENt
MRS	lIN	HuANG	Su	FENG, aged 58, She is the Vice President 

of the Group and is responsible for general operations in the PRC. 

She has over 30 years of experience in accounting and corporate 

finance. She is the spouse of Mr. Lin Chun Kuei, the Chairman of 

the Group and the mother of Mr. Lin Wei Hung, the President of 

Silk Road Gifts Inc., a subsidiary of the Company. She is also the 

sister-in-law of Mr. Lin Chun Fu and Mr. Lin Chun Ter, the Executive 

Director of the Company and the Head of Outsourcing Department 

of the Group respectively. 

MR.	lIN	yuAN	CHIA	(as known as Y. C. Lin), aged 53, Group Vice 

President. He is responsible for the Group Product Division. He has 

over 21 years of experience in the giftware and home decoration 

manufacturing industry. He joined the Group in 1991.

MR.	JAN	WING	Fu,	BARRy, aged 41, is the Financial Controller, 

Qualified Accountant and Company Secretary of the Group. Mr. Jan 

obtained a bachelor’s degree in business administration from the 

University of New Brunswick, Canada in 1989. He is an associate 

member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants 

and a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified 

Accountants. Mr. Jan has over 17 years of solid experience in 

auditing, accounting, general management and financial control. 

Mr. Jan joined the Group on 26 March 2008.

MR.	lIN	CHuN	tER, aged 50, the Head of Outsourcing Department. 

He is responsible for the Group’s monitoring supervisory work on 

procuring raw materials, work-in-progress products and finished 

products. He has over 27 years of experience in the giftware and 

home decoration manufacturing industry. He joined the Group 

in 1991. He is the younger brother of Mr. Lin Chun Kuei and Mr. 

Lin Chun Fu, the Chairman and Executive Director of the Group 

respectively. He is also the brother-in-law of Mrs. Lin Huang Su 

Feng, the Vice President of the Group.

MS.	lEE	FENG-yu	(also known as Pola Lee),	aged 45, Vice President 

of Product & Marketing. She is responsible for the Group’s products 

development and sales and marketing affairs. Before joining the 

Group in 2002, she worked for several renowned international 

trading groups in the giftware & home decorative product industry. 

She has more than 16 years’ experience in product development & 

marketing operation mainly for the U.S. & European markets.

MR.	CHAN	kAI	CHEoNG,	RICky, aged 39. He is in charge of the 

Group’s Quality Control Division. He has over 10 years’ experience 

in quality control and process management in polyresin industry. He 

also has 10 years’ experience in quality control of giftware industry. 

He joined the Group in 1998.

MS.	Wu	MIN, aged 49, Manager of the Group’s China Region 

Administrative Centre. She joined the Group in 1992 and has 

engaged in management for 16 years.

MR.	 lEE	 CHIEH	 HSIN,	 SEWEll, aged 51, graduated from 

Department of Business Administration, National Taipei College 

of Business. Before joining the Group in 1999, he has worked for 

several renowned international trading groups in export business. 

He has more than 20 years’ experience in export sales and export 

market exploitation.

MR.	lIN	WEI-HuNG, aged 33. He is the President of Silk Road 

Gifts, Inc., a subsidiary of the Group and engaged in marketing 

and promoting Company’s products throughout the United 

States market. He is responsible for the daily operations of Silk 

Road Gifts, Inc.. Mr. Lin is experienced in marketing and product 

development for giftware items. He holds a Bachelor of Science 

Degree in Information Systems from Pace University in the United 

States of America. He is the son of Mr. Lin Chun Kuei and Mrs. Lin 

Huang Su Feng, the Chairman and the Vice President of the Group 

respectively. He is also the nephew of Mr. Lin Chun Fu and Mr. 

Lin Chur Ter, an Executive Director and the Head of Outsourcing 

Department of the Group respectively.

MR.	DoMINIC	tuDDA, aged 58, Executive Director of Sales of Silk 

Road Gifts, Inc., a subsidiary of the Group and engaged in marketing 

and promoting Company’s products throughout the United States 

market. He has extensive working experience in handling national 

accounts’ sales and marketing in the U.S.. He joined the company in 

April 2003. He graduated from Old Dominion University.

MR.	 Fu	 Guo	 xI, aged 38, Factory Manager of Shenzhen 

Yuansheng Light Industrial Products Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of the 

Group in China. He has over 11 years’ experience in corporate 

planning and financial management. He joined the Group in 1994.
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MR.	DAVID	lIAo, aged 41, Factory Manager of Lu He Yuansheng 

Light Industrial Products Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of the Group. He 

is responsible to establish the organization of the factory and 

general production and operation of business. He holds specialty 

qualification from the college and obtains the assistant accountant 

qualifications through the Nation-Wide technology qualifications 

test in 1996. He graduated in accounting major from Economical 

management leader college, Fujian Province China in 1994 and he 

joined the company finance department in the same year in July, 

thereafter he held positions such as accounts manager and finance 

manager. He has over 13 years of abundant experience in team 

finance, administration, shipping and business planning.

MR.	WANG	Guo	HuAI, aged 39, Factory Manager of Shuichun 

sub-plant of Luhe Yuansheng Light Industrial Products Co., Ltd., 

a subsidiary of the Group. He graduated from Light Industrial 

College of Hunan Province (currently known as Changsha University 

of Science and Technology). He joined Fuqing Yuansheng Light 

Industrial Products Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of the Group in 1994. 

He had been the deputy supervisor of engineering technique 

department, supervisor of engineering technique department and 

deputy department head. He was promoted to deputy factory 

manager of Luhe Yuansheng Light Industrial Products Co., Ltd., in 

October 2004, responsible for the setup and organization of the 

manufacturing and sales of sub-plant. He has 13 years’ experience 

in production, sales and management.

MR.	QIAN	JING, aged 45, Factory Manager of Hekou sub-plant 

of Luhe Yuansheng Light Industrial Products Co., Ltd., a subsidiary 

of the Group. He graduated from a college in Hubei Province 

major in business management. Before joining the Group in 1995, 

he worked as production supervisor at various manufacturing 

plant. He had been the production manager, control manager 

and manufacturing manager and production supervisor of Fuqing 

Yuansheng Light Industrial Products Co., Ltd.. He was promoted to 

Luhe Hekou factory as Deputy Factory Manager in February 2006, 

and further promoted to Factory Manager of Hekou sub-plant of 

Luhe Yuansheng Light Industrial Products Co., Ltd. in November 

2006.

MR.	yuNuS	tHIE, aged 43, General Manager of Peaktop (Vietnam) 

Limited, a subsidiary of the Group. He is in charge of the operation 

and management of Peaktop (Vietnam) Limited. He has 18 years 

of experience in the manufacturing and international marketing, 

including giftware and candles industries. He joined the group in 

2004.
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The directors herein present their report and the audited financial statements of the Company and the Group for the year ended 31 

December 2007.

PRINCIPAl	ACtIVItIES
The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details of the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries are set out in note 

18 to the financial statements. There were no significant changes in the nature of the Group’s principal activities during the year.

RESultS	AND	DIVIDENDS
The Group’s loss for the year ended 31 December 2007 and the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group at that date are set out in 

the financial statements on pages 31 to 107. The directors do not recommend the payment of any dividends in respect of the year.

SuMMARy	FINANCIAl	INFoRMAtIoN
A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and minority interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from 

the published audited financial statements is set out below. This summary does not form part of the audited financial statements.

	 year	ended	31	December

 2007	 2006  2005  2004  2003

 Hk$’000	 HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000

RESultS

Revenue 495,047  1,089,187  1,161,217  1,135,705  820,168

(Loss)/profit from operating activities (188,935	) 13,810  (18,173 ) 9,883  (21,225 )

Share of loss of an associate –	 –  –  –  (1,938 )

(Loss)/profit before taxation (188,935	) 13,810  (18,173 ) 9,883  (23,163 )

Taxation (5,104	) (102 ) 648  (3,146 ) 17,524

(Loss)/profit for the year (194,039	) 13,708  (17,525 ) 6,737  (5,639 )

Attributable to:

 Equity holders of the Company (193,838	) 13,766  (16,724 ) 6,421  (6,237 )

 Minority interests (201	) (58 ) (801 ) 316  598

 (194,039	) 13,708  (17,525 ) 6,737  (5,639 )
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SuMMARy	FINANCIAl	INFoRMAtIoN	(Continued)

	 year	ended	31	December

 2007	 2006  2005  2004  2003

 Hk$’000	 HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000

ASSEtS,	lIABIlItIES	AND

	 MINoRIty	INtEREStS

Total assets 538,686	 640,395  933,630  890,313  716,607

Total liabilities (382,733	) (384,186 ) (696,075 ) (642,516 ) (476,201 )

Minority interests –	 (201 ) (1,261 ) (2,253 ) (2,124 )

 155,953	 256,008  236,294  245,544  238,282

PRoPERty,	PlANt	AND	EQuIPMENt	AND	INVEStMENt	PRoPERty
Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment and investment property of the Group during the year are set out in notes 13 

and 14 to the financial statements.

SHARE	CAPItAl
Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during the year, together with the reasons therefor, are set out in note 34(c) to the 

financial statements.

PRE-EMPtIVE	RIGHtS
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda, being the jurisdiction in which the 

Company was incorporated, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

PuRCHASE,	SAlE	oR	REDEMPtIoN	oF	lIStED	SECuRItIES	oF	tHE	CoMPANy
There has been no purchase, sale or redemption of the Company’s listed securities by the Company or any of its subsidiaries during the year 

ended 31 December 2007.

RESERVES
Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group during the year are set out in note 34 to the financial statements and in 

the consolidated statement of changes in equity, respectively.
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DIStRIButABlE	RESERVES
At 31 December 2007, the Company’s reserves available for distribution and/or distribution in specie, calculated in accordance with the 

Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, amounted to Nil. In addition, the Company’s share premium account, in the amount of HK$172,582,000, 

may be distributed in the form of fully paid bonus shares.

MAJoR	CuStoMERS	AND	SuPPlIERS
In the year under review, sales to the Group’s five largest customers accounted for 51.8% of the Group’s total sales for the year and sales to 

the largest customer included therein amounted to 17.5% . Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for 14.1% of the 

total purchases for the year.

None of the directors of the Company or any of their associates or any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the directors, own 

more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in any of the Group’s five largest customers.

DIRECtoRS
The directors of the Company during the year were:

Executive	Directors:

Mr. Lin Chun Kuei (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Andree Halim (Co-vice Chairman)

Mr. Ng Kin Nam (Co-vice Chairman and Authorised Representative)

Mr. Li Chien Kuan

Mr. Lin Chun Fu

Mrs. Lin Huang Su Feng (Resigned on 17 July 2007)

Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping (Resigned on 17 July 2007)

Independent	Non-executive	Directors:

Mr. Goh Gen Cheung

Mr. Ma Chiu Cheung, Andrew

Mr. Ng Tang Fai, Ernesto (Appointed on 30 May 2007)

The Hon. Bernard Charnwut Chan (Resigned on 30 May 2007)

In accordance with bye-law 111(A) of the Company’s bye-laws, Mr. Li Chien Kuan, Mr. Goh Gen Cheung and Mr. Ma Chiu Cheung, Andrew 

shall retire by rotation and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

In accordance with bye-law 115 of the Company’s bye-laws, Mr. Ng Tang Fai, Ernesto will retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting 

and being eligible, will offer himself for re-election.

The directors of the Company, including those appointed for a specific term, are subject to retirement by rotation and re- election at the 

annual general meeting of the Company in accordance with the provisions of the Company’s bye-laws.
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DIRECtoRS’	AND	SENIoR	MANAGEMENt’S	BIoGRAPHIES
Biographical details of the directors of the Company are set out on pages 10 to 14 of the annual report.

DIRECtoRS’	SERVICE	CoNtRACtS
Mr. Lin Chun Kuei, Mr. Lin Chun Fu and Mr. Li Chien Kuan, all being Executive Directors have entered into service agreements with the 

Company for a term of three years commencing from 1 December 1997, which are renewable automatically for successive terms of one year 

each, until terminated by not less than six months’ notice in writing served by either party on the other.

Mr. Ng Kin Nam, an Executive Director, has entered into a service agreement with the Company on 20 May 2003 for an initial fixed term of 

three years commencing from 1 August 2002 and thereafter renewable automatically for successive terms of one year, until terminated by 

either party thereto giving to the other not less than six months’ notice in writing.

Mr. Andree Halim, an Executive Director, has entered into a service agreement with the Company on 23 February 2004 for an initial 

fixed term of three years commencing from 1 March 2004 and thereafter renewable automatically for successive terms of one year, until 

terminated by either party thereto giving to the other not less than six months’ notice in writing.

Mr. Ng Tang Fai, Ernesto, an Independent Non-Executive Director, has entered into a service agreement with the Company on 30 May 2007 

for an initial fixed term of three years commencing from 30 May 2007, until terminated by either party thereto giving to the other not less 

than three months’s notice in writing.

Apart from the foregoing, no director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with the 

Company which is not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECtoRS’	REMuNERAtIoN
The directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at general meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the Company’s Board of 

Directors with reference to directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance and the results of the Group. Details of directors’ remuneration is 

set out in note 8 to the financial statements.
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DIRECtoRS’		INtEREStS	IN	CoNtRACtS
Apart from the service agreement entered between the Company and a service company beneficially owned by a former executive director as 

mentioned in note 40 to the financial statements, no director had a beneficial interest, either direct or indirect, in any contract of significance 

to the business of the Group to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party during the year.

DIRECtoRS’	AND	CHIEF	ExECutIVE’S	INtEREStS	IN	tHE	CoMPANy
As at 31 December 2007, the interests and short positions of the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying 

shares or debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance 

(the “SFO”)), which (i) were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) 

pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under 

such provisions of the SFO); or (ii) were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (iii) 

were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors 

by Listed Company (the “Model Code”) contained in the rules governing the listing of securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”), 

were as follows:

Long positions in the Shares:

	 Number	of	Shares	held,	capacity	and	 Approximate	

	 	nature	of	interest	in	the	Shares	 percentage	of

	 	 		 		 		 		 the	Company’s

	 	 		 		 		 		 issued	share

Name	of	Director	 Notes	 Personal		 Family		 Corporate		 total		 capital

          (%)

Mr. Lin Chun Kuei  135,059,200  –  –  135,059,200  13.52

Mr. Lin Chun Fu  33,690,800  –  –  33,690,800  3.37

Mr. Andree Halim 1 42,086,000  –  127,822,000  169,908,000  17.00

Mr. Ng Kin Nam 2 59,327,200  6,107,000  88,359,800  153,794,000  15.39

Notes:

1. Tian Wan Pte. Ltd. is the beneficial owner of 127,822,000 Shares. The entire issued share capital of Tian Wan Pte. Ltd. is beneficially owned as to 
50% each by Mr. Andree Halim and Mr. Daniel Halim, the son of Mr. Andree Halim. Accordingly, Mr. Andree Halim is deemed to be interested in the 
127,822,000 Shares beneficially owned by Tian Wan Pte. Ltd.

2. Jade Investment Limited is the beneficial owner of 88,359,800 Shares. The entire issued share capital of Jade Investment Limited is beneficially owned 
as to 50% each by Mr. Ng Kin Nam and Ms. Jocelyn O. Angeleslao, the spouse of Mr. Ng. Kin Nam. Accordingly, Mr. Ng Kin Nam is deemed to be 
interested in the 88,359,800 Shares beneficially owned by Jade Investment Limited. Mr. Ng is also deemed to be interested in the 6,107,000 Shares 
beneficially owned by Ms. Jocelyn O. Angeleslao.
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DIRECtoRS’	AND	CHIEF	ExECutIVE’S	INtEREStS	IN	tHE	CoMPANy	(Continued)
In addition to the above, certain directors hold shares in certain subsidiaries of the Company, in a non-beneficial capacity, solely for the 

purpose of complying with minimum company membership requirements.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2007, none of the Directors nor the chief executive of the Company had or was deemed to have 

any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within 

the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which (i) were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 

and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the 

SFO); and (ii) were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (iii) were required to be 

notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code contained in the Listing Rules.

DIRECtoRS’	RIGHtS	to	ACQuIRE	SHARES	oR	DEBENtuRES
Apart from as disclosed in the share option scheme disclosures in note 33 to the financial statements, at no time during the year were rights 

to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company granted to any director or their respective spouse 

or minor children, or were any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to 

enable the directors to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

SHARE	oPtIoN	SCHEME
Detailed disclosures relating to the Company’s share option scheme are set out in note 33 to the financial statements.

No share options were granted or exercised during the year.
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SuBStANtIAl	SHAREHolDERS’	AND	otHER	PERSoN’S	INtEREStS	IN	tHE	CoMPANy
So far as is known to the Directors and the chief executive of the Company, as at 31 December 2007, the following person (not being 

Directors and chief executive of the Company) had, or was deemed to have, interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of 

the Company in 5% or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings 

of any other member of the Group:

(i) Long positions in the Shares:

	 	 	 		 Approximate

	 	 	 		 percentage	of

	 	 	 		 the	Company’s

	 	 Capacity	and	 Number	of		 issued	share

Name	 Notes	 nature	of	interest	 shares	held		 capital

     (%)

Ms. Jocelyn O. Angeleslao 1 Through a controlled corporation 88,359,800  8.85

 1  Directly beneficially owned 6,107,000  0.61

 1  Through the spouse 59,327,200  5.93

   153,794,000  15.39

Jade Investment Limited 1 Directly beneficially owned 88,359,800  8.85

Tian Wan Pte. Ltd. 2 Directly beneficially owned 127,822,000  12.79

Mr. Daniel Halim 2 Through a controlled corporation 127,822,000  12.79

Mrs. Lin Huang Su Feng 4 Through the spouse 135,059,200  13.52

Notes:

1. Ms. Jocelyn O. Angeleslao is the spouse of Mr. Ng Kin Nam, an Executive Director, and the beneficial owner of 50% of the existing issued share capital 
of Jade Investment Limited. Accordingly, she is deemed to be interested in the 59,327,200 Shares beneficially owned by Mr. Ng Kin Nam and the 
88,359,800 Shares beneficially owned by Jade Investment Limited. She is also the beneficial owner of 6,107,000 Shares.

2. Tian Wan Pte. Ltd. is the beneficial owner of 127,822,000 Shares. The entire issued share capital of Tian Wan Pte. Ltd. is beneficially owned as to 50% 
each by Mr. Andree Halim (the Director of the Company) and Mr. Daniel Halim, the son of Mr. Andree Halim.

3. Mrs. Lin Huang Su Feng is the spouse of Mr. Lin Chun Kuei (one of the Directors of the Company). Accordingly, she is deemed to be interested in 
135,059,200 Shares which are beneficially owned by Mr. Lin.
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SuBStANtIAl	SHAREHolDERS’	AND	otHER	PERSoN’S	INtEREStS	IN	tHE	CoMPANy	(Continued)
(ii) Long positions in ordinary shares of subsidiaries of the Company:

	 	 Percentage	of

Name	of	subsidiary	 Name	of	substantial	shareholder	 shareholding

  (%)

Peaktop Technologies (USA) Hong Kong Limited Geoglobal Partners LLC 49

Waterwerks Pty. Ltd. Infiniti Marketing Group Pty. Ltd. 10

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2007, the Directors and the chief executive of the Company were not aware of any other person 

(other than the Directors and the chief executive of the Company) who had, or was deemed to have, interest or short positions in the shares 

or underlying shares (including any interests in options in respect of such capital), which would fall to be disclosed to the Company and the 

Stock Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or who are, directly or indirectly, interested in 5% or more 

of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of any other member of the 

Group.

CoNNECtED	tRANSACtIoNS
Certain related party transactions as disclosed in note 40 to the financial statements also constituted connected transactions under the 

Listing Rules, are required to be disclosed in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The following transactions between 

certain connected parties (as defined in the Listing Rules) and the Company have been entered into and/or are ongoing for which relevant 

announcements, if necessary, had been made by the Company in accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules.

The Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company have reviewed the above transactions and have considered the procedures 

performed by the auditors of the Company in reviewing them and confirmed that at the time of the transactions:

(a) the transactions have been entered into by the relevant member of the Group in the ordinary and usual course of its business;

(b) the transactions have been entered into on an arm’s length basis and on normal commercial terms (to the extent that there are 

comparable transactions) or, if there are not sufficient comparable transactions to judge whether they are on normal commercial 

terms, or terms not less favourable to the Group than terms available to or from (as the case may be) independent third parties; and

(c) the transactions have been entered into in accordance with the relevant agreement governing them on terms that are fair and 

reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.



Peaktop International Holdings Limited					Annual	Report	2007 23

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

PoSt	BAlANCE	SHEEt	EVENtS
Saved for those stated in notes 43 to the financial statements, there was no other significant post balance sheet events of the Group.

SuFFICIENCy	oF	PuBlIC	FloAt
Rule 8.08 of the Listing Rules required at least 25% of the issued share capital of the Company must be held in public hands. Based on 

information available and within the knowledge of the directors as at the date of this report prior to the issue of the annual report, the 

obligation has been complied with.

CoRPoRAtE	GoVERNANCE
The Company is committed to building and maintaining high standards of corporate governance. The Company applied the principles and 

complied with all requirements set out in the Code on Corporate Governance Practice (“CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14 of the Listing 

Rules, except for the deviations from provisions A.2.1 and A.4.1 of the CG Code.

Further information on the Company’s corporate governance practices is set out in the Report of the Corporate Governance of the annual 

report.

AuDItoRS
The financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2007 were audited by CCIF CPA Limited. A resolution to re-

appoint the retiring auditors, CCIF CPA Limited, will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

Ernst & Young tendered their resignation as auditors of the company with effect from 13 December 2006 and CCIF CPA Limited were 

appointed as auditors of the Company to fill the casual vacancy created by the resignation of Ernst & Young on 13 December 2006.

The financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2005 were audited by Ernst & Young and there have been no 

other changes of auditors of the Company in the past three years.

On behalf of the Board of Directors

lIN	Chun	kuei

Chairman

Hong Kong, 9 May 2008
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CoRPoRAtE	GoVERNANCE	PRACtICES
The Board considers that good corporate governance of the Company is essential to safeguarding the interests of the shareholders and 

enhancing the performance of the Group. The Board is committed to maintain and ensure high standards of corporate governance. The 

Company has applied the principles and complied with all the applicable code provisions of the Code on Corporate Governance Practices 

(“CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited 

(“Listing Rules”) for the year ended 31 December 2007, except for the deviations from provisions A.2.1 and A.4.1 of the CG Code in respect 

of segregation of the roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, and appointment of Independent Non-executive Directors for specific 

terms. The Board will continuously review and improve the corporate governance practices and standards of the Company to ensure that 

business activities and decision making processes are regulated in a proper and prudent manner.

DIRECtoRS’	SECuRItIES	tRANSACtIoNS
The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 

10 of the Listing Rules. All the members of the Board have confirmed, following specific enquiry by the Company, that they have complied 

with the required standard as set out in the Model Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2007.

BoARD	oF	DIRECtoRS
As on the date of this report, the Board comprised eight Directors. There are five Executive Directors including one Chairman and Chief 

Executive Officer, and two Co-vice Chairmen; and three Independent Non-executive Directors. In addition, one of the Independent Non-

executive Directors possesses appropriate professional accounting qualifications and financial management expertise pursuant to Rule 3.10(2) 

of the Listing Rules. Detailed biographies outlining each individual Director’s range of specialist experience can be found on pages 10 to 12.

The Board meets regularly throughout the year, the principal focus of the Board is on the overall strategic development of the Group. The 

Board also monitors the financial performance and the internal controls of the Group’s business operations, and delegates responsibility for 

individual Director and management for overseeing the Group’s business operations, implementing the strategies laid down by the Board 

and making day-to-day operating decisions.

The Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company is Mr. Lin Chun Kuei. This deviates from provision A.2.1 of the CG Code which 

stipulates that the roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer should be separate and should not be performed by the same individual. 

Mr. Lin Chun Kuei is one of the founder of the Group and is primarily responsible for leadership of the Board, ensuring the effectiveness on 

all aspects of its role and setting its agenda, whereas clearly established executive responsibilities for running of the business operations of 

the Group lie with different designated senior executives. The Board considers that this structure will not impair the balance of power and 

authority between the Board and the management of the business of the Group given that there is a professional and independent non-

executive element on the Board and a clear division of responsibility for the running of the business of the Group. The Board believes that the 

structure outlined above is beneficial to the Company and its business.

The Independent Non-executive Directors, with a wide range of expertise and a balance of skills, bring independent judgment on issues of 

strategic direction, development, performance and risk management. They also serve the important function of ensuring and monitoring the 

basis for an effective corporate governance framework. The Board considers that each Independent Non-executive Director is independent in 

character and judgment and that they all meet the specific independence criteria as required by the Listing Rules. The Company has received 

annual written confirmation from each Independent Non-executive Director of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. 

Based on the contents of such confirmation, the Company considers that such Directors are independent.
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BoARD	oF	DIRECtoRS	(Continued)
Two of three Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company are not appointed for a specific term. This deviates from provision A.4.1 

of the CG Code which provides that Non-executive Directors should be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election. Currently, two 

of three Independent Non-executive Directors are not appointed for a specific term but all three Independent Non-executive Directors are 

subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual general meeting of the Company in accordance with the provisions of the 

Bye-laws of the Company.

The Board considers that the Group has sufficient and appropriate liability insurance to cover its Directors and senior management team 

against any legal liability arising from their performance of their duties.

The Board has established audit, remuneration and nomination committees in accordance with the CG Code and all or a majority of the 

members of the committees are Independent Non-executive Directors.

Board	of	Directors

Audit	Committee
Nomination	

Committee

Remuneration	

Committee

The Board has established three committees with clearly-defined written terms of reference. The main roles and responsibilities of these 

committees, including all authorities delegated to them by the Board, as set out in the terms of reference, are dispatched to all members 

already. The different committees’ independent views and recommendations not only ensure proper control of the Group but also the 

continual achievement of the high corporate governance standards expected of a listed company. The Chairman of each committee reports 

the outcome of the committee’s meetings to the Board for further discussion and approval.

Minutes of Board meetings and meetings of committees are kept by duly appointed secretaries of the respective meetings and all Directors 

have access to board papers and related materials, and are provided with adequate information on a timely manner, which enable the Board 

to make an informed decision on matters placed before it.
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BoARD	oF	DIRECtoRS	(Continued)
Member Attendance of Board and committee meetings for the year 2007

	 Number	of	meetings	attended/eligible	to

	 attend	during	the	year

	 		 Audit		 Remuneration		 Nomination

Name	of	Directors	 Board		 Committee		 Committee		 Committee

Executive	Directors

Mr. LIN Chun Kuei 5/5  3/3  1/1  2/2

Mr. Andree HALIM 0/5  N.A.  N.A.  N.A.

Mr. NG Kin Nam 0/5  N.A.  N.A.  N.A.

Mr. LI Chien Kuan 5/5  3/3  1/1  2/2

Mr. LIN Chun Fu 2/5  N.A.  N.A.  N.A.

Mrs. LIN HUANG Su Feng **** 0/2  N.A.  N.A.  N.A.

Mr. Daniel HALIM ** 0/1  N.A.  N.A.  N.A.

Mr. CHEUNG Kwok Ping **** 0/2  N.A.  N.A.  N.A.

Independent	Non-executive	Directors

Mr. GOH Gen Cheung 5/5  3/3  1/1  2/2

Mr. MA Chiu Cheung, Andrew 4/5  3/3  1/1  2/2

Mr. NG Tang Fai, Ernesto *** 2/3  2/2  N.A.  1/1

The Hon. Bernard Charnwut CHAN * 2/2  1/1  N.A.  1/1

* Resigned on 16 March 2007 but effective on 30 May 2007
** Resigned on 30 March 2007
*** Appointed on 30 May 2007
**** Resigned on 17 July 2007

Note: Mr. Lin Chun Kuei, the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, is the spouse of Mrs. Lin Huang Su Feng, a former Executive Director and currently the 
Vice President of the Group. He is the brother of Mr. Lin Chun Fu, an Executive Director. He is also the father of Mr. Lin Wei Hung, a former Executive 
Director.

AuDIt	CoMMIttEE
The audit committee was established in 1999 and consists of all Independent Non-executive Directors. Members of the audit committee are 

Mr. Ma Chiu Cheung, Andrew, Mr. Goh Gen Cheung and Mr. Ng Tang Fai, Ernesto. The audit committee is chaired by Mr. Ma Chiu Cheung, 

Andrew who is the founder and a former director of Andrew Ma DFK (CPA) Limited and has over 30 years of experience in accounting and 

finance. All members of this committee hold the relevant industry and financial experience necessary to advise on Board strategies and other 

related matters.

The audit committee’s functions are:

– to decide on the appointment, terms of engagement of the external auditors;

– to review and monitor financial reporting and the reporting judgment contained in them; and

– to review financial and internal controls, accounting policies and practices with management, and external auditors.
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AuDIt	CoMMIttEE	(Continued)
Every year, the Chairman of the audit committee meets with the Group’s external auditors to discuss the annual audit plan. The meetings 

of the audit committee are attended by members of the committee, and where necessary, the external auditors. External auditors made 

presentations to the audit committee on the implications of the introduction of new accounting standards in Hong Kong. The audit 

committee subsequently reported its recommendations to the Board for further review and approval. The audit committee is also entrusted 

with monitoring and assessing the independence and objectivity of the external auditors and the effectiveness of the audit process. All 

external audit partners are subject to periodic rotations, and where necessary, and the ratio of annual fees for non-audit services and for 

audit service is subject to close scrutiny by the audit committee.

During the year under review, the audit committee met three times and reviewed the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 

December 2006 and the unaudited financial statements for the six months ended 30 June 2007 with recommendations to the Board for 

approval and discussed with the management and external auditors the accounting policies and practices which may affect the Group and 

financial reporting matters.

The fees paid/payable in respect of services provided by the Group’s external auditors during the year ended 31 December 2007 were as 

follows:

 2007		 2006

 Hk$’000		 HK$’000

Audit services 1,875		 1,576

Non-audit services 142		 232

The audit committee has concluded that it is satisfied with the findings of its review of the audit and non-audit service fees, process and 

effectiveness, independence and objectivity.

The Group’s annual report for the year ended 31 December 2007 has been reviewed by the audit committee.

REMuNERAtIoN	CoMMIttEE
The remuneration committee was established in 2005, which is responsible for formulating and making recommendation to the Board on 

the Group’s policy and structure for all the remunerations of the Directors and senior management and on the establishment of a formal and 

transparent procedures for developing policy on such remuneration.

The majority of the remuneration committee members are Independent Non-executive Directors. Members of the remuneration committee 

are Mr. Goh Gen Cheung (Chairman), Mr. Ma Chiu Cheung, Andrew, Mr. Ng Tang Fai, Ernesto, Mr. Lin Chun Kuei and Mr. Li Chien Kuan.

The remuneration committee met once during the year to review the remuneration policy for the Directors and the senior management of 

the Group and to approve the basic salary of all individual Directors and senior management of the Group. Details of each Director’s salary 

are set out in note 8 to the financial statements.
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NoMINAtIoN	CoMMIttEE
The nomination committee was established in 2005, which is responsible for nominating and affirming candidates approved by the Board, 

reviewing the structure and composition of the board on a regular basis, ensuring the competitive position of the organization, evaluating 

the leadership abilities of Executive and Non-executive Directors and ensuring fair and transparent procedures for the appointment of 

directors to the Board.

The majority of the nomination committee members are Independent Non-executive Directors. Members of the nomination committee are 

Mr. Ng Tang Fai, Ernesto (Chairman), Mr. Goh Gen Cheung, Mr. Ma Chiu Cheung, Andrew, Mr. Lin Chun Kuei and Mr. Li Chien Kuan.

The committee met twice during the year to review the structure, size and composition of the Board.

INtERNAl	CoNtRol
The Board is entrusted with the overall responsibility for establishing and maintaining the Group’s internal control systems and reviewing 

their effectiveness. The role of the Group’s management is to implement all Board policies on risk and control.

The Group’s internal control systems are designed to provide reasonable protection of the Group’s assets, and to safeguard these assets 

against unauthorized use or disposition by ensuring that all such transactions are executed in accordance with management’s authorisation. 

The systems also ensure that accounting records are sufficiently accurate for the preparation of financial information used for operation and 

for reporting purposes. The Group has adopted proper procedures with duly assigned levels of authority in areas of financial, operational and 

compliance controls and risk management to ensure that its assets and resources remain secure at all times.

The Board has reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control system covering financial operational and compliance controls and 

risk management functions during the year ended 31 December 2007.

DIRECtoRS’	RESPoNSIBIlIty	StAtEMENt
The Directors are responsible for the preparation of accounts for each financial period which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs 

of the Group and of the results and cash flow for that period. In preparing the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2007, the Directors 

have selected suitable accounting policies and applied them consistently; adopted appropriate Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and 

Hong Kong Accounting Standards; made adjustments and estimates that are prudent and reasonable; and have prepared the accounts on 

the going concern basis. The Directors are also responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at 

any time on the financial position of the Group.

INVEStoRS	RElAtIoNSHIP	AND	CoMMuNICAtIoN
The Company endeavours to maintain a high level of transparency in communicating with shareholders and investors at large. The Company is 

committed to continue to maintain an open and effective investors communication policy and to update investors on relevant information on 

its business in a timely manner, subject to relevant regulatory requirements. In order to ensure effective, clear and accurate communications 

with the investors and analysts, all corporate communications are arranged and handled by the Executive Directors and designated senior 

executives according to established practices and procedures of the Company.

On 12 July 2007 and 29 November 2007, two profit warning statements were announced to the shareholders of the Company and 

investors that the Group was expected a substantial loss for the six months ended 30 June 2007 and for the year ended 31 December 2007 

respectively due to (1): the Group was in the process of restructuring, (2): the loss of a major customer in 2007 and (3): the losses recorded 

on overseas subsidiaries due to decrease of orders received from overseas markets.
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INDEPENDENt	AuDItoR’S	REPoRt	to	tHE	SHAREHolDERS	oF

PEAktoP	INtERNAtIoNAl	HolDINGS	lIMItED

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Peaktop International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) set out on pages 31 to 

107, which comprise the consolidated and company balance sheets as at 31 December 2007, and the consolidated income statement, the 

consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended, and a summary of significant 

accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

DIRECtoRS’	RESPoNSIBIlIty	FoR	tHE	FINANCIAl	StAtEMENtS
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and the true and fair presentation of these financial statements in 

accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the 

disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. This responsibility includes designing, implementing and maintaining 

internal control relevant to the preparation and the true and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that 

are reasonable in the circumstances.

AuDItoR’S	RESPoNSIBIlIty
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in 

accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or 

accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 

Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 

as to whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The 

procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 

statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 

preparation and true and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 

circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes 

evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as 

evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
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oPINIoN
In our opinion the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as 

at 31 December 2007 and of the Group’s loss and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting 

Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to note 2(b) to the consolidated financial statements which indicate that the Group 

incurred a consolidated loss attributable to equity shareholder of the Company of approximately HK$193,838,000 for the year ended 

31 December 2007, the Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets by approximately HK$99,720,000 as at 31 December 2007 

and it did not comply with certain financial covenants of certain bank facilities. Notwithstanding the above, the consolidated financial 

statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, the validity of which depends upon the success of the measures to improve the 

Group’s profitability and cash flows, to obtain financing from other resources, to secure the necessary facilities from its existing bankers, 

and to remedy its breaches in certain bank loan covenants. These conditions, along with other matters as set forth in note 2(b), indicate the 

existence of a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt about the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

CCIF	CPA	lIMItED

Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 9 May 2008

Betty	P.C.	tse

Practising Certificate Number P03024
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For The Year Ended 31 December 2007
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

  2007		 2006

 Note Hk$’000		 HK$’000

turnover 4 & 12 495,047		 1,089,187

Cost of sales  (447,677	)	 (666,368 )

Gross	profit  47,370		 422,819

Valuation gain on investment property 14 2,670		 –

Other revenue 5 12,705		 13,890

Other net (loss)/income 5 (393	)	 20,411

Distribution costs  (89,184	)	 (267,206 )

Administrative expenses  (130,011	)	 (128,934 )

Other operating expenses  (11,944	)	 (2,924 )

Loss on disposal of subsidiaries, net 35 –		 (14,958 )

(loss)/profit	from	operations  (168,787	)	 43,098

Finance costs 6(a) (20,148	)	 (29,288 )

(loss)/profit	before	taxation 6 (188,935	)	 13,810

Income tax 7 (5,104	)	 (102 )

(loss)/profit	for	the	year  (194,039	)	 13,708

Attributable	to:

 Equity shareholders of the Company 10 & 34(a) (193,838	)	 13,766

 Minority interests 34(a) (201	)	 (58 )

(loss)/profit	for	the	year 34(a) (194,039	)	 13,708

(loss)/earnings	per	share 11

 Basic  Hk(21.8)	cents		 HK1.6 cents

 Diluted  N/A		 N/A

The notes on pages 38 to 107 form part of these financial statements.
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 2007 2006

 Note Hk$’000		 Hk$’000		 HK$’000  HK$’000

Non-current	assets  

Property, plant and equipment 13 		 164,248		   188,881

Investment property 14 		 12,640		   9,970

Prepaid lease payments 15 		 61,388		   66,652

Intangible assets 16 		 927		   5,796

Goodwill 17 		 –		   3,459

Interest in an associate 19 		 –		   (46 )

Other non-current financial assets 20 		 31,891		   33,167

Deferred tax assets 31(b) 		 –		   1,484

  		 271,094		   309,363

Current	assets  

Trading securities 21 942		 		 936

Inventories 22 77,353		 		 152,852

Trade and other receivables 23 124,111		 		 148,451

Cash and cash equivalents 24 42,253		 		 28,793

  244,659		 		 331,032

Non-current	assets	held	for	sale 25 22,933		 		 –
  		 		

total	current	assets  267,592		 		 331,032
  		 		

Current	liabilities  

Trade and other payables 26 142,893		 		 131,862

Derivative financial instruments 27 2,113		 		 –

Bank loans and overdrafts 28 209,757		 		 244,276

Other loan, unsecured 29 9,852		 		 –

Obligations under finance leases 30 320		 		 1,345

Current taxation 31(a) 2,377		 		 1,351

  367,312		 		 378,834
  		 		  		 		

Net	current	liabilities  		 (99,720)		   (47,802 )
  		 		   

total	assets	less	current	liabilities  		 171,374		   261,561
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At 31 December 2007
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

 2007 2006

 Note Hk$’000		 Hk$’000		 HK$’000  HK$’000

Non-current	liabilities

Bank loans 28 14,788		 		 4,677

Obligations under finance leases 30 –		 		 675

Deferred tax liabilities 31(b) 633		 		 –
  		 		

  		 15,421		   5,352
  		 		   

NEt	ASSEtS  		 155,953		   256,209
  		 		   

CAPItAl	AND	RESERVES 34(a)

Share capital  		 99,920		   85,720

Reserves  		 56,033		   170,288
  		 		   

total	equity	attributable	to	equity

	 shareholders	of	the	Company  		 155,953		   256,008

Minority	interests  		 –		   201
  		 		   

totAl	EQuIty  		 155,953		   256,209
  		 		   

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 9 May 2008.

	 lin	Chun	kuei	 li	Chien	kuan

 Director Director

The notes on pages 38 to 107 form part of these financial statements.
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BALANCE SHEET
At 31 December 2007
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

The notes on pages 38 to 107 form part of these financial statements.

 2007 2006

 Note Hk$’000		 Hk$’000		 HK$’000  HK$’000

Non-current	assets

Investments in subsidiaries 18 		 147,764		   230,893

Current	assets  

Trading securities 21 942		 		 936

Trade and other receivables 23 35		 		 27

Cash and cash equivalents 24 9,548		 		 3,135

  10,525		 		 4,098
  		 		

Current	liabilities  

Trade and other payables 26 9,266		 		 58
  		 		  		 		

Net	current	assets  		 1,259		   4,040
  		 		   

NEt	ASSEtS  		 149,023		   234,933
  		 		   

CAPItAl	AND	RESERVES 34(b)

Share capital  		 99,920		   85,720

Reserves  		 49,103		   149,213
  		 		   

totAl	EQuIty  		 149,023		   234,933
  		 		   

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 9 May 2008.

	 lin	Chun	kuei	 li	Chien	kuan

 Director Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For The Year Ended 31 December 2007
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

The notes on pages 38 to 107 form part of these financial statements.

	 Attributable	to	equity	shareholders	of	the	Company

          	 	 	 	(Accumulated

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 Asset	 	 	 	 losses)/

	 	 Share	 	 Share	 	Contributed	 	 Exchange	 	 revaluation	 	 Statutory	 	 retained	 	 	 	 Minority	 	 total

	 	 capital	 	 premium	 	 surplus	 	 reserve	 	 reserve	 	 reserve	 	 profits	 	 total	 	 interests	 	 equity

 Note HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000

At 1 January 2006  85,720  99,260  18,528  722  3,986  22,779  5,299  236,294  1,261  237,555

Exchange difference on translation

 of financial statements 

 of subsidiaries outside Hong Kong  –  –  –  6,802  –  –  –  6,802  97  6,899

Transfer to statutory reserve  –  –  –  –  –  1,007  (1,007 ) –  –  –

Disposal of subsidiaries  –  –  –  2,261  (3,115 ) –  –  (854 ) (1,099 ) (1,953 )

Profit for the year  –  –  –  –  –  –  13,766  13,766  (58 ) 13,708

At 31 December 2006 and

 1 January 2007  85,720  99,260  18,528  9,785  871  23,786  18,058  256,008  201  256,209

Exchange difference on translation 

 of financial statements 

 of subsidiaries outside Hong Kong  –  –  –  6,261  –  –  –  6,261  –  6,261

Shares issued under the placing 34(c)(iii) 14,200  73,322  –  –  –  –  –  87,522  –  87,522

Loss for the year  –  –  –  –  –  –  (193,838 ) (193,838 ) (201 ) (194,039 )

At 31 December 2007  99,920  172,582  18,528  16,046  871  23,786  (175,780 ) 155,953  –  155,953
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
For The Year Ended 31 December 2007
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

  2007		 2006

 Note Hk$’000		 HK$’000

operating	activities  

(Loss)/profit before taxation  (188,935	)	 13,810

Adjustments for:

 Valuation gain on investment property 14 (2,670	)	 –

 Depreciation 6(c) 32,354		 37,148

 Amortisation of prepaid lease payments 6(c) 1,626		 1,594

 Amortisation of intangible assets 6(c) 5,033		 12,176

 Write-off of intangible assets  –		 3

 Impairment loss on goodwill 6(c) 3,459		 –

 Impairment loss for bad and doubtful debts 6(c) 6,222		 2,924

 Write-off of trade and other receivables 6(c) 2,032		 –

 Reversal of impairment loss on amount due from an associate 6(c) (46	)	 –

 Finance costs 6(a) 20,148		 29,288

 Interest income 5 (945	)	 (1,562 )

 Gain on disposal of available-for-sale financial assets 5 (6,243	)	 –

 Unrealised gain on trading securities 5 (6	)	 –

 Net loss on forward foreign exchange contracts 6(c) 2,113		 –

 Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment 5 7,253		 516

 Gain on disposal of non-current financial assets 5 –		 (20,927 )

 Loss on disposal of subsidiaries, net 35 –		 14,958

 Fair value gain of financial asset at fair value through profit or loss 5 (611	)	 –

 Foreign exchange loss  2,031		 –

operating	(loss)/profit	before	changes	in	working	capital  (117,185	)	 89,928

 Decrease in inventories  83,850		 17,469

 Decrease in trade and other receivables  18,769		 28,323

 Decrease in trade and other payables  (12,970	)	 (52,008 )

Cash	(used	in)/generated	from	operations  (27,536	)	 83,712

Tax paid

 Hong Kong profits tax paid  –		 (254 )

 Overseas tax paid  (1,855	)	 (1,065 )

Net	cash	(used	in)/generated	from	operating	activities  (29,391	)	 82,393
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
For The Year Ended 31 December 2007
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

  2007		 2006

 Note Hk$’000		 HK$’000

Investing	activities  

Payment for the purchases of property, plant and equipment  (23,769	)	 (15,654 )

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment  3,537		 2,187

Expenditure on development project  (166	)	 (15,723 )

Increase in pledged deposits  (44	)	 (53 )

Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries  –		 (1,669 )

Payment for the purchase of trading securities  –		 (936 )

Proceeds from disposal of available-for-sale financial assets  10,530		 –

Proceeds from disposal of non-current assets held for sale  –		 42,438

Advance to an associate  –		 (3 )

Interest received  945		 1,562

Net	cash	(used	in)/generated	from	investing	activities  (8,967	)	 12,149

Financing	activities  

Net proceeds from shares issued under the placing  87,522		 –

Capital element of finance lease rentals paid  (1,700	)	 (1,628 )

Proceeds from new bank loans  155,319		 29,981

Repayment of bank loans  (185,983	)	 (102,621 )

Proceeds from other loan  9,852		 –

Advance from a director  17,902		 –

Repayment to a director  (15,902	)	 (2,340 )

Advance from an ex-director  10,730		 –

Repayment to an ex-director  (8,664	)	 –

Advance from a substantial shareholder  15,000		 –

Repayment to a substantial shareholder  (12,000	)	 –

Interest element of finance lease rentals paid  (111	)	 (331 )

Other borrowing costs paid  (20,037	)	 (28,957 )

Net	cash	generated	from/(used	in)	financing	activities  51,928		 (105,896 )

Net	increase/(decrease)	in	cash	and	cash	equivalents  13,570		 (11,354 )

Cash	and	cash	equivalents	at	1	January 24 21,280		 32,367

Effect	of	foreign	exchange	rate	changes  582		 267

Cash	and	cash	equivalents	at	31	December 24 35,432		 21,280

The notes on pages 38 to 107 form part of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2007
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

1.	 GENERAl	INFoRMAtIoN
Peaktop International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated as an exempted company with limited liability in Bermuda 

and its shares were listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The addresses of the registered office and 

principal place of business of the Company are disclosed in the corporate information section of the annual report.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. Its subsidiaries are principally engaged in the business of design, manufacture 

and sale of home, garden and plastic decorative products.

The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars rounded to the nearest thousand, which is the same as the functional 

currency of the Company.

2.	 SIGNIFICANt	ACCouNtING	PolICIES
(a)	 Statement	of	compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards 

(“HKFRSs”), which collective term includes all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong 

Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants 

(“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong 

Companies Ordinance. These financial statements also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing 

the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. A summary of the significant accounting policies 

adopted by the Group is set out below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that are first effective or available for early adoption for the current 

accounting period of the Group and the Company. Note 3 provides information on any changes in accounting policies resulting 

from initial application of these developments to the extent that they are relevant to the Group for the current and prior 

accounting periods reflected in these financial statements.

(b)	 Basis	of	preparation	of	the	financial	statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2007 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (together 

referred to as the “Group”) and the Group’s interest in an associate.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial statements is the historical cost basis except where stated 

otherwise in the accounting polices set out below.

Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale are stated at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell (see 

note 2(y)).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires management to make judgements, estimates and 

assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates 

and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable 

under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgements about carrying values of assets and 

liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised 

in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future 

periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2007
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2.	 SIGNIFICANt	ACCouNtING	PolICIES	(Continued)
(b)	 Basis	of	preparation	of	the	financial	statements	(Continued)

Judgements made by management in the application of HKFRSs that have significant effect on the financial statements and 
estimates with a significant risk of material adjustment in the next year are discussed in note 42.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors have considered the future liquidity of the Group notwithstanding:

– the consolidated loss attributable to equity shareholders of the Company of approximately HK$193,838,000 for the year 
ended 31 December 2007;

– the consolidated net current liabilities of approximately HK$99,720,000 as at 31 December 2007;

– the outstanding bank loans and overdrafts of approximately HK$224,545,000 (note 28) and other loan of approximately 
HK$9,852,000 (note 29), out of which an aggregate of approximately HK$219,609,000 was due for repayment within 
the next twelve months after 31 December 2007; and

– the breach of covenants relating to certain of the Group’s bank facilities as disclosed in note 28(b).

The directors adopted the going concern basis in the preparation of the financial statements and implemented the following 
measures in order to improve the working capital position, immediate liquidity and cash flow position of the Group:

(i) The Group will negotiate with its bankers to secure the necessary facilities in order to meet the Group’s working capital 
and financial requirements in the near future.

 Subsequent to 31 December 2007, the Group obtained new bank loans of approximately HK$17,032,000, which was 
repayable in April 2009.

 In addition, at 31 December 2007, the Group has breached the covenants of certain utilised banking facilities in relation 
to the amount of HK$27,901,000 as disclosed in note 28(b). Subsequent to 31 December 2007, certain banks granted 
waivers to the Group from compliance with these covenants in relation to the amount of approximately HK$16,666,000.

(ii) The Group is actively exploring the availability of alternative sources of external funding to strengthen the working capital 
position of the Group. Subsequent to 31 December 2007, certain directors and a substantial shareholder advanced to the 
Group an aggregate of approximately HK$44,958,000.

(iii) Subsequent to 31 December 2007, the Group disposed of its interests in certain subsidiaries for an aggregate 
consideration of approximately HK$237,322,000 (note 43), of which the directors expect approximately HK$96,275,000 
to be receivable in 2008 and approximately HK$141,047,000 to be receivable after 2008, to finance the operations of 
the Group.

(iv) The Group would take relevant measures in order to tighten cost controls over various operating expenses and to seek 
new investment and business opportunities with an aim to attain profitable and positive cash flow operations. The Group 
is expected to derive sufficient cash flow in 2008.

In the opinion of the directors, in light of the various measures/arrangements implemented to date together with the expected 
results of other measures, the Group will have sufficient working capital for its current requirements and it is reasonable to 
expect the Group to remain a commercially viable concern. Accordingly, the directors are satisfied that it is appropriate to 
prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis.

Should the Group be unable to continue to operate as a going concern, adjustments would have to be made to write down the 
value of assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for any further liabilities which might arise and to reclassify non-current 
assets and liabilities as current assets and liabilities respectively. The effect of these adjustments has not been reflected in the 
financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2007
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2.	 SIGNIFICANt	ACCouNtING	PolICIES	(Continued)
(c)	 Subsidiaries	and	minority	interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control exists when the Group has the power to govern the financial and 
operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from activities. In assessing control, potential voting rights that presently 
are exercisable are taken into account.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences 
until the date that control ceases. Intra-group balances and transactions and any unrealised profits arising from intra-group 
transactions are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses resulting from intra-
group transactions are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains but only to the extent that there is no evidence of 
impairment.

Minority interests represent the portion of the net assets of subsidiaries attributable to interests that are not owned by the 
Company, whether directly or indirectly through subsidiaries, and in respect of which the Group has not agreed any additional 
terms with the holders of those interests which would result in the Group as a whole having a contractual obligation in respect 
of those interests that meets the definition of a financial liability. Minority interests are presented in the consolidated balance 
sheet within equity, separately from equity attributable to the equity shareholders of the Company. Minority interests in the 
results of the Group are presented on the face of the consolidated income statement as an allocation of the total profit or loss 
for the year between minority interests and the equity shareholders of the Company.

Where losses applicable to the minority exceed the minority’s interest in the equity of a subsidiary, the excess, and any further 
losses applicable to the minority, are charged against the Group’s interest except to the extent that the minority has a binding 
obligation to, and is able to, make additional investment to cover the losses. If the subsidiary subsequently reports profits, 
the Group’s interest is allocated all such profits until the minority’s share of losses previously absorbed by the Group has been 
recovered.

Loans from holders of minority interests and other contractual obligations towards these holders are presented as financial 
liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet depending on the nature of the liability.

In the Company’s balance sheet, an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment losses (see note 2(m)).

(d)	 Associates
An associate is an entity in which the Group or Company has significant influence, but not control over its management, 
including participation in the financial and operating policy decisions.

An investment in an associate is accounted for in the consolidated financial statements under the equity method and is initially 
recorded at cost and adjusted thereafter for the post acquisition change in the Group’s share of the associate’s net assets, 
unless it is classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal group that is classified as held for sale). The consolidated income 
statement includes the Group’s share of the post-acquisition, post-tax results of the associates for the year, including any 
impairment loss on goodwill relating to the investment in associates recognised for the year (see note 2(e) and (m)).

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in the associate, the Group’s interest is reduced to nil and recognition 
of further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made 
payments on behalf of the associate. For this purpose, the Group’s interest in the associate is the carrying amount of the 
investment under the equity method together with the Group’s long-term interests that in substance form part of the Group’s 
net investment in the associate.

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent of 
the Group’s interest in the associate, except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred, 
in which case they are recognised immediately in income statement.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2007
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2.	 SIGNIFICANt	ACCouNtING	PolICIES	(Continued)
(e)	 Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of a business combination or an investment in an associate over the Group’s interest 

in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units and is tested 

annually for impairment (see note 2(m)). In respect of associates, the carrying amount of goodwill is included in the carrying 

amount of the interest in the associate.

Any excess of the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities 

over the cost of a business combination or an investment in an associate is recognised immediately in income statement.

On disposal of a cash-generating unit or an associate during the year, any attributable amount of purchased goodwill is 

included in the calculation of the profit or loss on disposal.

(f)	 other	investments	in	debt	and	equity	securities

The Group’s and the Company’s policies for investments in debt and equity securities, other than investments in subsidiaries 

and associates, are as follows:

Investments in debt and equity securities are initially stated at cost, which is their transaction price unless fair value can be 

more reliably estimated using valuation techniques whose variables include only data from observable markets. Cost includes 

attributable transaction costs, except where indicated otherwise below. These investments are subsequently accounted for as 

follows, depending on their classification:

Investments in securities held for trading are classified as current assets. Any attributable transaction costs are recognised in 

income statement as incurred. At each balance sheet date the fair value is remeasured, with any resultant gain or loss being 

recognised in income statement. The net gain or loss recognised in income statement does not include any dividends or interest 

earned on these investments as these are recognised in accordance with the policies set out in note 2(v)(iii) and (iv).

Dated debt securities that the Group and/or the Company have the positive ability and intention to hold to maturity are 

classified as held-to-maturity securities. Held-to-maturity securities are stated in the balance sheet at amortised cost less 

impairment losses (see note 2(m)).

Investments in equity securities that do not have a quoted market price in an active market and whose fair value cannot be 

reliably measured are recognised in the balance sheet at cost less impairment losses (see note 2(m)).

Investments in securities which do not fall into any of the above categories are classified as available-for-sale securities. At 

each balance sheet date the fair value is remeasured, with any resultant gain or loss being recognised directly in equity, except 

foreign exchange gains and losses in respect of monetary items such as debt securities which are recognised directly in income 

statement. Dividend income from these investments is recognised in income statement in accordance with the policy set out 

in note 2(v)(iii) and, where, these investments are interest-bearing, interest calculated using the effective interest method is 

recognised in income statement in accordance with the policy set out in note 2(v)(iv). When these investments are derecognised 

or impaired (see note 2(m)), the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised directly in equity is recognised in income 

statement.

Investments are recognised/derecognised on the date the Group commits to purchase/sell the investments or they expire.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2.	 SIGNIFICANt	ACCouNtING	PolICIES	(Continued)
(g)	 Financial	assets	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss

Financial assets is recognised on the consolidated balance sheet when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions 

of the instrument. Financial assets are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of 

financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in income statement.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss have two subcategories, including financial assets held for trading and those 

designated at fair value through profit or loss on initial recognition. At each balance sheet date subsequent to initial recognition, 

financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value, with changes in fair value recognised in income 

statement in the period in which they arise. The net gain or loss recognised in income statement included interest income from 

these financial assets.

(h)	 Derivative	financial	instruments

Derivative financial instruments are recognised initially at fair value. At each balance sheet date the fair value is remeasured. The 

gain or loss on remeasurement to fair value is charged immediately to income statement.

(i)	 Investment	property

Investment properties are land and/or buildings which are owned or held under a leasehold interest (see note 2(l)) to earn rental 

income and/or for capital appreciation. These include land held for a currently undetermined future use.

Investment properties are stated in the balance sheet at fair value. Any gain or loss arising from a change in fair value or 

from the retirement or disposal of an investment property is recognised in income statement. Rental income from investment 

properties is accounted for as described in note 2(v)(ii).

When the Group holds a property interest under an operating lease to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation, the 

interest is classified and accounted for as an investment property on a property-by-property basis. Any such property interest 

which has been classified as an investment property is accounted for as if it were held under a finance lease (see note 2(l)), and 

the same accounting policies are applied to that interest as are applied to other investment properties leased under finance 

leases. Lease payments are accounted for as described in note 2(l).

(j)	 Property,	plant	and	equipment

The building component of leasehold properties held for own use is stated in the balance sheet at their revalued amount, being 

their fair value at the date of the revaluation less any subsequent accumulated depreciation.

Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity to ensure that the carrying amount of these assets does not differ 

materially from that which would be determined using fair values at the balance sheet date.

Construction in progress represents buildings under construction and equipment pending installation, and is stated at cost less 

impairment losses (see note 2(m)). Cost comprises direct costs of construction as well as interest charges during the period of 

construction and installation. Capitalisation of these costs ceases and the construction in progress is transferred to property, 

plant and equipment when the asset is substantially ready for its intended use.

The other items of property, plant and equipment are stated in the balance sheet at cost less accumulated depreciation and 

impairment losses (see note 2(m)).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2007
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2.	 SIGNIFICANt	ACCouNtING	PolICIES	(Continued)
(j)	 Property,	plant	and	equipment	(Continued)

Changes arising on the revaluation of properties held for own use are generally dealt with in reserves. The only exceptions are as 

follows:

– when a deficit arises on revaluation, it will be charged to income statement to the extent that it exceeds the amount held 

in the reserve in respect of that same asset immediately prior to the revaluation; and

– when a surplus arises on revaluation, it will be credited to income statement to the extent that a deficit on revaluation in 

respect of that same asset had previously been charged to income statement.

The cost of self-constructed items of property, plant and equipment includes the cost of materials, direct labour, the initial 

estimate, where relevant, of the costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which they are located, 

and an appropriate proportion of production overheads and borrowing costs (see note 2(x)).

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment are determined as the 

difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item and are recognised in income statement on 

the date of retirement or disposal. Any related revaluation surplus is transferred from the revaluation reserve to accumulated 

losses/retained profits.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost or valuation of items of property, plant and equipment, less their estimated 

residual value, if any, using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives as follows:

– Buildings situated on leasehold land are depreciated over the shorter of the unexpired term of lease and their estimated 

useful lives, being no more than 40 years after the date of completion.

– Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of the unexpired term of lease and their estimated useful lives, 

being no more than 10 years after the date of completion.

– Plant and machinery 10 years

– Furniture, fixtures, equipment 5 years

– Moulds 2 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, the cost or valuation of the item is 

allocated on a reasonable basis between the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Both the useful life of an asset and 

its residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.

(k)	 Intangible	assets	(other	than	goodwill)

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred. Expenditure on development 

activities is capitalised if the product or process is technically and commercially feasible and the Group has sufficient resources 

and the intention to complete development. The expenditure capitalised includes the costs of materials, direct labour, and an 

appropriate proportion of overheads and borrowing costs, where applicable (see note 2(x)). Capitalised development costs 

are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses (see note 2(m)). Other development expenditure is 

recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

Other intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are stated in the balance sheet at cost less accumulated amortisation 

(where the estimated useful life is finite) and impairment losses (see note 2(m)). Expenditure on internally generated goodwill 

and brands is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.
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2.	 SIGNIFICANt	ACCouNtING	PolICIES	(Continued)
(k)	 Intangible	assets	(other	than	goodwill)	(Continued)

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful lives is charged to income statement on a straight-line basis over the assets’ 
estimated useful lives. The following intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortised from the date they are available for use 
and their estimated useful lives are as follows:

– capitalised development costs 2 to 5 years

– patents 5 years

– deferred expenses amortised over the term of their underlying contracts

Both the period and method of amortisation are reviewed annually.

Intangible assets are not amortised while their useful lives are assessed to be indefinite. Any conclusion that the useful life of 
an intangible asset is indefinite is reviewed annually to determine whether events and circumstances continue to support the 
indefinite useful life assessment for that asset. If they do not, the change in the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite 
is accounted for prospectively from the date of change and in accordance with the policy for amortisation of intangible assets 
with finite lives as set out above.

(l)	 leased	assets
An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series of transactions, is or contains a lease if the Group determines that the 
arrangement conveys a right to use a specific asset or assets for an agreed period of time in return for a payment or a series 
of payments. Such a determination is made based on an evaluation of the substance of the arrangement and is regardless of 
whether the arrangement takes the legal form of a lease.

(i) Classification of assets leased to the Group
Assets that are held by Group under leases which transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership are classified as being held under finance leases. Leases which do not transfer substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership to the Group are classified as operating leases.

(ii) Assets acquired under finance leases
Where the Group acquires the use of assets under finance leases, the amounts representing the fair value of the leased 
asset, or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments, of such assets are included in fixed assets and the 
corresponding liabilities, net of finance charges, are recorded as obligations under finance leases. Depreciation is provided 
at rates which write off the cost or valuation of the assets over the term of the relevant lease or, where it is likely the 
Group will obtain ownership of the asset, the life of the asset, as set out in note 2(j). Impairment losses are accounted 
for in accordance with the accounting policy as set out in note 2(m). Finance charges implicit in the lease payments are 
charged to income statement over the period of the leases so as to produce an approximately constant periodic rate 
of charge on the remaining balance of the obligations for each accounting period. Contingent rentals are charged to 
income statement in the accounting period in which they are incurred.

(iii) Operating lease charges
Where the Group has the use of assets held under operating leases, payments made under the leases are charged 
to income statement in equal instalments over the accounting periods covered by the lease term, except where an 
alternative basis is more representative of the pattern of benefits to be derived from the leased asset. Lease incentives 
received are recognised in income statement as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments made. Contingent 
rentals are charged to income statement in the accounting period in which they are incurred.

The cost of acquiring land held under an operating lease is amortised on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease 

term except where the property is classified as an investment property (see note 2(i)).
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2.	 SIGNIFICANt	ACCouNtING	PolICIES	(Continued)
(m)	 Impairment	of	assets

(i) Impairment of investments in debt and equity securities and other receivables

Investments in debt and equity securities (other than investments in subsidiaries and associates: (see note 2(m)(ii)) and 

other current and non-current receivables that are stated at cost or amortised cost or are classified as available-for-

sale securities are reviewed at each balance sheet date to determine whether there is objective evidence of impairment. 

Objective evidence of impairment includes observable data that comes to the attention of the Group about one or more 

of the following loss events:

– significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

– a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments;

– it becoming probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

– significant changes in the technological, market, economic or legal environment that have an adverse effect on 

the debtor; and

– a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of an investment in an equity instrument below its cost.

If any such evidence exists, any impairment loss is determined and recognised as follows:

– For unquoted equity securities carried at cost, the impairment loss is measured as the difference between the 

carrying amount of the financial asset and the estimated future cash flows, discounted at the current market 

rate of return for a similar financial asset where the effect of discounting is material. Impairment losses to equity 

securities are not reversed.

– For trade and other current receivables and other financial assets carried at amortised cost, the impairment loss is 

measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash 

flows, discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed at 

initial recognition of these assets), where the effect of discounting is material. This assessment is made collectively 

where financial assets carried at amortised cost share similar risk characteristics, such as similar past due status, 

and have not been individually assessed as impaired. Future cash flows for financial assets which are assessed for 

impairment collectively are based on historical loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics similar to 

the collective group.

If in a subsequent period the amount of an impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be linked objectively 

to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised, the impairment loss is reversed through income 

statement. A reversal of an impairment loss shall not result in the asset’s carrying amount exceeding that which 

would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised in prior years.
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2.	 SIGNIFICANt	ACCouNtING	PolICIES	(Continued)
(m)	 Impairment	of	assets	(Continued)

(i) Impairment of investments in debt and equity securities and other receivables (Continued)
– For available-for-sale securities, the cumulative loss that has been recognised directly in equity is removed from 

equity and is recognised in income statement. The amount of the cumulative loss that is recognised in income 
statement is the difference between the acquisition cost (net of any principal repayment and amortisation) and 
current fair value, less any impairment loss on the asset previously recognised in income statement.

Impairment losses recognised in income statement in respect of available-for-sale equity securities are not reversed 
through income statement. Any subsequent increase in the fair value of such assets is recognised directly in equity.

Impairment losses in respect of available-for-sale debt securities are reversed if the subsequent increase in fair value 
can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised. Reversals of impairment 
losses in such circumstances are recognised in income statement.

Impairment losses are written off against the corresponding assets directly, except for impairment losses recognised in 
respect of trade debtors and bills receivable included within trade and other receivables, whose recovery is considered 
doubtful but not remote. In this case, the impairment losses for doubtful debts are recorded using an allowance account. 
When the Group is satisfied that recovery is remote, the amount considered irrecoverable is written off against trade 
debtors and bills receivable directly and any amounts held in the allowance account relating to that debt are reversed. 
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously charged to the allowance account are reversed against the allowance 
account. Other changes in the allowance account and subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off directly 
are recognised in income statement.

(ii) Impairment of other assets
Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at each balance sheet date to identify indications that the 
following assets may be impaired or, except in the case of goodwill, an impairment loss previously recognised no longer 
exists or may have decreased:

– property, plant and equipment (other than properties carried at revalued amounts);

– prepaid lease payments classified as being held under an operating lease;

– intangible assets;

– investments in subsidiaries and associates (except for those classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal 
group that is classified as held for sale)); and

– goodwill.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. In addition, for goodwill, intangible assets that 
are not yet available for use and intangible assets that have indefinite useful lives, the recoverable amount is estimated 
annually whether or not there is any indication of impairment.

– Calculation of recoverable amount
The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its net selling price and value in use. In assessing value in use, 
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. Where an asset does not 
generate cash inflows largely independent of those from other assets, the recoverable amount is determined for 

the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit).



Peaktop International Holdings Limited					Annual	Report	2007 47

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2007
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2.	 SIGNIFICANt	ACCouNtING	PolICIES	(Continued)
(m)	 Impairment	of	assets	(Continued)

(ii) Impairment of other assets (Continued)

– Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in income statement whenever the carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-

generating unit to which it belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses recognised in respect of 

cash-generating units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the cash-

generating unit (or group of units) and then, to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit (or 

group of units) on a pro rata basis, except that the carrying value of an asset will not be reduced below its 

individual fair value less costs to sell, or value in use, if determinable.

– Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an impairment loss is reversed if there has been a favourable change 

in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not 

reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the asset’s carrying amount that would have been determined had no 

impairment loss been recognised in prior years. Reversals of impairment losses are credited to income statement in 

the year in which the reversals are recognised.

(iii) Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, the Group is required 

to prepare an interim financial report in compliance with HKAS 34, Interim financial reporting, in respect of the first 

six months of the financial year. At the end of the interim period, the Group applies the same impairment testing, 

recognition and reversal criteria as it would at the end of the financial year (see notes 2(m)(i) and (ii)).

Impairment losses recognised in an interim period in respect of goodwill, available-for-sale equity securities and unlisted 

equity securities carried at cost are not reversed in a subsequent period. This is the case even if no loss, or a smaller loss, 

would have been recognised had the impairment been assessed only at the end of the financial year to which the interim 

period relates.

(n)	 Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Cost is calculated on the first-in, first-out basis and comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other costs incurred 

in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of completion and 

the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in which the 

related revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-down of inventories to net realisable value and all losses of inventories 

are recognised as an expense in the period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write-down of 

inventories is recognised as a reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as an expense in the period in which the 

reversal occurs.
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2.	 SIGNIFICANt	ACCouNtING	PolICIES	(Continued)
(o)	 trade	and	other	receivables

Trade and other receivables are initially recognised at fair value and thereafter stated at amortised cost less allowance for 

impairment of doubtful debts (see note 2(m)), except where the receivables are interest-free loans made to related parties 

without any fixed repayment terms or the effect of discounting would be immaterial. In such cases, the receivables are stated at 

cost less allowance for impairment of doubtful debts.

(p)	 Interest-bearing	borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial 

recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost with any difference between the amount initially 

recognised and redemption value being recognised in income statement over the period of the borrowings, together with any 

interest and fees payable, using the effective interest method.

(q)	 trade	and	other	payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value. Except for financial guarantee liabilities measured in accordance 

with note 2(u)(i), trade and other payables are subsequently stated at amortised cost unless the effect of discounting would be 

immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

(r)	 Cash	and	cash	equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions, 

and short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject to 

an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are 

repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management are also included as a component of cash 

and cash equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement.

(s)	 Employee	benefits

(i) Short term employee benefits and contributions to defined contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions to defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of non-

monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the associated services are rendered by employees. Where payment or 

settlement is deferred and the effect would be material, these amounts are stated at their present values.

(ii) Share-based payments

The fair value of share options granted to employees is recognised as an employee cost with a corresponding increase 

in a capital reserve within equity. The fair value is measured at grant date using the binomial lattice model, taking into 

account the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted. Where the employees have to meet vesting 

conditions before becoming unconditionally entitled to the options, the total estimated fair value of the options is spread 

over the vesting period, taking into account the probability that the options will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of share options that is expected to vest is reviewed. Any adjustment to the 

cumulative fair value recognised in prior years is charged/credited to the income statement the year of the review, unless 

the original employee expenses qualify for recognition as an asset, with a corresponding adjustment to the capital 

reserve. On vesting date, the amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of options that 

vest (with a corresponding adjustment to the capital reserve) except where forfeiture is only due to not achieving vesting 

conditions that relate to the market price of the Company’s shares. The equity amount is recognised in the capital reserve 

until either the option is exercised (when it is transferred to the share premium account) or the option expires (when it is 

released directly to accumulated losses).
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2.	 SIGNIFICANt	ACCouNtING	PolICIES	(Continued)
(s)	 Employee	benefits	(Continued)

(iii) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised when, and only when, the Group demonstrably commits itself to terminate 

employment or to provide benefits as a result of voluntary redundancy by having a detailed formal plan which is without 

realistic possibility of withdrawal.

(t)	 Income	tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current tax and movements 

in deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised in income statement except to the extent that they relate to items recognised 

directly in equity, in which case they are recognised in equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at 

the balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and taxable temporary differences respectively, being the differences 

between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax bases. Deferred tax assets 

also arise from unused tax losses and unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent that it is probable that 

future taxable profits will be available against which the asset can be utilised, are recognised. Future taxable profits that may 

support the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences include those that will arise from 

the reversal of existing taxable temporary differences, provided those differences relate to the same taxation authority and the 

same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either in the same period as the expected reversal of the deductible temporary 

difference or in periods into which a tax loss arising from the deferred tax asset can be carried back or forward. The same 

criteria are adopted when determining whether existing taxable temporary differences support the recognition of deferred tax 

assets arising from unused tax losses and credits, that is, those differences are taken into account if they relate to the same 

taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse in a period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit 

can be utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities are those temporary differences arising from goodwill 

not deductible for tax purposes, the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit 

(provided they are not part of a business combination), and temporary differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to 

the extent that, in the case of taxable differences, the Group controls the timing of the reversal and it is probable that the 

differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the case of deductible differences, unless it is probable that they will 

reverse in the future.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying 

amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. Deferred tax assets 

and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at each balance sheet date and is reduced to the extent that it is no 

longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such reduction is 

reversed to the extent that it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of dividends are recognised when the liability to pay the related 

dividends is recognised.
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2.	 SIGNIFICANt	ACCouNtING	PolICIES	(Continued)
(t)	 Income	tax	(Continued)

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and movements therein, are presented separately from each other and are 

not offset. Current tax assets are offset against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities, if 

the Company or the Group has the legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the 

following additional conditions are met:

– in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the Company or the Group intends either to settle on a net basis, or to 

realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously; or

– in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on 

either:

– the same taxable entity; or

– different taxable entities, which, in each future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets 

are expected to be settled or recovered, intend to realise the current tax assets and settle the current tax liabilities 

on a net basis or realise and settle simultaneously.

(u)	 Financial	guarantees	issued,	provisions	and	contingent	liabilities

(i) Financial guarantees issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the issuer (i.e. the guarantor) to make specified payments to reimburse the 

beneficiary of the guarantee (the “holder”) for a loss the holder incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment 

when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Where the Group issues a financial guarantee, the fair value of the guarantee (being the transaction price, unless the 

fair value can otherwise be reliably estimated) is initially recognised as deferred income within trade and other payables. 

Where consideration is received or receivable for the issuance of the guarantee, the consideration is recognised in 

accordance with the Group’s policies applicable to that category of asset. Where no such consideration is received or 

receivable, an immediate expense is recognised in income statement on initial recognition of any deferred income.

The amount of the guarantee initially recognised as deferred income is amortised in income statement over the term 

of the guarantee as income from financial guarantees issued. In addition, provisions are recognised in accordance with 

note 2(u)(ii) if and when (i) it becomes probable that the holder of the guarantee will call upon the Group under the 

guarantee, and (ii) the amount of that claim on the Group is expected to exceed the amount currently carried in trade 

and other payables in respect of that guarantee i.e. the amount initially recognised, less accumulated amortisation.

(ii) Other provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for other liabilities of uncertain timing or amount when the Group or the Company has a legal 

or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will 

be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value of money is material, 

provisions are stated at the present value of the expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated 

reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is 

remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more 

future events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.
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2.	 SIGNIFICANt	ACCouNtING	PolICIES	(Continued)
(v)	 Revenue	recognition

Provided it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue and costs, if applicable, can be 

measured reliably, revenue is recognised in income statement as follows:

(i) Sale of goods

Revenue is recognised when goods are delivered at the customers’ premises which is taken to be the point in time when 

the customer has accepted the goods and the related risks and rewards of ownership. Revenue excludes value added tax 

or other sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade discounts.

(ii) Rental income from operating leases

Rental income receivable under operating leases is recognised in income statement in equal instalments over the periods 

covered by the lease term, except where an alternative basis is more representative of the pattern of benefits to be 

derived from the use of the leased asset. Lease incentives granted are recognised in income statement as an integral part 

of the aggregate net lease payments receivable. Contingent rentals are recognised as income in the accounting period in 

which they are earned.

(iii) Dividends

Dividend income from unlisted investments is recognised when the shareholder’s right to receive payment is established.

Dividend income from listed investments is recognised when the share price of the investment goes ex-dividend.

(iv) Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest method.

(w)	 translation	of	foreign	currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. 

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the 

balance sheet date. Exchange gains and losses are recognised in income statement.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the 

foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies 

that are stated at fair value are translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value was determined.

The results of foreign operations are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates approximating the foreign 

exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Balance sheet items, including goodwill arising on consolidation of 

foreign operations acquired on or after 1 January 2005, are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the foreign exchange rates 

ruling at the balance sheet date. The resulting exchange differences are recognised directly in a separate component of equity. 

Goodwill arising on consolidation of a foreign operation acquired before 1 January 2005 is translated at the foreign exchange 

rate that applied at the date of acquisition of the foreign operation.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount of the exchange differences recognised in equity which relate to 

that foreign operation is included in the calculation of the profit or loss on disposal.

(x)	 Borrowing	costs

Borrowing costs are expensed in income statement in the period in which they are incurred, except to the extent that they are 

capitalised as being directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset which necessarily takes a 

substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale.
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2.	 SIGNIFICANt	ACCouNtING	PolICIES	(Continued)
(x)	 Borrowing	costs	(Continued)

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of a qualifying asset commences when expenditure for the asset is 

being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred and activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or 

sale are in progress. Capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended or ceases when substantially all the activities necessary to 

prepare the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are interrupted or complete.

(y)	 Non-current	assets	held	for	sale

A non-current asset (or disposal group) is classified as held for sale if it is highly probable that its carrying amount will be 

recovered through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use and the asset (or disposal group) is available for sale 

in its present condition. A disposal group is a group of assets to be disposed of together as a group in a single transaction, and 

liabilities directly associated with those assets that will be transferred in the transaction.

Immediately before classification as held for sale, the measurement of the non-current assets is brought up-to-date in 

accordance with the accounting policies before the classification. Then, on initial classification as held for sale and until disposal, 

the non-current assets (except for certain assets as explained below), are recognized at the lower of their carrying amount and 

fair value less costs to sell. The principal exceptions to this measurement policy so far as the financial statements of the Group 

and the Company are concerned are deferred tax assets, assets arising from employee benefits, financial assets (other than 

investments in subsidiaries and associates) and investment properties. These assets, even if held for sale, would continue to be 

measured in accordance with the policies set out elsewhere in note 2.

Impairment losses on initial classification as held for sale, and on subsequent remeasurement while held for sale, are recognized 

in income statement. As long as a non-current asset is classified as held for sale, the non-current asset is not depreciated or 

amortised.

(z)	 Related	parties

For the purposes of these financial statements, a party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(i) the party has the ability, directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, to control the Group or exercise 

significant influence over the Group in making financial and operating policy decisions, or has joint control over the 

Group; 

(ii) the Group and the party are subject to common control;

(iii) the party is an associate of the Group or a joint venture in which the Group is a venturer;

(iv) the party is a member of key management personnel of the Group or the Group’s parent, or a close family member of 

such an individual, or is an entity under the control, joint control or significant influence of such individuals;

(v) the party is a close family member of a party referred to in (i) or is an entity under the control, joint control or significant 

influence of such individuals; or

(vi) the party is a post-employment benefit plan which is for the benefit of employees of the Group or of any entity that is a 

related party of the Group.  

Close family members of an individual are those family members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that 

individual in their dealings with the entity.



Peaktop International Holdings Limited					Annual	Report	2007 53

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2007
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2.	 SIGNIFICANt	ACCouNtING	PolICIES	(Continued)
(aa)	 Segment	reporting

A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group that is engaged either in providing products or services (business 

segment), or in providing products or services within a particular economic environment (geographical segment), which is 

subject to risks and rewards that are different from those of other segments.

In accordance with the Group’s internal financial reporting system, the Group has chosen geographical segment information 

as the primary reporting format and business segment information as the secondary reporting format for the purposes of these 

financial statements.

Segment revenue, expenses, results, assets and liabilities include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that 

can be allocated on a reasonable basis to that segment. For example, segment assets may include inventories, trade receivables 

and property, plant and equipment. Segment revenue, expenses, assets, and liabilities are determined before intra-group 

balances and intra-group transactions are eliminated as part of the consolidation process, except to the extent that such intra-

group balances and transactions are between group entities within a single segment. Inter-segment pricing is based on similar 

terms as those available to other external parties.

Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the period to acquire segment assets (both tangible and intangible) 

that are expected to be used for more than one period.

Unallocated items mainly comprise financial and corporate assets, interest-bearing loans, borrowings, tax balances, corporate 

and financing expenses.

3.	 CHANGES	IN	ACCouNtING	PolICIES
The HKICPA has issued a number of new and revised HKFRSs and Interpretations that are first effective or available for early adoption 

for the current accounting period of the Group and the Company.

There have been no significant changes to the accounting policies applied in these financial statements for the years presented as a 

result of these developments. However, as a result of the adoption of HKFRS 7, Financial instruments: Disclosures, and the amendment 

to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial statements: Capital disclosures, there have been some additional disclosures provided as follows:

As a result of the adoption of HKFRS 7, the financial statements include expanded disclosure about the significance of the Group’s 

financial instruments and the nature and extent of risks arising from those instruments, compared with the information previously 

required to be disclosed by HKAS 32, Financial instruments: Disclosure and presentation. These disclosures are provided throughout 

these financial statements, in particular in note 36.

The amendment to HKAS 1 introduces additional disclosure requirements to provide information about the level of capital and the 

Group’s and the Company’s objectives, policies and processes for managing capital. These new disclosures are set out in note 34(f).

Both HKFRS 7 and the amendment to HKAS 1 do not have any material impact on the classification, recognition and measurement of 

the amounts recognised in the financial instruments.

The Group has not applied any new standard or interpretation that is not yet effective for the current accounting period (see note 44).
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4.	 tuRNoVER
The principal activities of the Group are the design, manufacture and sales of home, garden and plastic decorative products. Turnover 
represents the sales value of goods supplied to customers.

5.	 otHER	REVENuE	AND	otHER	NEt	(loSS)/INCoME

 2007		 2006
 Hk$’000		 HK$’000

other	revenue
Interest income on financial assets not at fair value through profit or loss
 – interest income from bank deposits 945		 1,562
Gross rentals from investment properties 482		 939
Dividend income from unlisted securities 22		 –
Commission income 1,739		 9,087
Compensation from legal claim (note 39) 7,771		 –
Others 1,746		 2,302

 12,705		 13,890

other	net	income
Fair value gain on financial asset at fair value through profit or loss
  (notes 5(a) and 20(b)) 611		 –
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale financial assets 6,243		 –
Unrealised gain on trading securities 6		 –
Gain on disposal of non-current assets held for sale (note 5(b)) –		 20,927 
Net loss on sale of property, plant and equipment (7,253	)	 (516 )

 (393	)	 20,411

(a) Included in fair value gain on financial asset at fair value through profit or loss is interest income of approximately HK$1,754,000 on financial asset 
at fair value through profit or loss.

(b) In 2005, the Group entered into agreements with an independent third party in relation to the disposal of a property located in Hong Kong and 
accordingly the Group classified certain building and prepaid lease payments as non-current assets held for sale. The transaction was completed in 
2006 and resulted in a gain of approximately HK$20,927,000.

6.	 (loSS)/PRoFIt	BEFoRE	tAxAtIoN
(Loss)/profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

(a)	 Finance	costs
 2007		 2006
 Hk$’000		 HK$’000

Interest on bank advances and other borrowings 
 wholly repayable within five years 20,037		 28,957
Finance charges on obligations under finance leases 111		 331

Total interest expense on financial liabilities not at fair value
 through profit or loss 20,148		 29,288
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6.	 (loSS)/PRoFIt	BEFoRE	tAxAtIoN	(Continued)
(b)	 Staff	costs	(including	directors’	remuneration)#

 2007		 2006

 Hk$’000		 HK$’000

Salaries, wages and other benefits 124,643		 154,068

Contributions to defined retirement plans 1,819		 2,314

 126,462		 156,382

(c)	 other	items

 2007		 2006

 Hk$’000		 HK$’000

Amortisation#

 – prepaid lease payments 1,626		 1,594

 – intangible assets 5,033		 12,176

Depreciation# 32,354		 31,307

Impairment losses *

 – trade and other receivables 6,222		 2,924

 – goodwill 3,459		 –

Write-off of trade and other receivables-others* 2,032		 –

Reversal of impairment loss on amount due from an associate (46	)	 –

Research and development costs (including amortisation of capitalised 

 development costs of HK$4,802,000 (2006: HK$12,176,000)) 20,006		 18,243

Net foreign exchange (gain)/loss (121	)	 541

Net loss on forward foreign exchange contracts 2,113		 –

Auditors’ remuneration 1,875		 1,808

Operating leases charges in respect of property rentals: 

 minimum lease payments# 12,904		 9,568

Rentals receivable from investment property less direct outgoings of 

 HK$61,000 (2006: HK$151,000) 421		 788

Cost of inventories# (note 22(b)) 454,522		 666,509

# Cost of inventories includes approximately HK$93,564,000 (2006: HK$102,751,000) relating to staff costs, depreciation, amortisation and 

operating lease charges in respect of property rentals, which are also included in the respective total amounts disclosed separately above 

or in note 6(b) for each of these types of expenses.

* These expenses are included in “other operating expenses” as disclosed in the consolidated income statement.
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7.	 INCoME	tAx	IN	tHE	CoNSolIDAtED	INCoME	StAtEMENt
(a) Taxation in the consolidated income statement represents:

 2007		 2006
 Hk$’000		 HK$’000

Current	tax	–	overseas
Provision for the year 2,867		 638
(Over)/under-provision in respect of prior years (50	)	 1,981

 2,817		 2,619

Deferred	tax
Original and reversal of temporary differences 2,287		 (2,517 )

 5,104		 102

For the year ended 31 December 2007, no Hong Kong profits tax has been provided for in the financial statement as the Group 
has no estimated assessable profits during the year. For the year ended 31 December 2006, no Hong Kong profits tax has been 
provided for in the financial statements as the Group has accumulated tax losses brought forward which exceed the estimated 
assessable profits for that year.

Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the Group 
operates, based on existing legislation, interpretations and practices in respect thereof during the year.

Pursuant to the income tax rules and regulations of the PRC, provision for PRC enterprise income tax is calculated based on a 
statutory rate of 33% of the assessable profit of the companies comprising the Group, except for certain subsidiaries, which are 
exempted or taxed at preferential rates ranging from 12% to 21%.

During the year, certain subsidiaries in the PRC were entitled to preferential tax treatments. They were fully exempted from PRC 
enterprise income tax for a tax concession period of one year or were entitled to tax concessions whereby the profit for the first 
two financial years beginning with the first profit-making year is exempted from income tax in the PRC and the profit for each 
of the subsequent three years is taxed at 50% of the applicable tax rate.

On 16 March 2007, the Fifth Plenary Session of the Tenth National People’s Congress passed the Corporate Income Tax Law of 
the PRC (“New Tax Law”) which took effect on 1 January 2008. The PRC income tax rate is unified to 25% for all enterprises.

The State Council of the PRC passed an implementation guidance note (“Implementation Guidance”) on 26 December 2007, 
which sets out details of how existing preferential income tax rates will be adjusted to the standard rate of 25%. According to 
the Implementation Guidance, certain PRC enterprises of the Group which have not fully utilized its five-year tax holiday will be 
allowed to continue to receive benefits of the full exemption from a reduction in income tax rate until expiry of the tax holiday, 
after which, the 25% standard rate will apply.

The income tax rate that is applicable to the subsidiaries of the Group in the PRC would be changed from 33% (or 12% to 
21% if subsidiaries taxed at preferential rates) to 25% effective from 1 January 2008. The enactment of the new tax law is not 
expected to have any significant financial effect on the amounts accrued in the consolidated balance sheet in respect of current 
tax payable or deferred tax.

Further under the New Tax Law, from 1 January 2008, non-resident enterprises without an establishment or place of business in 
the PRC or which have an establishment or place of business in the PRC but whose relevant income is not effectively connected 
with the establishment or a place of business in the PRC, will be subject to withholding tax at the rate of 10% (unless reduced 
by treaty) on various types of passive income such as dividends derived from sources within the PRC. The Group has already 
assessed the impact of the New Tax Law regarding this withholding tax and considered the New Tax Law would not have a 
significant impact on the results of operations and financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2007.
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7.	 INCoME	tAx	IN	tHE	CoNSolIDAtED	INCoME	StAtEMENt	(Continued)
(b) Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting (loss)/profit at applicable tax rates:

 2007		 2006

 Hk$’000		 HK$’000

(Loss)/profit before taxation (188,935	)	 13,810

Notional tax on (loss)/profit before taxation, calculated at the rates 

 applicable to (losses)/ profits in the countries concerned (53,397	)	 4,534

Tax effect of tax concessions 18,423		 (6,505 )

Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 45,480		 5,930

Tax effect of non-taxable income (16,020	)	 (2,220 )

Tax effect of unused tax losses not recognised 10,665		 3,546

Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses not recognised in prior years –		 (7,167 )

(Over)/under-provisions in prior years (50	)	 1,981

Others 3		 3

Actual tax expense 5,104		 102

8.	 DIRECtoRS’	REMuNERAtIoN
Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to section 161 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance is as follows:

	 		 Salaries,

	 		 allowances		 Retirement

	 Directors’		 and	benefits		 scheme		 2007

	 fees		 in	kind		 contributions		 total

	 Hk$’000		 Hk$’000		 Hk$’000		 Hk$’000

Executive directors:

 Lin Chun Kuei (Chairman) –		 2,114		 12		 2,126

 Andree Halim –		 203		 –		 203

 Ng Kin Nam –		 203		 10		 213

 Li Chien Kuan –		 1,216		 5		 1,221

 Lin Chun Fu –		 1,064		 5		 1,069

 Lin Huang Su Feng (note (i)) –		 589		 9		 598

 Daniel Halim (note (ii)) –		 31		 2		 33

 Cheung Kwok Ping (note (i)) –		 59		 3		 62

Independent non-executive directors:

 Ng Tang Fai, Ernesto (note (iii)) 105		 –		 –		 105

 Bernard Charnwut Chan (note (iv)) 75		 –		 –		 75

 Goh Gen Cheung 180		 –		 –		 180

 Ma Chiu Cheung, Andrew 180		 –		 –		 180

 540		 5,479		 46		 6,065
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8.	 DIRECtoRS’	REMuNERAtIoN	(Continued)
Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to section 161 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance is as follows: (Continued)

   Salaries,

   allowances  Retirement

 Directors’  and benefits  scheme  2006

 fees  in kind  contributions  Total

 HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000

Executive directors:

 Lin Chun Kuei (Chairman) –  2,012  11  2,023

 Andree Halim –  234  –  234

 Ng Kin Nam –  234  10  244

 Li Chien Kuan –  1,170  7  1,177

 Lin Chun Fu –  1,101  2  1,103

 Guo Yah Taur (note (vi)) –  94  –  94

 Lin Huang Su Feng (note (i)) –  1,011  17  1,028

 Lin Wei-Hung (note (vi)) –  476  –  476

 Daniel Halim (note (ii)) –  140  7  147

 Cheung Kwok Ping (note (i)) –  140  7  147

 Graeme Stanley Pope (note (v)) –  480  –  480

Non-executive director:

 Tan Kong King (note (vi)) 94  –  –  94

Independent non-executive directors:

 Bernard Charnwut Chan (note (iv)) 180  –  –  180

 Goh Gen Cheung 180  –  –  180

 Ma Chiu Cheung, Andrew 180  –  –  180

 634  7,092  61  7,787

Notes:

(i) Resigned on 17 July 2007

(ii) Resigned on 30 March 2007

(iii) Appointed on 30 May 2007

(iv) Resigned on 30 May 2007

(v) Resigned on 9 March 2006

(vi) Resigned on 30 June 2006

During the year, no emoluments (2006: Nil) were paid by the Group to any of the directors as an inducement to join or upon joining 

the Group or as a compensation for loss of office. None of the directors waived or agreed to waive any remuneration for the years 

ended 31 December 2007 and 2006.
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9.	 INDIVIDuAlS	WItH	HIGHESt	EMoluMENtS
Of the five individuals with the highest paid emoluments, three (2006: three) are directors whose emoluments are disclosed in note 8. 

The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the other two (2006: two) individuals are as follows:

 2007		 2006

 Hk$’000		 HK$’000

Salaries and other emoluments 2,414		 2,268

Retirement scheme contributions 16		 12

 2,430		 2,280

The emoluments of the two (2006: two) individuals with the highest emoluments are within the following band:

 2007		 2006

 Number	of		 Number of

 individuals		 individuals

HK$1,000,000 – HK$1,500,000 2		 2

During the year, no emoluments (2006: Nil) were paid by the Group to any of the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to 

join or upon joining the Group or as a compensation for loss of office.

10.	 (loSS)/PRoFIt	AttRIButABlE	to	EQuIty	SHAREHolDERS	oF	tHE	CoMPANy
The consolidated loss attributable to equity shareholders of the Company includes a loss of HK$173,432,000 (2006: a loss of 

HK$2,566,000) which has been dealt with in the financial statements of the Company.

11.	 (loSS)/EARNINGS	PER	SHARE
(a)	 Basic	(loss)/earnings	per	share

The calculation of basic (loss)/earnings per share is based on the loss for the year attributable to ordinary equity shareholders 

of the Company of HK$193,838,000 (2006: a profit of HK$13,766,000) and the weighted average number of 889,928,000 

ordinary shares (2006: 857,196,000 ordinary shares) in issue during the year, calculated as follows:

Weighted average number of ordinary shares

 2007		 2006

 ’000		 ’000

Issued ordinary shares at 1 January 857,196		 857,196

Effect of shares issued under the placing (note 34(c)(iii)) 32,732		 –

Weighted average number of ordinary shares at 31 December 889,928		 857,196

(b)	 Diluted	(loss)/earnings	per	share

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share is not presented as there were no dilutive securities outstanding during the years presented.
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12.	 SEGMENt	INFoRMAtIoN
Segment information is presented in respect of the Group’s geographical and business segments. Geographical segment based on 

the location of customers is chosen as the primary reporting format because this is more relevant to the Group’s internal financial 

reporting.

(a)	 Geographical	segments
	 united	States	of	America	 Europe	 Asia	Pacific	 others	 Inter-segment	elimination	 Consolidated	 	 	 	 	 	
 2007		 2006  2007		 2006  2007		 2006  2007		 2006  2007		 2006  2007		 2006
 Hk$’000		 HK$’000  Hk$’000		 HK$’000  Hk$’000		 HK$’000  Hk$’000		 HK$’000  Hk$’000		 HK$’000  Hk$’000		 HK$’000

Revenue from external customers 362,215		 675,033  52,419		 267,664  80,410		 146,187  3		 303  –		 –  495,047		 1,089,187
Inter-segment revenue 82,675		 244,720  694		 4,510  52,851		 1,221  –		 –  (136,220	)	 (250,451 ) –		 –

Total 444,890		 919,753  53,113		 272,174  133,261		 147,408  3		 303  (136,220	)	 (250,451 ) 495,047		 1,089,187

Segment result (62,278	)	 58,160  (34,899	)	 10,503  (49,975	)	 12,174  –		 270  		   (147,152	)	 81,107

Interest income 		   		   		   		   		   945		 1,562

Unallocated operating 
 income and expenses 		   		   		   		   		   (22,580	)	 (39,571 )

(Loss)/profit from operations 		   		   		   		   		   (168,787	)	 43,098

Finance costs 		   		   		   		   		   (20,148	)	 (29,288 )

(Loss)/profit before taxation 		   		   		   		   		   (188,935	)	 13,810

Taxation 		   		   		   		   		   (5,104	)	 (102 )

(Loss)/profit for the year 		   		   		   		   		   (194,039	)	 13,708

Depreciation and amortisation 
 for the year 26,341		 38,542  1,178		 1,135  11,494		 5,400  –		 –  		   39,013		 45,077  

Impairment of
 – goodwill –		 –  –		 –  3,459		 –  –		 –  		   3,459		 –
 – trade and other receivables –		 –  1,269		 1,749  4,953		 1,175  –		 –  		   6,222		 2,924  

Written-off of trade and
 other receivables –		 –  –		 –  –		 –  2,032		 –  		   2,032		 –  

Segment assets 170,601		 188,570  40,063		 89,040  216,973		 308,088  1		 113  (10,249	)	 (32,447 ) 417,389		 553,364
Unallocated assets 		   		   		   		   		   121,297		 87,031

Total assets 		   		   		   		   		   538,686		 640,395

Segment liabilities 17,728		 25,110  3,443		 5,547  137,339		 125,536  –		 –  (10.510	)	 (20,955 ) 148,000		 135,238
Unallocated liabilities 		   		   		   		   		   234,733		 248,948

Total liabilities 		   		   		   		   		   382,733		 384,186

Capital expenditure incurred 
 during the year 2,159		 2,690  –		 263  21,610		 28,424  166		 –  		   23,935		 31,377  
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12.	 SEGMENt	INFoRMAtIoN	(Continued)
(a)	 Geographical	segments	(Continued)	

Additional information concerning geographical segments:

	 united	States	of	America	 Europe	 Asia	Pacific	 unallocated	 Consolidated	 	 	 	 	
 2007	 	 2006  2007	 	 2006  2007	 	 2006  2007	 	 2006  2007	 	 2006
 Hk$’000	 	 HK$’000  Hk$’000	 	 HK$’000  Hk$’000	 	 HK$’000  Hk$’000	 	 HK$’000  Hk$’000	 	 HK$’000

Segment assets by the location
 of the assets 58,871	 	 84,150  571	 	 19,828  468,745	 	 528,550  10,499	 	 7,867  538,686	 	 640,395

Capital expenditure incurred
 during the year to acquire segment
 assets by location of the assets 2,159	 	 2,539  –	 	 263  21,610	 	 12,852  166	 	 15,723  23,935	 	 31,377

(b)	 Business	segments
	 outdoor	decoration	 Indoor	decoration	 Plastic	injection	 others	 unallocated	 Consolidated	 	 	 	 	 	
 2007		 2006  2007		 2006  2007		 2006  2007		 2006  2007		 2006  2007		 2006
 Hk$’000		 HK$’000  Hk$’000		 HK$’000  Hk$’000		 HK$’000  Hk$’000		 HK$’000  Hk$’000		 HK$’000  Hk$’000		 HK$’000

Revenue from external
 customers 207,439		 679,007  246,638		 315,511  21,429		 64,070  19,541		 30,599  –		 –  495,047		 1,089,187

Carrying amount of
 segment assets 244,824		 381,245  210,665		 152,228  17,416		 30,770  11,431		 25,524  54,350		 50,628  538,686		 640,395

Capital expenditure
 incurred during the year 10,029		 19,561  11,925		 9,089  1,036		 1,846  945		 881  –		 –  23,935		 31,377
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13.	 PRoPERty,	PlANt	AND	EQuIPMENt
	 the	Group

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 Furniture,

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 fixtures,

	 Buildings	 	 leasehold	 	 Plant	 	 equipment

	 held	for	 	 improve-	 	 and	 	 and	motor	 	 	 	 	 	Construction

	 own	use	 	 ments	 	 machinery	 	 vehicles	 	 Moulds	 	 Sub-total	 	 in	progress	 	 total

 HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000

Cost	or	valuation:

At 1 January 2006 132,678  55,474  75,093  55,463  21,259  339,967  969  340,936

Exchange adjustments 4,419  1,659  1,978  2,021  846  10,923  33  10,956

Additions –  2,057  2,556  4,078  5,933  14,624  1,030  15,654

Disposals –  (1,705 ) (3,020 ) (4,638 ) –  (9,363 ) –  (9,363 )

Disposals of subsidiaries –  (29 ) –  (628 ) –  (657 ) –  (657 )

Transfer from construction in progress –  975  –  –  –  975  (975 ) –

Transfer from investment property

 (note 14) 4,626  –  –  –  –  4,626  –  4,626

At 31 December 2006 141,723  58,431  76,607  56,296  28,038  361,095  1,057  362,152

Representing:

Cost –  58,431  76,607  56,296  28,038  219,372  1,057  220,429

Valuation – 2006 141,723  –  –  –  –  141,723  –  141,723

 141,723  58,431  76,607  56,296  28,038  361,095  1,057  362,152

At 1 January 2007 141,723	 	 58,431	 	 76,607	 	 56,296	 	 28,038	 	 361,095	 	 1,057	 	 362,152

Exchange adjustments 9,053	 	 2,376	 	 3,394	 	 2,736	 	 1,945	 	 19,504	 	 527	 	 20,031

Additions 1,018	 	 917	 	 2,478	 	 707	 	 4,988	 	 10,108	 	 13,661	 	 23,769

Disposals –	 	 (33,249	)	 (20,679	)	 (26,161	)	 (926	)	 (81,015	)	 –	 	 (81,015	)

Transfer to non-current assets classified 

 as held for sale (note 25) (20,693	)	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 (20,693	)	 –	 	 (20,693	)

At 31 December 2007 131,101	 	 28,475	 	 61,800	 	 33,578	 	 34,045	 	 288,999	 	 15,245	 	 304,244

Representing:

Cost –	 	 28,475	 	 61,800	 	 33,578	 	 34,045	 	 157,898	 	 15,245	 	 173,143

Valuation – 2007 131,101	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 131,101	 	 –	 	 131,101

 131,101	 	 28,475	 	 61,800	 	 33,578	 	 34,045	 	 288,999	 	 15,245	 	 304,244
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13.	 PRoPERty,	PlANt	AND	EQuIPMENt	(Continued)
	 the	Group

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 Furniture,

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 fixtures,

	 Buildings	 	 leasehold	 	 Plant	 	 equipment

	 held	for	 	 improve-	 	 and	 	 and	motor	 	 	 	 	 	Construction

	 own	use	 	 ments	 	 machinery	 	 vehicles	 	 Moulds	 	 Sub-total	 	 in	progress	 	 total

 HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000

Accumulated	depreciation:

At 1 January 2006 22,168  41,816  33,634  31,273  15,216  144,107  –  144,107

Exchange adjustments 1,001  1,299  1,003  1,168  678  5,149  –  5,149

Charge for the year 6,616  4,513  7,221  5,900  7,057  31,307  –  31,307

Written back on disposals –  (1,641 ) (2,103 ) (2,917 ) –  (6,661 ) –  (6,661 )

Disposals of subsidiaries –  5  –  (636 ) –  (631 ) –  (631 )

At 31 December 2006 29,785  45,992  39,755  34,788  22,951  173,271  –  173,271

At 1 January 2007 29,785  45,992  39,755  34,788  22,951  173,271  –  173,271

Exchange adjustments 2,387  1,818  1,862  1,570  1,708  9,345  –  9,345

Charge for the year 7,876  4,493  6,642  5,576  7,767  32,354  –  32,354

Written back on disposals –  (33,208 ) (12,488 ) (23,544 ) (985 ) (70,225 ) –  (70,225 )

Transfer to non-current assets classified 

 as held for sale (note 25) (4,749 ) –  –  –  –  (4,749 ) –  (4,749 )

At	31	December	2007	 35,299	 	 19,095	 	 35,771	 	 18,390	 	 31,441	 	 139,996	 	 –	 	 139,996

Net	book	value:

At	31	December	2007	 95,802	 	 9,380	 	 26,029	 	 15,188	 	 2,604	 	 149,003	 	 15,245	 	 164,248

At 31 December 2006 111,938  12,439  36,852  21,508  5,087  187,824  1,057  188,881

(a) Property, plant and equipment held under finance lease:

The Group leases plant and machinery under finance leases expiring from two to three years. At the end of the lease term, the 

Group has the option to purchase the leased plant and machinery at a price deemed to be a bargain purchase option. None of 

the leases includes contingent rentals. At the balance sheet date, the net book value of plant and machinery held under finance 

leases of the Group was approximately HK$2,758,000 (2006: HK$3,936,000).



Peaktop International Holdings Limited					Annual	Report	200764

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2007
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

13.	 PRoPERty,	PlANt	AND	EQuIPMENt	(Continued)
(b) The analysis of net book value of buildings is as follows:

	 the	Group

 2007		 2006

 Hk$’000		 HK$’000

In Hong Kong

 – medium-term leases 4,150		 4,486

Outside Hong Kong

 – medium-term leases 91,652		 107,452

 95,802		 111,938

Representing:

Buildings carried at fair value 95,802		 111,938

(c) Buildings held for own use were revalued as at 31 December 2007 on the basis of (i) their open market value by reference to 

observable prices in recent market transactions in comparable properties for buildings in Hong Kong and (ii) their depreciated 

replacement costs for buildings in Mainland by Asset Appraisal Ltd., an independent professional valuers firm with recent 

experience in the location and category of property being valued. The carrying amounts did not differ materially from their fair 

value as at 31 December 2007.

 The cost of buildings held for use of the Group was approximately HK$130,230,000 (2006: HK$140,852,000). The carrying 

value of these buildings as at 31 December 2007 would have been approximately HK$94,931,000 (2006: HK$111,067,000) 

had they been carried at cost less accumulated depreciation.

(d) At 31 December 2007, the Group’s buildings and prepaid lease payments (note 15) with an aggregate carrying value of 

HK$65,152,000 (2006: HK$98,708,000) were pledged to banks to secure banking facilities granted to the Group as set out in 

note 28.

(e) The Group’s prepaid lease payments of approximately RMB34,587,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$36,818,000) (2006: 

RMB35,392,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$35,392,000)) and buildings of approximately RMB35,431,000 (equivalent to 

approximately HK$37,716,000) (2006: RMB39,070,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$39,070,000)) are held by a subsidiary 

in the PRC, which represents the land use rights together with the buildings thereon situated in Shenzhen, the PRC. The 

applications for the property ownership certificates of the leasehold land and buildings situated in Shenzhen with net book 

value of HK$25,016,000 (2006: HK$28,420,000) and HK$27,626,000 (2006: HK$35,392,000) respectively are still in progress 

and the property ownership certificates have not yet been issued to the Group by the relevant offices of the State-owned 

Land Bureau in the PRC as at the balance sheet date. Notwithstanding this, the directors are of the opinion that the Group 

has acquired the beneficial titles to these leasehold land and buildings as at 31 December 2007 and the property ownership 

certificates can be obtained before the end of 2008.

(f)	 Construction	in	progress

Construction in progress as at 31 December 2007 represents buildings, intended by the Group for holding for own use, under 

construction.
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14.	 INVEStMENt	PRoPERty
	 the	Group

 2007		 2006

 Hk$’000		 HK$’000

At 1 January 9,970		 32,000

Valuation adjustment 2,670		 –

Transfer to property, plant and equipment (note 13) –		 (4,626 )

Transfer to prepaid lease payments (note 15) –		 (17,404 )

At 31 December 12,640		 9,970

(a) The investment property is held under the medium-term leases and situated in Hong Kong.

(b) The investment property was revalued as at 31 December 2007 on the basis of their open market value by reference to 

observable prices in recent market transactions in comparable properties by Asset Appraisal Ltd., an independent professional 

valuers firm, who have among their staff associate members of the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors with recent experience 

in the location and category of property being valued. During the year ended 31 December 2007, the total valuation gain of 

approximately HK$2,670,000 (2006: Nil) was credited to the income statement.

(c)	 Investment	property	leased	out	under	operating	leases

The Group leases out investment property under operating leases. The lease typically runs for an initial period of one to four 

years. The leases do not include renewal option. None of the leases includes contingent rentals.

All properties held under operating leases that would otherwise meet the definition of investment property are classified as 

investment property.

At 31 December 2007, the carrying amounts of investment property of the Group held for use under operating leases were 

approximately HK$12,640,000 (2006: HK$9,970,000).

The Group’s total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are receivable as follows:

 2007		 2006

 Hk$’000		 HK$’000

Within 1 year 500		 274

After 1 year but within 5 years 1,291		 –

 1,791		 274

(d) At 31 December 2007, the Group’s investment property with a carrying amount of HK$12,640,000 (2006: Nil) were pledged to 

secure general banking facilities granted to the Group as set out in note 28.

(e) In 2006, the Group transferred its investment property, which was carried at fair value of approximately HK$22,030,000 at the 

date of change in use from earning rental income to holding for own use, to property, plant and equipment of approximately 

HK$4,626,000 (note 13) and prepaid lease payments of approximately HK$17,404,000 (note 15).
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15.	 PREPAID	lEASE	PAyMENtS
The Group’s interests in leasehold land and land use rights are analysed as follows:

	 the	Group

 2007		 2006

 Hk$’000		 HK$’000

Net book value at 1 January 68,254		 50,822

Exchange adjustments 3,250		 1,622

Transfer to non-current assets held for sale (note 25) (6,989	)	 –

Transfer from investment property (note 14) –		 17,404

Amortisation (1,626	)	 (1,594 )

Net book value at 31 December 62,889		 68,254

Current portion included in trade and other receivables (note 23) (1,501	)	 (1,602 )

Non-current portion 61,388		 66,652

(a) The analysis of net book value of prepaid lease payments is as follows:

	 the	Group

 2007		 2006

 Hk$’000		 HK$’000

In Hong Kong

 – medium-term leases 16,801		 17,226

Outside Hong Kong

 – medium-term leases 46,088		 51,028

 62,889		 68,254
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16.	 INtANGIBlE	ASSEtS
	 the	Group

	 		 Development		 Deferred

	 Patents		 costs		 expenses		 total

 HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000

At	1	January	2006

Cost 8,217  9,530  11,963  29,710

Accumulated amortisation (6,881 ) (8,251 ) (11,963 ) (27,095 )

Accumulated impairment (491 ) –  –  (491 )

Net carrying amount 845  1,279  –  2,124

year	ended	31	December	2006 

Opening net carrying amount 845  1,279  –  2,124

Exchange adjustments (1 ) 129  –  128

Additions 150  15,573  –  15,723

Disposals –  (3 ) –  (3 )

Amortisation –  (12,176 ) –  (12,176 )

Closing	net	carrying	amount	 994		 4,802		 –		 5,796

At	31	December	2006

Cost 8,366  17,092  4,167  29,625

Accumulated amortisation (6,881 ) (12,290 ) (4,167 ) (23,338 )

Accumulated impairment (491 ) –  –  (491 )

Net book amount 994  4,802  –  5,796

year	ended	31	December	2007

Opening net carrying amount 994  4,802  –  5,796

Exchange adjustments (2 ) –  –  (2 )

Additions 166  –  –  166

Amortisation (231 ) (4,802 ) –  (5,033 )

Closing	net	carrying	amount	 927		 –		 –		 927

At	31	December	2007

Cost 1,158  1,826  –  2,984

Accumulated amortisation (231 ) (1,826 ) –  (2,057 )

Accumulated impairment –  –  –  –

Net carrying amount 927  –  –  927
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16.	 INtANGIBlE	ASSEtS	(Continued)
Development costs represent the internally developed technologies relating to the process, methods, techniques, materials and 

product specifications for the production of home, garden and plastic decorative products.

Patents represent the registration fee of internally developed technologies, which have been registered with relevant government 

authorities to restrict the access of such technologies by third parties.

Deferred expenses represent payments made to customers as consideration for their long term commitments to purchase exclusively 

from the Group.

The amortisation charge for the year is included in “cost of sales” of approximately HK$4,802,000 (2006: HK$12,176,000) and “other 

operating expenses” of approximately HK$231,000 (2006: Nil) respectively in the consolidated income statement.

17.	 GooDWIll
	 the	Group

 HK$’000

Cost:

At 1 January 2006 3,916

Disposal of subsidiaries (note 35) (457 )

At 31 December 2006, 1 January 2007 and 31 December 2007 3,459

Accumulated	impairment	losses:

At 1 January 2006, 31 December 2006 and 1 January 2007 –

Impairment loss (3,459 )

At 31 December 2007 (3,459 )

Carrying	amount:

At 31 December 2007 –

At 31 December 2006 3,459
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17.	 GooDWIll	(Continued)
Impairment	tests	for	cash-generating	units	containing	goodwill
Goodwill, mainly arising from the acquisition of the subsidiaries namely Waterwerks Pty. Ltd. and Kun Ming (Shenzhen) Electrical 
Appliance Co., Ltd., is allocated, before impairment provision, to the Group’s cash-generating units (“CGU”) identified according to 
business segment as follows:

 2007		 2006
 Hk$’000		 HK$’000

Outdoor decoration –		 2,155
Indoor decoration –		 1,003
Plastic injection –		 204
Others –		 97

 –		 3,459

The recoverable amount of CGU is determined based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations use cash flow projections based 
on financial budgets approved by management covering a five-year period at a discount rate of 18% (2006: 5%). No growth rate is 
projected beyond the five-year period. The growth rate does not exceed the long-term average growth rate for the business in which 
the CGU operates.

Management determined the budgeted gross margin based on past performance and its expectation for market development. 
The discount rates used are pre-tax and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant segments. Due to unsatisfactory operating 
performance, the value-in-use calculated by using the discount rate is lower than the carrying amount of the CGU and accordingly an 
impairment loss of approximately HK$3,459,000 was recognised in 2007:

 2007		 2006
 Hk$’000		 HK$’000

Outdoor decoration 2,155		 –
Indoor decoration 1,003		 –
Plastic injection 204		 –
Others 97		 –

 3,459		 –

Key assumptions were used in the value-in-use calculations of the outdoor decoration and indoor decoration units. The following 
describes each key assumption on which management has based its cash flow projections to undertake impairment testing of 
goodwill.

Budgeted gross margins – The basis used to determine the value assigned to the budgeted gross margins is the average gross margins 
achieved in the year immediately before the budgeted year, increased for expected efficiency improvements and expected market 
development.

Discount rates – The discount rates used are before tax and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant units.

Raw materials price inflation – The basis used to determine the value assigned to raw materials price inflation is the forecast price 
indices during the budget year for currencies denominated in Renminbi, United States dollars and Hong Kong dollars from where raw 
materials are sourced. The values assigned to key assumptions are consistent with external information sources.
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18.	 INVEStMENtS	IN	SuBSIDIARIES
	 the	Company

 2007		 2006

 Hk$’000		 HK$’000

Unlisted shares, at cost 75,331		 75,331

Less: impairment loss (note 18(a)) (61,740	)	 (47,629 )

 13,591		 27,702

Amounts due from subsidiaries (note 18(b)) 288,219		 203,191

Less: impairment loss (note 18(a)) (154,046	)	 –

 134,173		 203,191

 147,764		 230,893

(a)	 Movement	on	the	provision	for	impairment	of	investments	in	subsidiaries	is	analysed	as	follows:

	 the	Company

 2007		 2006

 Hk$’000		 HK$’000

Investment	costs:

 At 1 January 47,629		 47,629

 Impairment loss recognised 14,111		 –

 At 31 December 61,740		 47,629

Amounts	due	from	subsidiaries:

 At 1 January –		 –

 Impairment loss recognised 154,046		 –

 At	31	December	 154,046	 –

Due to unsatisfactory operating performance of certain subsidiaries, after considering profitability, cash flow position, financial position 

and forecast business development and future prospects of the subsidiaries, the directors concluded that it is appropriate to make 

an impairment of approximately HK$61,740,000 (2006: HK$47,629,000) on the investment costs in subsidiaries and approximately 

HK$154,046,000 (2006: Nil) on amounts due from subsidiaries respectively.
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18.	 INVEStMENtS	IN	SuBSIDIARIES	(Continued)
At 31 December 2007, the provision for impairment of investment in subsidiaries by business segment is as follows:

	 the	Company

	 At

	 1	January	2006,

	 31	December	2006		 Recognised		 At

	 and		 during		 31	December

	 1	January	2007		 the	year		 2007

 HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000

Investment costs:

 Outdoor decoration 16,280  9,264  25,544

 Indoor decoration 31,349  –  31,349

 Plastic injection –  2,419  2,419

 Others –  2,428  2,428

 47,629  14,111  61,740

Amounts due from subsidiaries:

 Outdoor decoration –  64,545  64,545

 Indoor decoration –  76,746  76,746

 Plastic injection –  6,670  6,670

 Others –  6,085  6,085

 –  154,046  154,046

The recoverable amount of the investments in subsidiaries based upon which impairment loss is arrived at its value in use and is 

determined using discounted cash flows at discount rate of 18%.

(b)	 Amounts	due	from	subsidiaries

The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed terms of repayment. In the opinion of the 

directors, the amounts due from subsidiaries were not repayable within one year from the balance sheet date as the Company 

has given undertakings to provide continuous financial support to the subsidiaries by subordinating its rights to demand 

repayment of all sums due by the subsidiaries to their creditors.
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18.	 INVEStMENtS	IN	SuBSIDIARIES	(Continued)
(c) The following list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries which principally affect the results, assets and liabilities of the 

Group. The class of shares held is ordinary unless otherwise stated.

	 Proportion	of	ownership	interest

	 Place	of	 Particulars	of	 Group’s	 Held	

	 incorporation	 issued	and	 effective	 	by	the	 Held	by	a

Name	of	company	 and	operation	 paid	up	capital	 holding	 Company	 subsidiary	 Principal	activity

Peaktop Investment Holdings British Virgin  10,000 shares 100% 100% – Investment holding

 (B.V.I.) Limited (note (i))  Islands  of US$1 each

Peaktop Limited Hong Kong 100 shares of 100% – 100% Trading of giftware, 

   HK$1 each and     gardening and water 

   18,720,000     gardening products 

   deferred shares     and investment 

   of HK$1 each     holding

   (note (ii))

Fuqing Yuansheng Light Mainland Registered 100% – 100% Manufacture and 

 Industrial Products  China  US$5,200,000     export of giftware, 

 Co., Ltd. (note (iii))       gardening and water 

       gardening products

       during the year,

       but has been inactive

       after the balance

       sheet date

Luhe Yuansheng Light Mainland Registered  100% – 100% Manufacture and 

 Industrial Products  China  US$3,000,000     export of giftware, 

 Co., Ltd. (note (iii))       gardening and water 

       gardening products

Shenzhen Yuansheng Light Mainland Registered  100% – 100% Manufacture and 

 Industrial Products  China  RMB80,000,000     export of giftware, 

 Co., Ltd. (note (iii))       gardening and water 

       gardening products

Shenzhen Yu Hua Pumping Mainland Registered  100% – 100% Manufacture and 

 Co., Ltd. (formerly known as  China  HK$26,000,000     distribution of water 

 Yu Hua (Zhong Shan)       pumps

 Electrical Appliance

  Co., Ltd.) (note (i) and (iii))

Yu Hua (Hong Kong)  Hong Kong Registered  100% – 100% Distribution of water 

 Electrical Appliance    HK$10,000     pumps

 Co., Ltd.
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18.	 INVEStMENtS	IN	SuBSIDIARIES	(Continued)
(c) (Continued)

	 Proportion	of	ownership	interest

	 Place	of	 Particulars	of	 Group’s	 Held	

	 incorporation	 issued	and	 effective	 	by	the	 Held	by	a	

Name	of	company	 and	operation	 paid	up	capital	 holding	 Company	 subsidiary	 Principal	activity

Tai Hua (Zhong Shan) Mainland Registered  100% – 100% Manufacture and 

 Electrical Appliance  China  HK$3,500,000     distribution of water 

 Co., Ltd.       pumps

 (note (i) and (ii))      

Silk Road Gifts, Inc. United States 95,000 shares 100% – 100% Wholesale of giftware 

 (note (i))  of America  of US$1 each     and stationery and 

       development of new 

       products

HPT Group (USA), Inc.  United States 5,001,500 shares 100% – 100% Investment holding

 (note (i))  of America  of US$1 each

Heissner UK Limited (note (i)) United Kingdom 210,000 shares 75.43% – 100% Distribution of gardening 

   of £1 each     and water gardening 

       products

Waterwerks Pty. Ltd. (note (i)) Australia 10,000 shares 90% – 90% Distribution of gardening 

   of AUD1 each     and water gardening 

       products

Peaktop Technologies (USA) Hong Kong 10,000 shares 51% – 51% Distribution of gardening 

 Hong Kong Limited    of HK$1 each     and water gardening 

 (note (i))       products

Peaktop (Vietnam) Limited Vietnam Registered  100% – 100% Manufacture and export 

 (note (i))   US$2,000,000     of candle products

Notes:

(i) Companies not audited by CCIF CPA Limited.

(ii) In accordance with the Articles of Association of Peaktop Limited, the deferred shares carry no rights to dividends other than a dividend 
at a fixed rate of 1% per annum on the excess of the net profits that the Company may determine to distribute in respect of any 
financial year over HK$1,000,000,000,000,000, no rights to attend or vote at general meetings and no rights to receive any surplus 
assets in a return of capital in a winding-up other than 1% of the surplus assets of the company available for distribution after a total of 
HK$100,000,000,000,000,000 has been distributed to the holders of the ordinary shares of the company in such winding-up.

(iii) Registered under the laws of the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) as wholly foreign-owned enterprise.

(iv) During the year, the Group set up a new subsidiary, namely 深圳巨成泵業有限公司, with registered capital of HK$3,500,000, of which 
HK$1,050,000 has been paid by the Group and the remaining unpaid registered capital HK$2,450,000 will be paid up before July 2008.
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19.	 INtERESt	IN	AN	ASSoCIAtE
	 the	Group

 2007		 2006

 Hk$’000		 HK$’000

Share of net assets –		 –

Amounts due from an associate 171		 171

Less: impairment loss (171	)	 (217 )

 –		 (46 )

The amounts due from associates are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed terms of repayment.

In prior years, the directors assessed the recoverable amount of the amount due from the associate and concluded to make a full 

impairment on the amount due from the associate, after taking into account the cash flow position, forecast of the performance and 

business development of the associate. At 31 December 2007, the directors concluded that no significant change in the events and 

circumstances that led to the recognition of the impairment loss.

(a) The following list contains only the particulars of an associate, which is an unlisted corporate entity:

	 Proportion	of	ownership

	 Form	of	 Place	of	 Particulars	 Group’s	 Held	 Held

	 business		 incorporation	 of	issued	and	 effective	 by	the	 by	a	 Principal

Name	of	associate	 structure	 and	operation	 paid	up	capital	 interest	 Company	 Subsidiary	 activity

Yuan Hua International Incorporated Hong Kong  500,000 ordinary  30% – 30% Inactive

 Investment Company    shares 

 Limited (“Yuan Hua”)*    of HK$1 each

* Company not audited by CCIF CPA Limited.

(b) The summarised financial information of Yuan Hua based on the unaudited management accounts of the associate as at 31 

December and for the year ended 31 December is as follows:

 2007		 2006

 Hk$’000		 HK$’000

Assets –		 3

Liabilities (595	)	 (593 )

Capital deficiency (595	)	 (590 )

Revenues –		 –

Loss (2	)	 (3 )
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19.	 INtERESt	IN	AN	ASSoCIAtE	(Continued)
(c) The Group has discontinued recognition of its shares of loss of an associate. The amount of unrecognised share of loss of the 

associate, both for the year and cumulatively, are as follows:

 2007		 2006
 Hk$’000		 HK$’000

Unrecognised share of loss of an associate for the year 1	 1

Accumulated unrecognised share of loss of an associate 178	 177

20.	 otHER	NoN-CuRRENt	FINANCIAl	ASSEtS
	 the	Group

 2007		 2006
 Hk$’000		 HK$’000

Available-for-sale	financial	assets	(note	20(a))
– Unlisted equity securities outside Hong Kong, at cost
 8,420		 12,707

Financial	asset	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss	(note	20(b))
– Unlisted outside Hong Kong 23,471		 20,460

 31,891		 33,167

(a)	 Available-for-sale	financial	assets
The available-for-sale financial assets are not traded in an open market and there is no quoted market price. The directors are of 
the opinion that the fair value of available-for-sale financial assets cannot be reliably measured because (i) the variability in the 
range of reasonable fair value estimates is significant for that investment or (ii) the probabilities of the various estimates within 
the range cannot be reasonably assessed and used in estimating fair value. The available-for-sale financial assets are stated at 
cost less any impairment losses, if any.

There are no impairment provisions on available-for-sale financial assets.

On 6 August 2007, the Group disposed of certain of its available-for-sale financial assets amounting to approximately 
HK$4,287,000. Gain on disposal of the available-for-sale financial assets amounted to approximately HK$6,243,000.

None of the available-for-sale financial assets is either past due or impaired.

(b)	 Financial	asset	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss
The movement in financial asset at fair value through profit or loss is analysed as follows:

 2007		 2006
 Hk$’000		 HK$’000

At 1 January 20,460	 –
Additions –	 20,460
Change in fair value (note 5) 611	 –
Exchange differences 2,400	 –

At 31 December 23,471	 20,460
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20.	 otHER	NoN-CuRRENt	FINANCIAl	ASSEtS	(Continued)
(b)	 Financial	asset	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss	(Continued)

Financial asset at fair value through profit or loss represents consideration receivable in relation to the Group’s disposal of its 
81% equity interest in Heissner AG (the “Sale Shares”), a former subsidiary of the Company, to an independent third party in 
August 2006. The consideration with a notional amount of Euro€2 million subject to adjustment between zero to Euro€2.5 
million with reference to the performance of Heissner AG and its subsidiaries for the five years ending 31 December 2010, is 
interest-bearing at 6% p.a. and receivable with accrued interest in November 2011. The Group may demand the retransfer of 
the Sale Shares back to the Group, if the consideration is zero unless the purchaser elects to pay a purchase price of Euro€1 
million.

Fair value at the balance sheet date is determined by the directors based on the valuation assessed by Asset Appraisal Ltd., an 
independent professionally qualified valuer.

21.	 tRADING	SECuRItIES
	 the	Group

 2007		 2006
 Hk$’000		 HK$’000

trading	securities,	at	market	value

Unlisted investment funds in Hong Kong 942		 936

22.	 INVENtoRIES
(a) Inventories in the balance sheet comprise:

	 the	Group
 2007		 2006
 Hk$’000		 HK$’000

Raw materials 41,341		 60,721
Work in progress 16,010		 16,660
Finished goods 20,002		 75,471

 77,353		 152,852

(b) The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as an expense is as follows:

	 the	Group
 2007		 2006
 Hk$’000		 HK$’000

Carrying amount of inventories sold 447,677		 666,368
Write down of inventories 6,845		 141

 454,522		 666,509

Due to unsatisfactory sales records on certain inventories which were held by the Group for more than one year, the estimated net 

realisable value of the inventories was written down by approximately HK$6,845,000 (2006: HK$141,000).
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23.	 tRADE	AND	otHER	RECEIVABlES
	 the	Group	 the	Company

 2007		 2006  2007		 2006

 Hk$’000		 HK$’000  Hk$’000		 HK$’000

Trade debtors and bills receivable 69,274		 92,114  –		 –

Less: allowance for doubtful debts (note 23(b)) (6,222	)	 (2,924 ) –		 –

 63,052		 89,190  –		 –

Compensation receivable from legal claim (note 39) 7,771		 –  –		 –

Amount due from an investee company (note 23(d)) 22,633		 26,987  –		 –

Others (note 23(e)) –		 2,032  –		 –

Loans and receivables 93,456		 118,209  –		 –

Deposits 1,921		 1,441  35		 27

Prepayments to suppliers 9,882		 8,024  –		 –

Prepaid lease payments (note 15) 1,501		 1,602  –		 –

Other prepayments 6,825		 13,375  –		 –

PRC value added tax recoverables 10,526		 5,800  –		 –

 30,655		 30,242  35		 27

 124,111		 148,451  35		 27

All of the trade and other receivables are expected to be recovered or recognised as expense within one year.

(a)	 Ageing	analysis
Included in trade and other receivables are trade debtors and bills receivable (net of allowance for doubtful debts) with the 
following ageing analysis as of the balance sheet date:

	 the	Group
 2007		 2006
 Hk$’000		 HK$’000

Current 56,094		 81,279

Less than 1 month past due 1,714		 4,660
1 to 3 months past due 709		 1,812
More than 3 months past due 4,535		 1,439

Amounts past due 6,958		 7,911

 63,052		 89,190

Debts are generally due within three to six months from the date of billing. The Group may, on a case by case basis and after 
evaluation of the business relationship and creditworthiness, extend the credit period upon customers’ requests. Further details 
on the Group’s credit policy are set out in note 36(a).
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23.	 tRADE	AND	otHER	RECEIVABlES	(Continued)
(b)	 Impairment	of	trade	debtors	and	bills	receivable

Impairment losses in respect of trade debtors and bills receivable are recorded using an allowance account unless the Group is 

satisfied that recovery of the amount is remote, in which cases the impairment loss is written off against trade debtors and bills 

receivable directly (see note 2(m)(i)).

The movement in the allowance for doubtful debts during the year, including both specific and collective loss components, is as 

follows:

	 the	Group

 2007		 2006

 Hk$’000		 HK$’000

At 1 January 2,924		 2,418

Exchange adjustments 110		 61

Impairment loss recognised 6,222		 2,924

Uncollectible amounts written off (3,034	)	 (2,479 )

At 31 December 6,222		 2,924

At 31 December 2007, the Group’s trade debtors and bills receivable of approximately HK$6,222,000 (2006: HK$2,924,000) 

were individually determined to be impaired. The individually impaired receivables related to customers that were in financial 

difficulties and management assessed that only a portion of the receivables is expected to be recovered. Consequently, specific 

allowances for doubtful debts of approximately HK$6,222,000 (2006: HK$2,924,000) were recognised. The Group does not 

hold any collateral over these balances. The factors which the Group considered in determining whether these trade debtors 

and bills receivables were individually impaired include the following:

– significant financial difficulty of the debtors; and

– receivables that have been more than six months past due as at the balance sheet date without any settlement during 

the year and remained outstanding.

(c)	 trade	debtors	and	bills	receivable	that	are	not	impaired
The ageing analysis of trade debtors and bills receivable that are neither individually nor collectively considered to be impaired 
are as follows:

	 the	Group
 2007		 2006
 Hk$’000		 HK$’000

Neither past due nor impaired 56,094		 81,279

Less than 1 month past due 1,714		 4,660
1 to 3 months past due 5,244		 3,251

 6,958		 7,911

 63,052		 89,190
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23.	 tRADE	AND	otHER	RECEIVABlES	(Continued)
(c)	 trade	debtors	and	bills	receivable	that	are	not	impaired	(Continued)

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a wide range of customers for whom there was no recent history 

of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a number of independent customers that have a good track record 

with the Group. Based on past experience, management believes that no impairment allowance is necessary in respect of these 

balances as there has not been a significant change in credit quality and the balances are still considered fully recoverable. The 

Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

(d)	 Amount	due	from	an	investee	company

The amount due from Heissner AG, a company the Group holds 18.1% equity interest (an investment included in note 20(a)) is 

unsecured, interest-free and has no fixed terms of repayment.

(e)	 others

The amount represents the remaining sales proceeds of HK$2,032,000 (2006: HK$2,032,000) receivable from Newa-Techno, 

an independent party, for the disposal of the then subsidiary Peaktop Technologies Italy s.r.l. (“Peaktop Italy”) in 2004. 

Pursuant to the sales and purchase agreement entered into between the Group and Newa-Techno, the Group disposed of the 

entire issued share capital of Peaktop Italy and a shareholder’s loan in the sum of US$1,561,855 (equivalent to approximately 

HK$12,182,469) owing by Peaktop Italy to the Group for an aggregate consideration of US$800,000 (equivalent to 

approximately HK$6,240,000). In accordance with the sales and purchase agreement, the sales consideration of US$800,000 is 

to be settled as follows:

(i) US$400,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$3,120,000) was settled in cash in 2004;

(ii) US$250,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$1,950,000) will be satisfied by Newa-Techno providing, or procuring 

Peaktop Italy to provide, general research and development services in relation to water pumps used in the household 

indoor aquariums and water filtering systems to the Group on or before 31 December 2006 and which was subsequently 

extended to on or before 31 December 2007 under the agreement between the Group and Newa-Techno; and

(iii) US$150,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$1,170,000) was satisfied by Newa-Techno providing, or procuring 

Peaktop Italy to provide, a 15% discount on the aggregate purchase price of US$1,000,000 (equivalent to approximately 

HK$7,800,000) on water pumps, to the Group on or before 31 December 2006 and, which was subsequently extended 

to on or before 31 December 2007 under the agreement between the Group and Newa-Techno.

As at 31 December 2006, unsettled portion of the research and development services and the purchase discount as stated in (ii) 

and (iii) above are recorded under “trade and other receivables” in the consolidated financial statements.

In 2007, in light of the fact that the Group no longer acquired research and development services and water pump from Newa-

Techno, the directors considered it appropriate to write off the amount of HK$2,032,000 (2006: nil) in full.
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24.	 CASH	AND	CASH	EQuIVAlENtS
	 the	Group	 the	Company

 2007 	 2006	 2007 	 2006

 Hk$’000  HK$’000  Hk$’000  HK$’000

Bank deposits with original maturity of 

 three months or less 16,066  8,110  –  3,110

Cash at banks and on hand 26,187	 20,683  9,548	 25

Cash and cash equivalents in the balance sheets 42,253	 28,793  9,548	 3,135

Less: Bank overdrafts (note 28) (5,756	) (6,492 )

 Pledged deposits (note 24(a) and 28) (1,065	) (1,021 )

Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated

 cash flow statement 35,432	 21,280

(a) At 31 December 2007, a bank deposit of approximately HK$1,065,000 (2006: HK$1,021,000) was pledged as security against 

banking facilities amounting to approximately HK$5,323,000 (2006: HK$5,000,000) extended to the Group. Such facilities 

were utilised to the extent of approximately HK$4,210,000 (2006: HK$3,510,000) at 31 December 2007.

(b) Cash and cash equivalents of approximately HK$6,867,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB6,451,000) (2006: HK$2,067,000 

(equivalent to approximately RMB2,067,000)) are denominated in Renminbi. Renminbi is not a freely convertible currency and 

the remittance of funds out of the PRC is subject to exchange restrictions imposed by the PRC government.

(c) Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposits rates. Short term time deposits are made for varying 

periods of between one day and three months depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest 

at the respective short term time deposit rates. The carrying amounts of the cash and cash equivalents and the pledged deposits 

approximate to their fair values.

25.	 NoN-CuRRENt	ASSEtS	HElD	FoR	SAlE
On 31 December 2007, the Group and an independent third party entered into an agreement that the Group would dispose of certain 

buildings and prepaid lease payments to the independent third party for an aggregate consideration of approximately HK$29,328,000. 

The transaction was completed in February 2008.

The non-current assets classified as held for sale represent certain buildings held for own use and prepaid lease payments with carrying 

amount of approximately HK$15,944,000 and approximately HK$6,989,000 respectively. As the carrying amount of these properties 

will be recovered through the sale transaction, they have been presented as non-current assets held for sale as at 31 December 2007. As 

the expected disposal proceeds are to exceed their carrying amounts, no impairment loss has been recognized immediately before the 

classification of the non-current assets held for sale.



Peaktop International Holdings Limited					Annual	Report	2007 81

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2007
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

26.	 tRADE	AND	otHER	PAyABlES
	 the	Group	 the	Company

 2007		 2006  2007		 2006

 Hk$’000		 HK$’000  Hk$’000		 HK$’000

Trade creditors and bills payable (note 26 (a)) 78,315		 96,910  –		 –

Accrued salaries, wages and other benefits 15,229		 7,040  –		 –

Other accrued charges 30,431		 27,723  558		 58

Amount due to a director (note 26 (b)) 2,000		 –  2,000		 –

Amount due to an ex-director (note 26 (c)) 2,066		 –  –		 –

Amount due to a minority equity holder (note 26 (d)) 189		 189  –		 –

Amount due to a substantial shareholder (note 26 (e)) 3,000		 –  3,000		 –

Other creditors (note 26 (f)) 11,663		 –  –		 –

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 142,893		 131,862  5,558		 58

Financial guarantees issued –		 –  3,708		 –

 142,893		 131,862  9,266		 58

All of the trade and other payables (including amounts due to related parties) are expected to be settled within one year or are 

repayable on demand.

(a)	 trade	creditors	and	bills	payable

The ageing analysis of trade creditors and bills payable as of the balance sheet date is analysed as follows:

	 the	Group

 2007		 2006

 Hk$’000		 HK$’000

Due within 1 month or on demand 37,707		 57,131

Due after 1 month but within 2 months 17,675		 20,035

Due after 2 months but within 3 months 10,660		 9,272

Due after 3 months 12,273		 10,472

 78,315		 96,910
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26.	 tRADE	AND	otHER	PAyABlES	(Continued)
(b)	 Amount	due	to	a	director

The amount is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

(c)	 Amount	due	to	an	ex-director

The amount is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

(d)	 Amount	due	to	a	minority	equity	holder

The amount is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

(e)	 Amount	due	to	a	substantial	shareholder

The amount is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

(f)	 other	creditors

During the year, certain independent third parties advanced to the Group amounting to approximately HK$11,663,000. The 

amounts are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

27.	 DERIVAtIVE	FINANCIAl	INStRuMENtS
	 the	Group

 2007		 2006

 Hk$’000		 HK$’000

Forward foreign exchange contracts, at market value 2,113		 –

The net unrealised fair value gain/(loss) on forward foreign exchange contracts as at 31 December 2007 which are not qualified as 

hedges has been accounted for in the consolidated income statement.

Details of the outstanding forward foreign exchange contracts held by the Group as at 31 December 2007 are disclosed in note 36(d). 

These contracts expire through 2008.
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28.	 BANk	loANS	AND	oVERDRAFtS
At 31 December 2007, the borrowings were carried at amortized cost and repayable as follows:

 2007		 2006

 Hk$’000		 HK$’000

Within 1 year or on demand 209,757	 244,276

After 1 year but within 2 years 2,468		 4,677

After 2 years but within 5 years 12,320		 –

 14,788		 4,677

 224,545		 248,953

At 31 December 2007, the bank loans and overdrafts were secured as follows:

 2007		 2006

 Hk$’000		 HK$’000

Bank overdrafts:

– Secured 5,359		 6,089

– Unsecured 397		 403

 5,756		 6,492

Bank loans

– Secured 167,588		 123,701

– Unsecured 51,201		 118,760

 218,789		 242,461

 224,545  248,953



Peaktop International Holdings Limited					Annual	Report	200784

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2007
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

28.	 BANk	loANS	AND	oVERDRAFtS	(Continued)
At 31 December 2007, the carrying value of pledged assets in relation to the secured bank loans and overdrafts was analysed as 

follows:

 2007 2006

 Carrying    Bank  Carrying    Bank

 value	of	    loans  value of    loans

 pledged	 	 Interest	 	 and	 	 pledged  Interest  and 

 assets	 	 rate	 	 overdrafts	  assets  rate  overdrafts

 Hk$’000    Hk$’000	  HK$’000    HK$’000

Bank	loans	and	overdrafts	secured	by

Land and buildings (note 13(d)) 65,152	 	 5.33%-8.25%		 114,608	  98,708  5.12%-8.00%  81,458

Non-current assets held for sale (note 25) 22,933	 	 8.00%-8.25%		 13,792  –  –  –

Investment property (note 14(d)) 12,640	 	 8.00%-8.25%		 13,673	  –  –  –

Trading securities (note 21) 942	 	 8%		 1,122	  936  7%-8%  23,448

Bank deposits (note 24) 1,065	 	 8.00%-8.25%		 4,210	  1,021  5.85%-6.125%  3,510

Discounted bills with recourse 4,499	 	 7.50%-8.25%		 4,499	  1,060  4.95%-8.25%  6,145

Total assets of two subsidiaries 44,014	 	 6.50%-8.25%		 21,043	  70,328  5.75%-8.25%  15,229           

    	 172,947	      129,790

unsecured	bank	loans	and	overdrafts N/A	 	 5.33%-8.25%		 51,598	  N/A  4.94%-8.00%  119,163           

     224,545	      248,953           

(a) At 31 December 2007, the banking facilities of the Group were secured by:

(i) corporate guarantees from the Company and certain subsidiaries of the Company;

(ii) personal guarantee from Mr. Lin Chuen Kuei, a director of the Company;

(iii) first legal charges over buildings and prepaid lease payments of the Group with an aggregate carrying value of 

approximately HK$88,085,000 (2006: HK$98,708,000) including of non-current assets held for sale amounting to 

approximately HK$22,933,000 (2006: Nil);

(iv) legal charges over the investment property of approximately HK$12,640,000 (2006: Nil);

(v) trading securities of approximately HK$942,000 (2006: HK$936,000);

(vi) bank deposits of approximately HK$1,065,000 (2006: HK$1,021,000);

(vii) bills receivable of approximately HK$4,499,000 (2006: HK$1,060,000); and
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28.	 BANk	loANS	AND	oVERDRAFtS	(Continued)
(a) At 31 December 2007, the banking facilities of the Group were secured by: (Continued)

(viii) floating charges over the assets of two subsidiaries with an aggregate carrying value of approximately HK$44,014,000 

(2006: HK$70,328,000) representing furniture, fixtures, equipment and motor vehicles of approximately HK$5,083,000 

(2006: HK$8,740,000), leasehold improvements of approximately HK$1,554,000 (2006: HK$1,972,000), inventories 

of approximately HK$3,453,000 (2006: HK$19,678,000), trade receivables of approximately HK$26,680,000 (2006: 

HK$27,233,000) and other assets of approximately HK$7,244,000 (2006: HK$12,705,000).

Such banking facilities amounted to approximately HK$243,267,000 (2006: HK$173,206,000). The facilities were utilised to the 

extent of approximately HK$172,947,000 (2006: HK$129,790,000).

(b) Certain banking facilities of the Group are subject to the fulfilment of covenants relating to (i) certain subsidiaries’ financial 

statement ratio including the maintenance of the capital adequacy ratio at not less than 25% (2006: 25%) of the subsidiaries 

and (ii) the asset value of the Company and certain subsidiaries. If the Group were to breach the covenants the drawn down 

facilities would become payable on demand.

 At 31 December 2007, the Group has breached the covenants of certain banking facilities. Such banking facilities amounting 

to approximately HK$65,924,000 (2006: HK$51,937,000) were utilised to the extent of approximately HK$27,901,000 (2006: 

HK$38,719,000). Included in the amount utilised are:

(i) approximately HK$6,858,000 (2006: Nil) which, in accordance with the terms of the banking facilities, approximately 

HK$5,819,000 was scheduled to be repaid after one year from the balance sheet date, but is classified as current 

liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet as the Group does not have an unconditional right at the balance sheet date 

to defer settlement for at least the next twelve months as a result of the breach of the covenants. Subsequent to the 

balance sheet date, the Group has received a waiver by a bank from compliance with these covenants in relation to the 

amount of approximately HK$5,736,000.

(ii) approximately HK$21,043,000 (2006: Nil) which, in accordance with the terms of the banking facilities, was scheduled 

to be repaid within one year from the balance sheet date and is classified as current liabilities in the consolidated balance 

sheet. Subsequent to the balance sheet date, the Group has received a waiver by a bank from compliance with these 

convenants in relation to the amount of approximately HK$10,930,000.

The Group regularly monitors its compliance with these covenants. Further details of the Group’s management of liquidity risk 

are set out in note 36(b).

29.	 otHER	loAN,	uNSECuRED
At 31 December 2007, the Group’s other loan of HK$9,852,000 (2006: Nil) due to a financial institution bore interest at 9% per 

annum and was repayable on or before 29 February 2008. The loan is secured by personal guarantees to the extent of HK$10,000,000 

put up by Mr. Lin Chun Kuei and Mr. Li Chien Kuan, the directors of the Company. The loan was repaid by the Group in full in 

February 2008.
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30.	 oBlIGAtIoNS	uNDER	FINANCE	lEASES
At 31 December 2007, the Group had obligations under finance leases repayable as follows:

	 the	Group

 2007 2006

 Present		 		 Present

 value			 		 value

 of	the		 		 of the

 minimum		 		 minimum

 lease		 total	lease		 lease  Total lease

 payments		 payments		 payments  payments

 Hk$’000		 Hk$’000		 HK$’000  HK$’000

Within 1 year 320		 330		 1,345  1,447

After 1 year but within 2 years –		 –		 675  694

 320		 330		 2,020  2,141
 		 		

Less: total future interest expenses 		 (10	)	   (121 )
 		 		   

Present value of lease obligations 		 320		   2,020
 		 		   

31.	 INCoME	tAx	IN	tHE	BAlANCE	SHEEt
(a)	 Current taxation in the balance sheet represents:

	 the	Group

 2007		 2006

 Hk$’000		 HK$’000

Provision for profits tax for the year 2,867		 638

Provisional profits tax paid (1,324	)	 (702 )

 1,543		 (64 )

Balance of profits tax provision relating to prior years 834		 1,415

 2,377		 1,351
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31.	 INCoME	tAx	IN	tHE	BAlANCE	SHEEt	(CoNtINuED)
(b)	 Deferred	tax	assets	and	liabilities	recognised:

The Group

The components of deferred tax (assets)/liabilities recognised in the consolidated balance sheet and the movements during the 

year are as follows:

	 		 Depreciation

	 		 allowances

	 		 in	excess	of

	 tax		 the	related

Deferred	tax	arising	from:	 losses		 depreciation		 others		 total

 HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000

At 1 January 2006 (234 ) 649  740  1,155

Exchange adjustments (155 ) 33  –  (122 )

Charged/(credited) to income statement (2,630 ) 113  –  (2,517 )

At 31 December 2006

 and 1 January 2007 (3,019 ) 795  740  (1,484 )

Exchange adjustments (192 ) 22  –  (170 )

Charged/(credited) to income statement 3,104  (817 ) –  2,287

At 31 December 2007 (107 ) –  740  633

	 the	Group

 2007		 2006

 Hk$’000		 HK$’000

Net deferred assets recognised on the balance sheet –		 (1,484 )

Net deferred tax liability recognised on the balance sheet 633		 –

 633		 (1,484 )

(c)	 Deferred	taxation	not	recognised:

In accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 2(t), the Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in respect of tax 

losses of approximately HK$62 million (2006: HK$55 million) as it is not probable that future taxable profits against which the 

losses can be utilised will be available in the relevant tax jurisdiction and entity.

At 31 December 2007, the Group’s tax losses of approximately HK$5 million (2006: HK$12 million) do not expire under current 

tax legislation and tax losses of approximately HK$57 million (2006: HK$43 million) will expire in five years from the year in 

which they were incurred.

The Group had no other significant deferred taxation not provided for during the year and at the balance sheet date.
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32.	 EMPloyEE	REtIREMENt	BENEFItS
(a) The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident 

Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF 

scheme is a defined contribution retirement plan administered by independent trustees. Under the MPF scheme, the employer 

and its employees are each required to make contributions to the plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a 

cap of monthly relevant income of HK$20,000. Contributions to the plan vest immediately.

(b) Pursuant to the relevant labour rules and regulations in the Mainland, the Group participates in defined contribution retirement 

benefit schemes (the “Schemes”) organised by the relevant local government authorities, whereby the Group is required to 

make contributions to the Schemes at a rate of 8% of the eligible employees’ salaries. The local government authorities are 

responsible for the entire pension obligations payable to retired employees which are calculated based on a certain percentage 

of the basic payroll.

33.	 SHARE	oPtIoN	SCHEME
The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) which is adopted on 18 June 2002. The purpose of the Scheme is 

to enable the Company to grant options to the eligible participants in recognition of their contribution to the Group. Subject to the 

terms of the Scheme, the directors may, at their absolute discretion, invite employees of the Group, including executive directors, non-

executive directors of the Company or any of its subsidiaries, suppliers, consultants, agents and advisers, whether on a contractual or 

honorary basis and whether paid or unpaid, who have contributed or will contribute to the Group to take up options to subscribe for 

shares.

The maximum number of shares in respect of which options may be granted (together with options exercised and options then 

outstanding) at any time under this scheme shall not, when aggregated with any shares subject to any other schemes involving the issue 

or grant of option over shares by the Company, or for the benefit of the eligible participants, exceed such number of shares as shall 

represent 10% of the issued share capital of the Company at the adoption date (the “Scheme Mandate Limit”). Options that lapse 

in accordance with the terms of this scheme will not be counted for the purpose of calculating the Scheme Mandate Limit unless the 

Company obtains a fresh approval from shareholders to renew the 10% limit provided that the maximum number of shares in respect 

of which options may be granted under the Scheme together with any options outstanding and yet to be exercised under the Scheme 

and any other schemes shall not exceed 30% of the issued shares from time to time.

The total number of shares issued and to be issued on the exercise of options granted and to be granted (including both exercised and 

outstanding options) in any 12-month period up to the date of the grant of each eligible participant shall not exceed 1% of the total 

issued shares.

The offer of a grant of share option may be accepted within a period of 28 days from the date of offer. An option shall be deemed 

to have been accepted when the duplicate letter comprising acceptance of the option duly signed by the eligible participant together 

with the consideration of HK$1 is received by the Company.

The exercise price for shares will not be less than the higher of: (i) the closing price of the shares as stated in the daily quotations sheet 

of the Stock Exchange on the date of the grant, which must be a business day; and (ii) the average closing price of the shares as stated 

in the daily quotations sheets of the Stock Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding the date of the grant.

An option may be exercised at any time during the period to be determined and identified by the board to each grantee at the time 

of making an offer for the grant of an option, but in any event no later than 10 years from the date of grant but subject to the early 

termination of the new share option scheme.

No share options were granted during the year and there were no outstanding share options under the Scheme at the balance sheet 

date (2006: Nil).
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34.	 CAPItAl	AND	RESERVES
(a)	 the	Group

	 Attributable	to	equity	shareholders	of	the	Company	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	(Accumulated

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 Asset	 	 	 	 losses)/

	 	 Share	 	 Share	 	 Contributed	 	 Exchange	 	 revaluation	 	 Statutory	 	 retained	 	 	 	 Minority	 	 total

	 	 capital	 	 premium	 	 surplus	 	 reserve	 	 reserve	 	 reserve	 	 profit	 	 total	 	 interests	 	 equity

 Note HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000

At 1 January 2006  85,720  99,260  18,528  722  3,986  22,779  5,299  236,294  1,261  237,555

Exchange difference on translation 

 of financial statements of 

 subsidiaries outside Hong Kong  –  –  –  6,802  –  –  –  6,802  97  6,899

Transfer to statutory reserve  –  –  –  –  –  1,007  (1,007 ) –  –  –

Disposal of subsidiaries 35 –  –  –  2,261  (3,115 ) –  –  (854 ) (1,099 ) (1,953 )

Profit for the year  –  –  –  –  –  –  13,766  13,766  (58 ) 13,708

At 31 December 2006 and 

 1 January 2007  85,720  99,260  18,528  9,785  871  23,786  18,058  256,008  201  256,209

Exchange difference on translation 

 of financial statements of 

 subsidiaries outside Hong Kong  –  –  –  6,261  –  –  –  6,261  –  6,261

Shares issued under the placing 34(c)(iii) 14,200  73,322  –  –  –  –  –  87,522  –  87,522

Loss for the year   –  –  –  –  –  –  (193,838 ) (193,838 ) (201 ) (194,039 )

At 31 December 2007  99,920  172,582  18,528  16,046  871  23,786  (175,780 ) 155,953  –  155,953

Included in the accumulated losses as at 31 December 2007 of the Group is an amount of approximately HK$150,000 (2006: 

HK$150,000) being the accumulated losses attributable to an associate.
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34.	 CAPItAl	AND	RESERVES	(Continued)
(b)	 the	Company

	 	 Share		 Share		 Contributed		 Accumulated

	 	 capital		 premium		 surplus		 losses		 total

 Note HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000

At 1 January 2006  85,720  99,260  75,131  (22,612 ) 237,499

Loss for the year  –  –  –  (2,566 ) (2,566 )

At 31 December 2006 and

 1 January 2007  85,720  99,260  75,131  (25,178 ) 234,933

Shares issued under the placing 34(c)(iii) 14,200  73,322  –  –  87,522

Loss for the year  –  –  –  (173,432 ) (173,432 )

At 31 December 2007  99,920  172,582  75,131  (198,610 ) 149,023

(c)	 Share	capital

(i) Authorised and issued share capital

 2007 2006

	 Number    Number

 of	shares		 Amount	 of shares  Amount

 ’000		 Hk$’000  ’000  HK$’000

Authorised:

Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each 5,000,000		 500,000	 1,000,000  100,000

ordinary	shares,	issued	and

	 fully	paid:

At 1 January 857,196		 85,720	 857,196  85,720

Shares issued under the placing (note (iii)) 142,000		 14,200	 –  –

At 31 December 999,196		 99,920	 857,196  85,720

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote 

per share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank equally regard to the Company’s residual assets.

(ii) Increase in authorised share capital

By an ordinary resolution passed at the special general meeting held on 20 November 2007, the Company’s authorised 

ordinary share capital was increased to HK$500,000,000 by the creation of an additional 4,000,000,000 ordinary shares 

of HK$0.10 each, ranking pari passu with the existing ordinary shares of the Company in all respects.
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34.	 CAPItAl	AND	RESERVES	(Continued)
(c)	 Share	capital	(Continued)

(iii) Shares issued under the placing

On 26 July 2007, the Company and a placing agent entered into a placing agreement whereby the Company placed 

through the placing agent an aggregate of 63,000,000 new ordinary shares of the Company of HK$0.10 each to not 

less than six placees at a price of HK$0.86 per share. The placing was completed on 7 August 2007. The net proceeds 

from the placing of approximately HK$52,076,000 were used for repayment of the Group’s bank loans and for general 

working capital purpose.

On 10 October 2007, the Company entered into conditional subscription agreements with Mr. Lin Chun Kuei (“Mr. 

Lin”), Mr. Ng Kin Nam (“Mr. Ng”) and Tian Wan Pte. Ltd. (“Tian Wan”) (collectively, the “Subscribers”) whereby the 

Subscribers agreed to subscribe for an aggregate of 79,000,000 new ordinary shares of the Company of HK$0.10 each 

at a price of HK$0.45 per share. The subscription was completed on 28 November 2007. The net proceeds from the 

Subscription of approximately HK$35,446,000 were used for repayment of the Group’s bank loans and for general 

working capital purpose. Mr. Lin and Mr. Ng are directors of the Company, and Tian Wan is the Company’s substantial 

shareholder which is owned by Mr. Andree Halim (“Mr. Halim”), a director of the Company, and the son of Mr. Halim.

(d)	 Nature	and	purpose	of	reserves

(i) Share premium

The application of the share premium account is governed by section 40 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981 of 

Bermuda.

(ii) Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus of the Group represents the difference between the nominal value of the shares of the 

subsidiaries acquired over the nominal value of the share of the Company issued pursuant to the Group’s reorganisation 

in 1997.

The contributed surplus of the Company represents the difference between the nominal value of the Company’s shares 

issued and the aggregate net asset value of the subsidiaries acquired. Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as 

amended), the contributed surplus is available for distribution to shareholders. However, the Company cannot declare or 

pay a dividend, or make distributions out of contributed surplus if:

– it is, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its liabilities as they become due; or

– the realisable value of its assets would thereby be less than the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share 

capital and share premium accounts.

(iii) Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements 

of subsidiaries outside Hong Kong which is dealt with in accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 2(w).
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34.	 CAPItAl	AND	RESERVES	(Continued)
(d)	 Nature	and	purpose	of	reserves	(Continued)

(iv) Asset revaluation reserve

The asset revaluation reserve has been set up and is dealt with in accordance with the accounting policy adopted for 

buildings in note 2(j).

(v) Statutory reserve

In accordance with relevant rules and regulations in the PRC, all the PRC companies are required to transfer 10% of 

their profit after taxation calculated under PRC accounting rules and regulations to the statutory reserve fund, until the 

accumulated total of the fund reaches 50% of their registered capital. The transfer to the reserve must be made before 

distribution of dividends to shareholders. The statutory reserve fund can only be used to offset previous years’ losses or 

to increase the capital of respective companies, provided that the balance after such issue is not less than 25% of its 

registered capital.

(e)	 Distributability	of	reserves

At 31 December 2007, the aggregate amount of reserve available for distribution to equity shareholders of the Company 

was nil (2006: HK$49,953,000 representing contributed surplus of approximately HK$75,131,000 less accumulated losses of 

approximately HK$25,178,000).

(f)	 Capital	management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while maximizing 

the return to shareholders through the optimization of the debt and equity balance.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts (which include bank loans and overdrafts, other loans and other financial 

liabilities), cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable to equity shareholders of the Company (which comprises issued 

share capital and reserves).

Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed capital requirements, apart from the information as 

disclosed in note 28(b).

The directors review the capital structure on a regular basis to ensure the Group compliance with the requirements and consider 

the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. In view of this, the Group will balance its overall capital 

structure through new share issues, raising new debts, the redemption of existing debts or selling assets to reduce debts. The 

Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior years.

35.	 NotE	to	tHE	CoNSolIDAtED	CASH	FloW	StAtEMENt
Disposal	of	subsidiaries	during	the	year	ended	31	December	2006

In August 2006, the Group disposed of two subsidiaries, namely Heissner AG and Progress LA, which were engaged in the operation 

of outdoor decoration to an independent third party for a consideration to be satisfied by a financial asset at fair value through 

profit or loss of approximately HK$20,460,000 (note 20(b)) and for unlisted equity securities outside Hong Kong of approximately 

HK$8,420,000.
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35.	 NotE	to	tHE	CoNSolIDAtED	CASH	FloW	StAtEMENt	(CoNtINuED)
Disposal	of	subsidiaries	during	the	year	ended	31	December	2006	(Continued)

The cash flows and the net assets of subsidiaries disposed of are provided below:

  2006

  HK$’000

Net assets disposed of:

 Property, plant and equipment  68,628

 Goodwill (note 17)  457

 Available-for-sale financial assets/investments securities  229

 Inventories  75,560

 Accounts receivable  29,684

 Prepayments, deposits and other receivables  19,458

 Deferred tax assets  11,236

 Cash and cash equivalents  1,669

 Bank loans  (95,902 )

 Accounts and bills payables  (14,944 )

 Other payables and accruals  (51,095 )

 Minority interests (note 34(a))  (1,099 )

  43,881

 Expenses incurred by the Group on the disposal of subsidiaries  811

 Exchange reserve released upon disposal of subsidiaries (note 34(a))  2,261

 Asset revaluation reserve released upon disposal of subsidiaries (note 34(a))  (3,115 )

 Loss on disposal of subsidiaries, net  (14,958 )

  28,880

Satisfied by:

 Cash  –

 Financial asset at fair value through profit or loss  20,460

 Available-for-sale financial assets  8,420

  28,880

An analysis of the net outflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect of the disposal of subsidiaries is as follows:

 2006

 HK$’000

Cash and cash equivalents disposed of 1,669

Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect of the disposal of subsidiaries 1,669

The subsidiaries disposed of during the year ended 31 December 2006 contributed approximately HK$225,562,000 to the Group’s 

turnover and a profit of approximately HK$20,075,000 to profit attributable to equity shareholders of the Company for that year.
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36.	 FINANCIAl	INStRuMENtS
Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks arises in the normal course of the Group’s business. The risks are limited by 

the Group’s financial management policies and practices described below.

(a)	 Credit	risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its 

contractual obligations, and arises primarily from the Group’s trade and other receivables and deposits with banks.

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and other receivables. Management has a credit policy in place and the 

exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.

In respect of trade and other receivables, individual credit evaluations are performed on all customers requiring credit over a 

certain amount. These evaluations focus on the customer’s past history of making payments when due and current ability to 

pay, and take into account information specific to the customer as well as pertaining to the economic environment in which 

the customer operates. Trade receivables are due within three to six months from the date of billing. Normally, the Group does 

not obtain collateral from customers. The impairment losses on bad and doubtful debts account are within management’s 

expectation.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer. The default risk of the 

industry and country in which customers operate also has an influence on credit risk but to a lesser extent. At the balance sheet 

date, the Group has a certain concentration of credit risk as 20.6% (2006: 21.6%) and 51.8% (2006: 45.9%) of the total trade 

and other receivables was due from the Group’s largest customer and the five largest customers respectively within the United 

States of America and Europe.

The maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of any collateral held is represented by the carrying amount of 

each financial asset in the balance sheet after deducting any impairment allowance. Except for the financial guarantees given 

by the Group as set out in note 38(a), the Group does not provide any other guarantees which would expose the Group or the 

Company to credit risk. The maximum exposure to credit risk in respect of these financial guarantees at the balance sheet date is 

disclosed in note 38(a).

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from trade and other receivables are set 

out in note 23.

The Group limits its exposure to credit risk by placing deposits with financial institutions with no recent history of default. 

Management does not expect any counterparty to fail to meet its obligations.

As at 31 December 2007, the Group has no significant concentration of credit risk on deposits with banks.
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36.	 FINANCIAl	INStRuMENtS	(CoNtINuED)
(b)	 liquidity	risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group’s approach 

to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, 

without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.

Individual operating entities within the Group are responsible for their own cash management, including the short term 

investment of cash surpluses and the raising of loans to cover expected cash demands, subject to approval by the parent 

company’s board when the borrowings exceed certain predetermined levels of authority. The Group’s policy is to regularly 

monitor its liquidity requirements and its compliance with lending covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of 

cash and readily realisable marketable securities and adequate committed lines of funding from major financial institutions to 

meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

The following table details the remaining contractual maturities at the balance sheet date of the Group’s and the Company’s 

non-derivative financial liabilities, which are based on contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments 

computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates current at the balance sheet date) and the earliest date the 

Group and the Company can be required to pay:

the	Group

 2007 2006

   total	 	 	 	 More	than	 	 More	than	    Total    More than  More than

   contractual	 	 Within			 1	year	but	 	 2	years	but	    contractual  Within   1 year but  2 years but 

 Carrying	 	undiscounted	 	 1	year	or			 less	than	 	 less	than	 	 Carrying  undiscounted  1 year or   less than  less than

 amount	 	 cash	flow	 	 on	demand	 	 2	years	 	 5	years	 	 amount  cash flow  on demand  2 years  5 years

 Hk$’000	 	 Hk$’000	 	 Hk$’000	 	 Hk$’000	 	 Hk$’000	 	 HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000

Trade and other payables 142,893	 	 142,893	 	 142,893	 	 –	 	 –  131,862  131,862  131,862  –  –

Bank loans and overdrafts 224,545	 	 242,518	 	 224,022	 	 2,977	 	 15,519  248,953  266,594  261,139  5,455  –

Other loans, unsecured 9,852	 	 10,000	 	 10,000	 	 –	 	 –  –  –  –  –  –

Obligations under finance leases  320	 	 330	 	 330      2,020  2,141  1,811  330  –

 377,610	 	 395,741	 	 377,245	 	 2,977	 	 15,519	 	 382,835  400,597  394,812  5,785  –
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36.	 FINANCIAl	INStRuMENtS	(CoNtINuED)
(b)	 liquidity	risk	(Continued)

the	Company

 2007 2006

   total      Total

 	  contractual	 	 Within    contractual  Within

 Carrying	 	 undiscounted	 	 1	year	or	 	 Carrying  undiscounted  1 year or

 amount	 	 cash	flow	 	 on	demand	  amount  cash flow  on demand

 Hk$’000	 	 Hk$’000	 	 Hk$’000	  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000

Trade and other payables 9,266	 	 9,266	 	 9,266	 	 58  58  58

As at 31 December 2007, the maximum gross nominal value of outstanding forward foreign exchange contracts held by 

the Group was approximately HK$6,240,000 (2006: Nil). The table below analyses the Group’s outstanding forward foreign 

exchange contracts as at 31 December that would be settled on a gross basis into relevant maturity buckets based on their 

remaining contractual maturity dates. The amounts disclosed in the table are contractual undiscounted cash flows, which are 

different from the carrying amount (i.e. market value) in the consolidated balance sheet.

the	Group

 2007	 	 2006

 total		 		 Total

 contractual		 Within		 Contractual  Within

 undiscounted		 1	year	or		 undiscounted  1 year or

 cash	flow		 on	demand		 cash flow  on demand

 Hk$’000		 Hk$’000		 HK$’000  HK$’000

Forward foreign exchange contracts

 – outflows 6,240		 6,240		 –  –

 – inflows 6,180		 6,180		 –  –

The Group employs projected cash flow analysis to manage liquidity risk by forecasting the amount of cash required and 

monitoring the working capital of the Group to ensure that all liabilities due and known funding requirements could be met.
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36.	 FINANCIAl	INStRuMENtS	(CoNtINuED)
(c)	 Interest	rate	risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from the Group’s bank deposits, other loan and bank loans. Borrowings issued at 

variable rates and at fixed rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk and fair value interest rate risk respectively. The 

Group does not use financial derivatives to hedge against the interest rate risk. Borrowings at fixed rate are insensitive to any 

change in market rates. A change in interest rates at the balance sheet date would not affect profit or loss. The Group’s interest 

rate profile as monitored by management is set out in (i) below.

(i) Interest rate profile 

The following table details the interest rate profile of the Group’s and the Company’s net borrowings (as defined above) 

at the balance sheet date.

	 the	Group	 the	Company

 2007 2006 2007 2006

 Effective    Effective    Effective	 	   Effective

 interest    interest    interest	 	   interest

 rate    rate    rate	 	   rate

 %	 	 Hk$’000	  %  HK$’000  %	 	 Hk$’000	  %  HK$’000

Net	fixed	rate

	 borrowings:

Bank loans 5.86-9.85%	 	 84,564  5.12-9.85%  63,000  –	 	 –  –  –

Other loan, unsecured 9.5%	 	 9,852  –  –  –	 	 –  –  –

Obligations under finance

 leases 9.85%	 	 320  9.85%  2,020  –	 	 –  –  –

Less: bank deposits 2.88%	 	 (16,066	) 2.25%  (8,110 ) –	 	 –  2.25%  (3,110 )
               

   78,670	    56,910    –	    (3,110 )
               

Variable	rate

	 borrowings:

Bank overdrafts 7.50-9.75%	 	 5,755  6.75-9.5%  6,492  –	 	 –  –  –

Bank loans 5.30-10.25%	 	 134,226  5.00-8.50%  179,461  –	 	 –  –  –

Less: cash at banks and 

 on hand 0.7%-1.5%	 	 (26,187	) 0.7%-1.4%  (20,683 ) –	 	 (9,548	) –  (25 )
               

   113,794	    165,270    (9,548	)   (25 )
                              

Total net borrowings   192,464	    222,180    (9,548	)   (3,135 )
               

Net fixed rate borrowings

 as a percentage of

 total net borrowings   40.88%	    25.61%    –%	    99%
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36.	 FINANCIAl	INStRuMENtS	(CoNtINuED)
(c)	 Interest	rate	risk	(Continued)

(ii) Sensitivity analysis

At 31 December 2007, it is estimated that a general increase/decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates, with all other 

variables held constant, would increase/decrease the Group’s loss after tax and accumulated losses by approximately 

HK$1,137,000 (2006: HK$1,652,000).

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined assuming that the change in interest rates had occurred at the 

balance sheet date and had been applied to the exposure to interest rate risk for non-derivative financial instruments in 

existence at that date. The 100 basis point increase or decrease represents management’s assessment of a reasonably 

possible change in interest rates over the period until the next annual balance sheet date. The analysis is performed on 

the same basis for 2006.

(d)	 Currency	risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk as certain cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, trade and other 

payables primarily through sales and purchases that are denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the 

operations to which they relate. The currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily Euros, United States dollars, Renminbi and 

Australian dollars.

At 31 December 2007, the Group had forward foreign exchange contracts. Changes in the fair value of forward foreign 

exchange contracts are recognised in income statement. The net fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts at 31 

December 2007 was approximately HK$2,113,000 (2006: Nil) recognised as derivative financial instruments.

The Group ensures that the exposure on recognised assets and liabilities that are denominated in a currency other than the 

functional currency of the operations to which they relate is kept to an acceptable level, by buying or selling foreign currencies 

at spot rates where necessary to address short-term imbalances.

     

(i) Exposure to currency risk

The following table details the Group’s and the Company’s exposure at the balance sheet date to currency risk arising 

from recognised assets or liabilities denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the entity to which 

they relate.

the	Group

 2007 2006

 united	 	 	 	 	 	   United

 States	 	 	 	 	 	 Australian	  States      Australian

 Dollars	 	 Euros	 	 Renminbi	 	 Dollars  Dollars  Euros  Renminbi  Dollars

 ‘000	 	 ‘000	 	 ‘000	 	 ‘000	  ‘000  ‘000  ‘000  ‘000

Trade and other receivables 7,732	 	 1,900	 	 8,043	 	 318	 	 5,222  –  54,813  73

Cash and cash equivalents 1,107	 	 3	 	 6,451	 	 10	 	 2,538  3  2,067  307

Bank loans and overdrafts (738	)	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 (1,253 ) –  –  –

Trade and other payables (2,603	)	 –	 	 (47,060	)	 (594	)	 (2,015 ) –  (71,516 ) –

Derivative financial

 instruments (800	)	 –	 	 3,618	 	 399	 	 –  –  –  –

Overall net exposure 4,698	 	 1,903	 	 (28,948	)	 133	 	 4,492  3  (14,636 ) 380
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36.	 FINANCIAl	INStRuMENtS	(CoNtINuED)
(d)	 Currency	risk	(Continued)

(i) Exposure to currency risk (Continued)
the	Company

 2007		 2006
	 united	States		 United States
	 Dollars		 Dollars
	 ‘000		 ‘000

Cash and cash equivalents 5		 3
Trade and other payables 4		 –

Overall net exposure 9		 3

(ii) Sensitivity analysis
The following table indicates the approximate change in the Group’s loss after tax (and accumulated losses) in response 
to reasonably possible changes in the foreign exchange rates to which the Group has significant exposure at the balance 
sheet date. There is no change in other components of consolidated equity.

the	Group

 2007 2006
 Increase/		 Effect	on		 Increase/  Effect on
 (decrease)		 loss	after		 (decrease)  loss after
 in	foreign		 tax	and		 in foreign  tax and
 exchange		 accumulated		 exchange  accumulated
 rates		 losses		 rates  losses
 %		 Hk$’000		 %  HK$’000

United States Dollars 1		 (8	)	 1  9
 (1	)	 8		 (1 ) (9 )
Euros 1		 1,201		 1  1
 (1	)	 (1,201	)	 (1 ) (1 )
Renminbi 1		 (93	)	 1  (4 )
 (1	)	 93		 (1 ) 4
Australian Dollars 1		 (36	)	 1  6
 (1	)	 36		 (1 ) (6 )

The sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming that the change in foreign exchange rates had occurred at the 
balance sheet date and had been applied to each of the Group entities’ exposure to currency risk for both derivative 
and non-derivative financial instruments in existence at that date, and that all other variables, in particular interest rates, 
remain constant.

The stated changes represent management’s assessment of reasonably possible changes in foreign exchange rates over 
the period until the next annual balance sheet date. In this respect, it is assumed that the pegged rate between the 
Hong Kong dollar and the United States dollar would be materially unaffected by any changes in movement in value 
of the United States dollar against other currencies. Results of the analysis as presented in the above table represent an 
aggregation of the effects on each of the Group entities’ loss after tax and equity measured in the respective functional 
currencies, translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rate ruling at the balance sheet date for presentation 
purposes. The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2006.
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36.	 FINANCIAl	INStRuMENtS	(CoNtINuED)
(e)	 Fair	values

All financial instruments are carried at amounts not materially different from their fair values as at 31 December 2007 and 

2006.

37.	 CoMMItMENtS
(a) Capital commitments outstanding at 31 December 2007 not provided for in the financial statements were as follows:

	 the	Group

 2007		 2006

 Hk$’000		 HK$’000

Contracted

 – Construction of buildings 15,978		 15,341

(b) At 31 December 2007, the total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are payable as follows:

	 the	Group

 2007		 2006

 Hk$’000		 HK$’000

Within 1 year 5,879		 4,761

After 1 year but within 5 years 16,143		 13,392

After 5 years 36,977		 38,995

 58,999		 57,148

The Group is the lessee in respect of a number of properties held under operating leases. The leases typically run for an initial 

period of one to six years. The leases did not include extension options. None of the leases includes contingent rentals.

(c) Forward foreign exchange contracts

At 31 December 2007, the Group had outstanding forward foreign exchange contracts to (i) buy RMB3,618,000 (2006: Nil) at 

various rates totalling approximately US$500,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$3,900,000) and (ii) buy AUD399,000 (2006: 

Nil) at a rate totalling approximately US$300,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$2,340,000).
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38.	 CoNtINGENt	lIABIlItIES
(a)	 Financial	guarantees	issued

As at the balance sheet date, the Company has issued single guarantees to the extent of approximately HK$194,203,000 (2006: 

HK$207,137,000) to banks in respect of banking facilities granted to its subsidiaries.

The Company is also one of the entities covered by cross guarantee arrangement issued by the Company and its subsidiaries 

to the extent of approximately HK$177,100,000 (2006: HK$176,665,000) to banks in respect of banking facilities granted to 

the Group which remains in force so long as the Group has drawn down under the banking facilities. Under the guarantee, 

the Company and all the subsidiaries that are a party to the guarantee are jointly and severally liable for all and any of the 

borrowings of each of them from the banks which are the beneficiary of the guarantee.

As at the balance sheet date, the directors do not consider it probable that a claim will be made against the Company 

under any of the guarantees. The maximum liability of the Company at the balance sheet date under the single guarantees 

issued is the outstanding amount of the facility drawn down by the subsidiaries of approximately HK$100,920,000 (2006: 

HK$143,810,000). The maximum liability of the Company at the balance sheet date under the cross guarantees is the amount 

of the facilities drawn down by all the subsidiaries that are covered by the cross guarantee, being HK$52,236,000 (2006: 

HK$66,046,000).

Deferred income in respect of guarantees issued is disclosed in note 26.

(b)	 long	service	payments

As at the balance sheet date, a number of the current employees of the Group have achieved the required number of years of 

service to the Group in order to be eligible for long service payments under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. Under the 

said ordinance, in the event that their employment is terminated under the below-listed circumstances as stipulated in the Hong 

Kong Employment Ordinance, an employer should pay long service payment when an employee who has been employed under 

a continuous contract for no less than five years:

(i) is dismissed by reason other than serious misconduct or redundancy;

(ii) is certified by a registered medical practitioner as permanently unfit for the present job and the employee resigns;

(iii) is aged 65 or above and the employee resigns; or

(iv) dies in service.

As at the balance sheet date, the directors consider it is not probable that the employment of the employees eligible for long 

service payments under the said ordinance will be terminated under the above-mentioned circumstances and it is not probable 

that the Group will pay any long service payments to such employees. The maximum liability of the Group at the balance sheet 

date in respect of possible long service payments to the employees under the said ordinance is approximately HK$363,000 (2006: 

HK$491,000).
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39.	 lItIGAtIoN
During the years ended 31 December 2006 and 2007, the Group has the following litigations:

– On 25 September 2006, Peaktop Investment Holdings (B.V.I.) Limited (“Peaktop BVI”) which is a non-wholly owned subsidiary 

of the Group commenced a civil action in a district court in the United States of America (“USA”) against certain former 

directors of Peaktop Technologies (USA) Hong Kong Limited (“PTTHK“), a minority equity holder of PTTHK, an investee 

company of the Group and an independent third party (collectively, the “A Defendants”), that the A Defendants are alleged to 

have conducted unfair competition, misappropriation of confidential and proprietary information that belongs to the Group, 

and breach of fiduciary duties.

– On 27 September 2006, Peaktop BVI and PTTHK commenced an action against the A Defendants at the High Court of Hong 

Kong Special Administrative Region (“HKSAR”) for, among others, demanding an injunction to the A Defendants from using 

confidential information of PTTHK and damages from the A Defendants.

– On 9 October 2006, an investee company of the Group, one of the A Defendants, commenced a civil action in a district of 

the USA against the Company, a subsidiary of the Company, a chairman of the Company and others (collectively, the “B 

Defendants”) under allegation that, among others, the B Defendants breached their fiduciary duties and disparagement made 

to the investee company. The investee company of the Group claimed damages from the B Defendants. 

– On 22 November 2006, two former directors of PTTHK, who are also two of the A Defendants, applied to the High Court of the 

HKSAR for a court order to give such former directors an immediate inspection of books and records of the PTTHK.

– On 22 February 2007, the minority equity holder of PTTHK, who is also one of the A Defendants, applied to the High Court of 

HKSAR to grant a winding-up order under section 177(l)(f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance to wind-up PTTHK.

– On 3 April 2007, the minority equity holder of PTTHK, who is also one of the A Defendants, commenced a legal action in the 

district court of the USA against the Company, a subsidiary of the Company and an independent third party (collectively, the 

“C Defendants”) to the Company under allegations of trademark infringement and unfair competition conducted by the C 

Defendants.

On 31 December 2007, all the above mentioned plaintiffs and defendants entered in a “Settlement Agreement And Mutual Release” 

whereby A Defendants agreed to pay the Group approximately HK$7,771,000 as compensation and all parties consented the 

settlement of all litigations. As such, all parties terminated all litigations already initiated.

The Group recognised the compensation of approximately HK$7,771,000 as other revenue (note 5) in the consolidated income 

statement for the year ended 31 December 2007, which was also included in trade and other receivables in note 23. The 

compensation of approximately HK$7,771,000 was received by the Group in March 2008.
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40.	 MAtERIAl	RElAtED	PARty	tRANSACtIoNS
(a) During the years ended 31 December 2007 and 2006, the directors consider that the following are related parties of the Group.

Name	of	party	 Relationship	with	the	Group

Geoglobal Partners, LLC A minority equity holder of the subsidiaries, Peaktop Technologies (USA) Hong Kong

 (“Geoglobal”)   Limited and Peaktop Technologies (USA), Inc.

Tian Wan Pte. Ltd. A substantial shareholder of the Company. Tian Wan is owned by Mr. Andree Halim,

 (“Tian Wan”)  a director of the Company, and Mr. Daniel Halim, who is the son of Mr. Andree Halim.

Heissner AG An investee company, in which the Group holds 18.1% equity interest since 1 September

  2006.

Peaktop Europe GmbH A subsidiary of Heissner AG.

 (“Peaktop Europe”)

(i) Placing of shares
During the year ended 31 December 2007, the Company issued an aggregate of 79,000,000 (2006: Nil) new ordinary 
shares of the Company to Mr. Lin Chun Kuei (“Mr. Lin”), Mr. Ng Kin Nam (“Mr. Ng”) and Tian Wan for gross proceeds 
of approximately HK$35,550,000 (2006: Nil). Each of Mr. Lin, Mr. Ng and Tian Wan subscribed for 18,100,000, 
10,000,000, and 50,900,000 respectively new ordinary shares of the Company. The Company received gross proceeds 
from Mr. Lin, Mr. Ng and Tian Wan of approximately HK$8,145,000, HK$4,500,000 and HK$22,905,000 respectively. 
Further details are set out in note 34(c)(iii).

(ii) Sales of inventories to investee companies
During the year ended 31 December 2007, the Group sold outdoor decoration and indoor decoration products to 
Heissner AG and Peaktop Europe amounted to approximately HK$19,396,000 (for the period from 1 September 2006 to 
31 December 2006: HK$5,170,000) and nil (for the period from 1 September 2006 to 31 December 2006: HK$341,000) 
respectively.

The balance due from Heissner AG as at 31 December 2007 was included in amount due from an investee company in 
note 23 was approximately HK$22,633,000 (2006: HK$26,987,000). There is no impairment provision on the amount 
due from Heissner AG as at 31 December 2007 (2006: Nil).

The balance due from Peaktop Europe as at 31 December 2007 was nil (2006: Nil). 

(iii) Purchase of raw materials
During the year ended 31 December 2007, the Group purchased raw materials from Heissner AG amounted to 
approximately HK$361,000 (2006: Nil). As at 31 December 2007, there is no outstanding balance due to Heissner AG 
(2006: Nil).

(iv) Sales commission
Pursuant to an agreement dated 9 January 2004 (the “Agreement”) entered into between the Group and Geoglobal, 
the Group and Geoglobal agreed to share the net profit on those sales introduced by Geoglobal in accordance with the 
Agreement. During the year, the Group charged to the income statement of sales commission amounted to nil (2006: 
HK$78,645,000). The accrued sales commission payable to Geoglobal amounting to HK$189,000 (2006: HK$189,000) as 
at 31 December 2007 was included in accrued charges in note 26. The amount is unsecured, interest-free and repayable 
on demand. No sales was introduced by Geoglobal to the Group in 2007.
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40.	 MAtERIAl	RElAtED	PARty	tRANSACtIoNS	(Continued)
(a) During the years ended 31 December 2007 and 2006, the directors consider that the following are related parties of the Group.	

(Continued)

(v) Product design and research
During the year ended 31 December 2006, the Group paid approximately HK$140,400 of product design and research 
expenses to a company owned by Mr. Graeme Stanley Pope, a former director of the Company until 9 March 2006, for 
the development of new products.

(vi) Guarantee
During the year, Mr. Lin Chun Kuei and Mr. Li Chien Kuan, directors of the Company, issued personal guarantees to 
secure other loan extended to a subsidiary to the extent of approximately HK$10,000,000 (2006: Nil).

During the year, Mr. Lin Chuen Kuen, a director of the Company, issued personal guarantee to secure bank loan 
extended to a subsidiary to the extent of approximately HK$11,657,000 (2006: HK$11,685,000).

The directors are of the opinion that the above related party transactions, excluding item (vi) above, were conducted on normal 
commercial terms and in the ordinary course of business.

(b)	 key	management	personnel	remuneration

Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group, including amounts paid to the Company’s directors as disclosed in 

note 8 and certain of the highest paid employees as disclosed in note 9, is as follows:

 2007		 2006

 Hk$’000		 HK$’000

Short-term employee benefits 8,317		 9,609

Post-employment benefits 74		 77

 8,391		 9,686

Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (see note 6(b)).

(c)	 Financing	arrangements

	 Amounts	owed	to

	 related	parties
	

 As	at	31	December

  2007		 2006

  Hk$’000		 HK$’000

Amount due to a director  2,000		 –

Amount due to an ex-director  2,066		 –

Amount due to a minority equity holder  189		 189

Amount due to a substantial shareholder  3,000		 –

  7,255		 189
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40.	 MAtERIAl	RElAtED	PARty	tRANSACtIoNS	(Continued)
(c)	 Financing	arrangements	(Continued)

Notes:

(i) The outstanding balances with these related parties are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. The amounts due to related 
parties are included in “trade and other payables” (note 26).

(ii) Details of the advances from and repayments to these related parties during the year are analysed as follows:

	 2007
	 Advance	 	 Repayment
	 Hk$’000	 	 Hk$’000

A director 17,902	 	 15,902
An ex-director 10,730	 	 8,664
A substantial shareholder 15,000	 	 12,000

 43,632	 	 36,566

Details of new advances and repayments during the year are also disclosed in the cash flow statement.

41.	 CoMPARAtIVE	FIGuRES
Certain comparative figures have been restated and reclassified to conform with the current year’s presentation.

As a result of adopting HKFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures, and the amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial 

statements: Capital disclosures, certain comparative figures have been adjusted to conform with changes in disclosures in the current 

year and to show separately comparative amounts in respect of items disclosed for the first time in 2007. Further details of these 

developments are disclosed in note 3.

42.	 ACCouNtING	EStIMAtES	AND	JuDGEMENtS
(a)	 key	sources	of	estimation	uncertainty

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies which are described in note 2, management has made certain key 
assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet date, that may have a 
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, as 
discussed below.

(i) Impairment of property, plant and equipment, prepaid lease payments and intangible assets
The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its net selling price and value in use. In assessing value in use, 
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset, which requires significant 
judgement relating to level of revenue and amount of operating costs. The Group uses all readily available information 
in determining an amount that is a reasonable approximation of the recoverable amount, including estimates based on 
reasonable and supportable assumptions and projections of revenue and operating costs. Changes in these estimates 
could have a significant impact on the carrying value of the assets and could result in additional impairment charge or 
reversal of impairment in future periods.
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42.	 ACCouNtING	EStIMAtES	AND	JuDGEMENtS	(Continued)
(a)	 key	sources	of	estimation	uncertainty	(Continued)

(ii) Impairment of receivables
The Group maintains impairment allowance for doubtful debts accounts based upon evaluation of the recoverability of 
the accounts receivable and other receivables, where applicable, at each balance sheet date. The estimates are based 
on the ageing of the accounts receivable and other receivables balances and the historical write-off experience, net 
of recoveries. If the financial condition of the debtors were to deteriorate, additional impairment allowance may be 
required.

(iii) Income taxes and deferred taxation
The Group is subject to income taxes in several jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required in determining the 
provision for income taxes. There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is 
uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax issues based on 
estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the 
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the 
period in which such determination is made.

Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary differences and certain tax losses are recognised as management 
considers it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences or tax losses 
can be utilised. Where the expectation is different from the original estimate, such differences will impact the recognition 
of deferred tax assets and tax in the periods in which such estimate is changed.

(iv) Contingencies
Periodically, the Group assesses potential liabilities related to any lawsuits or claims brought against the Group or any 
asserted claims. Although it is typically very difficult to determine the timing and ultimate outcome of such actions, the 
Group uses its best judgement to determine if it is probable that it will incur an expense related to the settlement or 
final adjudication of such matters and whether a reasonable estimation of such probable loss, if any, can be made. In 
accordance with HKAS 37, Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, the Group accrues a liability when it 
believes a loss is probable and the amount of loss can be reasonably estimated. Due to the inherent uncertainties related 
to the eventual outcome of litigations, although the Group believes that the estimates and judgements are reasonable, it 
is possible that certain matters may have to be resolved for amounts materially different from any estimated provisions or 
previous disclosures.

(b)	 Critical	accounting	judgement	in	applying	the	Group’s	accounting	policies

In determining the carrying amounts of some assets and liabilities, the Group makes assumptions for the effects of uncertain 

future events on those assets and liabilities at the balance sheet date. These estimates involve assumptions about such items as 

cash flows and discount rates used. The Group’s estimates and assumptions are based on historical experience and expectations 

of future events and are reviewed periodically. In addition to assumptions and estimations of future events, judgements are also 

made during the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies.

Going Concern

As disclosed in note 2(b), the directors have prepared the financial statements on a going concern basis as they are of the 

opinion that the Group will be able to generate adequate cash flows from its operations and secure the necessary facilities 

from the banks in the next twelve months to enable the Group to operate as a going concern. This conclusion is arrived at 

after reviewing the cash flow forecast prepared by the Group’s management and taking into account the expected outcome 

of discussions with its banks. Any significant deviations from the assumptions adopted by management in preparing the cash 

flows forecast of the Group and discontinuation of bank facilities would affect the conclusion that the Group is able to continue as 

going concern.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2007
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

43.	 NoN-ADJuStING	PoSt	BAlANCE	SHEEt	EVENtS
Subsequent to the balance sheet date, the Group and independent third parties entered into agreements to dispose of the Group’s 

interest in certain subsidiaries in Vietnam, Hong Kong and the PRC at an aggregate consideration of approximately HK$237,322,000, 

of which the directors expect approximately HK$96,275,000 to be receivable in 2008 and approximately HK$141,047,000 to be 

receivable after 2008:

(a) Subsequent to the balance sheet date on 30 April 2008, the Group and an independent third party entered into an agreement 

that the Group would dispose of its 100% equity interest in Peaktop (Vietnam) Limited, a subsidiary incorporated in Vietnam, 

for a consideration of US$2,800,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$21,759,000), which is expected to be receivable in 2008.

(b) Subsequent to the balance sheet date on 1 May 2008, the Group and another independent third party entered into an 

agreement that the Group would dispose of its 100% equity interest in Peaktop Technologies Limited (“PTL”), a subsidiary 

incorporated in Hong Kong, for a consideration of RMB202,500,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$215,563,000), of which 

approximately HK$74,516,000 is expected to be receivable in 2008 and approximately HK$141,047,000 to be receivable after 

2008. PTL holds 75% equity interest in Shenzhen Yuansheng Light Industrial Products Co., Ltd., a subsidiary established in the 

PRC.

44.	 PoSSIBlE	IMPACt	oF	AMENDMENtS,	NEW	StANDARDS	AND	INtERPREtAtIoNS	ISSuED	But	Not	
yEt	EFFECtIVE	FoR	tHE	yEAR	ENDED	31	DECEMBER	2007
Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA has issued a number of amendments, new standards and 

interpretations which are not yet effective for the accounting year ended 31 December 2007 and which have not been adopted in 

these financial statements.

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the impact of these amendments, new standards and new 

interpretations is expected to be in the period of initial application. So far it has concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely to 

have a significant impact on the Group’s results of operations and financial position.

In addition, the following developments may result in new or amended disclosures in the financial statements:

HKAS 1 (Revised) Presentation of Financial Statements1

HKAS 23 (Revised) Borrowing Costs1

HKFRS 8 Operating Segments1

HK(IFRIC)-Int 11 HKFRS 2: Group and Treasury Share Transactions2

HK(IFRIC)-Int 12 Service Concession Arrangements3

HK(IFRIC)-Int 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes4

HK(IFRIC)-Int 14 HKAS 19 – The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements

  and their Interaction3

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 March 2007
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2008
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2008
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GROUP PROPERTIES
31 December 2007

INVEStMENt	PRoPERtIES

	 	 	 Attributable

	 	 	 interest	of

location	 use	 tenure	 the	Group

Unit 1606, 16 Floor Office building Medium-term lease 100%

Tower III  

Enterprise Square

No 9 Sheung Yuet Road

Kowloon Bay

Kowloon

Hong Kong
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